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PART |
[tem 1—Business

An Overview of Our Business
Nature of Business

We are aleader in consumer debt buying and recovery. We purchase portfolios of defaulted consumer receivables at deep discountsto face
value and use a variety of operational channelsto maximize our collections from these portfolios. We manage our receivables by partnering with
individuals as they repay their obligations and work toward financial recovery. Defaulted receivables are consumers' unpaid financial commitments
to credit originators, including banks, credit unions, consumer finance companies, commercial retailers, auto finance companies, and
telecommunication companies, and may also include receivables subject to bankruptcy proceedings, or consumer bankruptcy receivables.

Four competitive, strategic advantages underpin our success and drive our future growth:
*  The sophisticated and widespread use of analytics (Analytic Strength)
»  Broad investmentsin dataand behavioral science (Consumer Intelligence)

+  Significant cost advantages based on our operationsin India, aswell as our enterprise-wide, account-level cost database (Cost
L eader ship)

* A demonstrated commitment to conduct business ethically and in ways that support our consumers' financial recovery (Principled
I ntent)

Although we have enabled approximately one million consumersto retire a portion of their outstanding debt since 2007, one of the industry’s
most formidable challenges is that many distressed consumers will never make a payment, much less retire their total obligation. In fact, at the peak
of the collection cycle, we generate payments from fewer than one percent of our accounts every month. To address these challenges, we evaluate
portfolios of receivablesthat are available for purchase using robust, account-level valuation methods and we employ a suite of proprietary
statistical and behavioral models across the full extent of our operations. We believe these business practices contribute to our ability to value
portfolios accurately, avoid buying portfolios that are incompatible with our methods or goals, and align the accounts we purchase with our
operational channelsto maximize future collections. We also have one of theindustry’s largest distressed consumer databases containing
information regarding approximately 20 million consumer accounts. We believe that our specialized knowledge, along with our investmentsin data
and analytic tools, have enabled usto realize significant returns from the receivables we have acquired. From inception through December 31, 2010,
we have invested approximately $1.8 billion to acquire 33.0 million consumer accounts with a face value of approximately $54.7 billion. We maintain
strong rel ationships with many of the largest credit providersin the United States, and believe that we possess one of the industry’s best collection
staff retention rates.

While seasonality does not have a material impact on our business, collections are generally strongest in our first calendar quarter, slower in
the second and third calendar quarters, and slowest in the fourth calendar quarter. Relatively higher collectionsin the first quarter could result in a
lower cost-to-collect ratio compared to the fourth quarter, as our fixed costs would be constant and applied against alarger collection base. The
seasonal impact on our business may be influenced by our purchasing levels, the types of portfolios we purchase, and our operating strategies.

In addition, we provide bankruptcy support services to some of the largest companiesin the financial servicesindustry through our wholly
owned subsidiary, Ascension Capital Group, Inc. (“Ascension”). Leveraging a proprietary software platform dedicated to bankruptcy servicing,
Ascension’s operational platform integrates lenders, trustees, and consumers across the bankruptcy lifecycle.
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Investors wishing to obtain more information about us may access our internet site (www.encorecapital.com). The site provides access to
relevant investor related information such as Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings, press rel eases, featured articles, an event
calendar, and frequently asked questions. SEC filings are available on the website as soon as reasonably practicable after being filed with, or
furnished to, the SEC. The content of the internet site is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Any materials that the
Company filed with the SEC also may be read and copied at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. The
public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet
site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC
(http://www.sec.gov).

Our Competitive Advantages

Analytic Strength. We believe that success in our business depends on the ability to establish and maintain an information advantage.
Leveraging an industry-leading distressed consumer database, our in-house team of statisticians, business analysts, and software programmers
have developed, and continually enhance, proprietary behavioral and valuation models, custom software applications, and other business tools
that guide our portfolio purchases. Moreover, our collection channels are informed by powerful statistical models specific to each collection
activity, and each year we deploy significant capital to purchase credit bureau and customized consumer data that describe demographic, account
level, and macroeconomic factors related to credit, savings, and payment behavior.

Consumer Intelligence. At the core of our analytic approach is afocus on understanding, measuring, and predicting distressed consumer
behavior. In this effort, we apply tools and methods borrowed from statistics, psychology, economics, and management science across the full
extent of our business. During portfolio valuation, we use an internally-developed and proprietary family of statistical models that determinesthe
likelihood and expected amount of payment for each consumer within a portfolio. Subsequently, the expectations for each account are aggregated
to arrive at a portfolio-level liquidation solution and a valuation for the entire portfolio is determined. During collections, we apply our “willingness-
capability” framework, which allows usto match our collection approach to an individual consumer’s payment behavior.

Cost Leadership. Cost efficiency is central to our collection and purchasing strategies. We experience considerabl e cost advantages,
stemming from our operationsin India, our enterprise-wide, activity-level cost database, and the development and i mplementation of operational
models that enhance profitability. We believe that we are the only company in our industry with a successful, late-stage collection platform in India.
This cost-saving, first-mover advantage helps to reduce our call center variable cost-to-collect.

Principled Intent. We strive to treat consumers with respect, compassion and integrity. From discounts and payment plans to hardship
solutions, we partner with our consumers as they attempt to return to financial health. We are committed to dial ogue that is honorable and
constructive, and hope to play an important and positive role in our consumers’ lives.

Our Strategy
We have implemented a business strategy that emphasizes the following elements:

Extend our knowledge about distressed consumers. We believe our investments in data, analytic tools, and expertise related to both the
general and distressed consumer provide us with a competitive advantage. In addition to rigorous data collection practices that take advantage of
our unigue relationship with distressed consumers, our consumer intelligence program focuses on segmentation, marketing communications, and
original research conducted in partnership with experts from both industry and academia. We believe thiswork will continue to bolster our
operational successwhile fueling our effortsto understand the actions and motivations of our consumer base.
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Realize the full strength of our operationsin India. We believe that our operationsin Indiawill be critical for both our future collections
strategy as well as our future growth. Our call center has expanded considerably over the past few years, and we anticipate that this growth will
continue. Our attrition rate for experienced account managersin Indiais approximately 40% per year in an industry where 100% attrition is not
uncommon. Moreover, we have expanded our talented work forcein Indiabeyond call center operations and are now devel oping software,
managing portions of our IT infrastructure, handling complex analytics, supporting our bankruptcy servicing teams, and processing alarge portion
of our back-office needsin India. As portfolio prices fluctuate and the complexity of our industry continues to increase, we expect that our
operationsin Indiawill continue to provide a significant competitive advantage.

Safeguard and promote financial health and literacy. We believe that our interests, and those of the large financial institutions from which
we purchase portfolios, are closely aligned with the interests of government agencies seeking to protect consumer rights. Accordingly, we expect
to continueinvesting in infrastructure and processes that support consumer advocacy and financial literacy, while promoting an appropriate
bal ance between corporate and consumer responsibility.

Consider growth opportunitiesin adjacent businesses and new geographies. We may consider acquisitions of complementary companies to
expand into new markets, add capacity to our current business lines, or leverage our knowledge of the distressed consumer. We believe that our
existing underwriting and collection processes can be extended to avariety of charged-off consumer receivables. These capabilities may allow usto
develop and provide complimentary products or services to specified distressed consumer segments.

Acquisition of Receivables

We provide sellers of delinquent receivablesliquidity and immediate value through the purchase of charged-off consumer receivables. We
believe that we are an appealing partner for these sellers given our financial strength, focus on principled intent, and track record of financial
success.

I dentify purchase opportunities. We maintain rel ationships with some of the largest credit grantors and sellers of charged-off consumer
receivablesin the United States. We identify purchase opportunities and secure, where possible, exclusive negotiation rights. We believe that we
are avalued partner for primary issuers and sellers from whom we purchase portfolios, and our ability to secure exclusive negotiation rightsis
typically aresult of our strong relationships and our scale of purchasing. Receivable portfolios are sold either through a general auction where the
seller requests bids from market participants or through an exclusive negotiation whereby the seller and buyer negotiate the sale privately. The sale
transaction can either be for aone-time spot purchase or for a“forward flow” contract. A “forward flow” contract isacommitment to purchase
receivables over aduration that istypically three to twelve months with specifically defined volume, frequency and pricing. Typically, these
contracts have provisions that allow for early termination or price re-negotiation should the underlying quality of the portfolio deteriorate over time
or if any particular month’s delivery is materially different than the original portfolio used to price the forward flow contract. We generally attempt
to secure forward flow contracts for receivables because a consistent volume of receivables over a set duration can allow us more precisionin
forecasting and planning our operational needs.

Evaluate purchase opportunities using account level analytics. Once a portfolio of interest isidentified, we obtain detailed information
regarding the included accounts, including certain information regarding the consumers themselves. We then purchase additional information
related to credit, savings or payment behavior for the consumer we are contemplating purchasing. Our internal modeling team then analyzesthis
information to determine the expected value of each potential new consumer. Our collection expectations are based on these demographic data,
account characteristics, and economic variables, which we use to predict aconsumer’s willingness and ability to repay its debt. The expected value
of collections for each account is aggregated to calculate an overall value for the portfolio. Additional adjustments are made to account for
qualitative factors that may impact the payment behavior of our consumers (such as prior collection activities, or the underwriting approaches of
the seller), and servicing related adjustments to ensure our valuations are aligned with our operations.
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Formal approval process. Once we have determined the value of the portfolio and have completed our qualitative diligence, we present the
purchase opportunity to our investment committee, which either sets the maximum purchase price for the portfolio based on corporate Internal Rate
of Return (*IRR") objectives or declinesto bid. Members of the investment committee include our CEO, CFO, and other members of our senior
management team and experts as needed.

We believe long-term successis best pursued by combining a diverse sourcing approach with an account-level scoring methodology and a
disciplined eval uation process.

Collection Approach

We expand and build upon the insight devel oped during our purchase process when devel oping our account collection strategies for
portfolios we have acquired. Our proprietary consumer-level collectability analysisisthe primary determinant of whether an account is actively
serviced post-purchase. Throughout our ownership period, we periodically refine this analysisto help determine the most effective collection
strategy to pursue for each account. Generally we pursue collection activities on only afraction of the accounts we purchase, through one or more
of our collection channels. The channel identification processis analogous to a decision tree where we first differentiate those consumers who we
believe are unabl e to pay, from those who we believe are. Consumers who we believe are financially incapable of making any payments, or are
facing extenuating circumstances or hardships that would prevent them from making payments are excluded from our collection process. It is our
practice to assess each consumer’swillingness to pay, through analytics, phone calls and/or letters. Despite our efforts to reach consumers and
work out a settlement option, only asmall number of consumers who we contact choose to engage with us. Those who do are often offered
discounts on their obligations, or are presented with payments plans that are intended to suit their needs. However, the majority of consumerswe
contact ignore our calls and our letters and we must then make the decision about whether to pursue collections through legal means. During 2010,
we called approximately 8.6 million unique consumers, of which 1.8 million, or 21%, made contact with us. Similarly, during the same time period, we
mailed 8.7 million consumers, of which 3% engaged with us. Throughout our ownership period, we periodically refine our collection approach to
determine the most effective collection strategy to pursue for each account. These strategies consist of:

+ Inactive. We strive to use our financial resources judiciously and efficiently by not deploying resources on accounts where the
prospects of collection are remote. For example, for accounts where we believe that the consumer is currently unemployed, overburdened
by debt, incarcerated, or deceased, no collection method of any sort is assigned.

+ Direct Mail. We develop innovative, low cost mail campaigns offering consumers appropriate discounts to encourage settlement of their
accounts.

+  Cal Centers. We maintain domestic collection call centersin San Diego, California, Phoenix, Arizonaand St. Cloud, Minnesota and an
international call center in Gurgaon, India. Each call center consists of multiple collection departments. Account managers supervised by
group managers are trained and divided into specialty teams. Account managers use afriendly, but firm, approach to further assess our
consumers’ willingness and capacity to pay. They attempt to work with consumers to eval uate sources and means of repayment to
achieve afull or negotiated lump sum settlement or devel op payment programs customized to the individual’s ability to pay. In cases
where apayment plan is developed, account managers encourage consumers to pay through automatic payment arrangements. During
our new hire training period, we educate account managers to understand and apply applicable laws and policies that arerelevant in the
account manager’s daily collection activities. Our ongoing training and monitoring efforts help ensure compliance with applicable laws
and policies by account managers.

«  Skip Tracing. If aconsumer’s phone number proves inaccurate when an account manager calls an account, or if current contact
information for a consumer is not available at the time of account purchase, then the account is automatically routed to our skip tracing
process. We currently use a number of different skip tracing companies to provide phone numbers and addresses.
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+ Lega Action. We generally refer accountsfor legal action where the consumer has not responded to our direct mail efforts or our calls
and it appears the consumer is able, but unwilling, to pay its obligations. When we decide to refer an account for legal action, weretain
law firmsthat specializein collection mattersin the states where we intend to pursue collections. Prior to engaging a collection firm, we
evaluate the firm’s operations, financial condition, and experience, among other key criteria. Werely on the law firms' expertise with
respect to applicable debt collection laws to evaluate the accounts we refer to them and to make the decision about whether or not to
pursue collection litigation. The law firmswe have hired may also attempt to communicate with the consumersin an attempt to collect
their debts prior to initiating litigation. We pay the law firms a contingency fee based on amounts they collect on our behalf.

»  Third Party Collection Agencies. We selectively employ a strategy that uses collection agencies. Collection agenciesreceive a
contingency fee for each dollar collected. Generally, we use these agencies on accounts when we believe they can liquidate better or less
expensively than we can or to supplement capacity in our internal call centers. We also use agenciesto initially provide usaway to scale
quickly when large purchases are made and as a challenger to our internal call center collection teams. Prior to engaging a collection
agency, we eval uate, among other things, those aspects of the agency’s business that we believe are relevant to its performance and
compliance with consumer credit laws and regulations.

«  Account Balance Transfer. We may transfer to our credit card partners accounts for which this approach offers the highest opportunity
for success. The credit card partners may offer the consumer the opportunity to establish new credit and to transfer the balance onto a
new credit card. If the account istransferred we receive an agreed-upon payment.

+ Sde Beginningin 2010, portfolio sales are not currently part of our strategy. Prior to July 2008, under contractual obligations with
Jefferson Capital Systems, LLC, or Jefferson Capital, we sold, on aforward flow basis, all accounts for which the consumer had filed for
protection under the United States Bankruptcy Code.

Corporate Compliance and Legal Oversight

Our corporate compliance and legal oversight functions are divided between our legal and financial compliance departments. Our legal
department manages regulatory compliance, litigation, corporate transactions, and compliance with our internal ethics policy, while our financial
compliance department manages our Sarbanes Oxley 404 compliance, internal audit and Legal Outsourcing audit initiatives.

The legal department isresponsible for interpreting and administering our Standards of Business Conduct, which appliesto all of our
directors, officers, and employees and outlines our commitment to a culture of professionalism and ethical behavior. The Standards promote honest
and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and professional relationships,
compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations and full and fair disclosurein reports that we file with, or submit to, the Securities and
Exchange Commission and in other public communications made by us. As described in the Standards, we have al so established atoll-free
Accounting and Fraud Hotline to allow directors, officers, and employees to report any detected or suspected fraud, misappropriations, or other
fiscal irregularities, any good faith concern about our accounting and/or auditing practices, or any other violations of the Standards.

Beyond written policies, one of our coreinternal goalsisthe adherenceto principled intent asit pertainsto all consumer interactions. We
believethat it isin our shareholders, and our employees’ best interest to treat all consumers with the highest standards of integrity. Specifically, we
have strict policies and a code of ethics which guides all dealings with our consumers. To reinforce existing written policies, we have established a
number of quality assurance procedures. Through our Quality Assurance program, our FDCPA training for new account managers and our FDCPA
recertification program for continuing account managers, and our Consumer Relations
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department, we take significant steps to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations and seek to promote consumer satisfaction. Our
Quality Assurance team aims to enhance the skills of account managers and to drive compliance initiatives through active call monitoring, account
manager coaching and mentoring, tracking and distribution of Company-wide best practices. Finally, our Consumer Relations department works
directly with consumers to seek to resolve incoming consumer inquiries and to respond to consumer disputes as they may arise.

Information Technology

Technical Infrastructure. Our internal network has been configured to be redundant in all critical functions, at all sites. This backup system
has been implemented within the local area network switches, the data center network, and includes our redundant Multiprotocol Label Switching
(MPLS) networks. We have the capability to handle high transaction volumein our server network architecture, which can be scaled seamlessly
with our future growth plans.

Predictive Dialer Technology. During 2010, we upgraded our predictive dialer technology to accommodate the continued expansion of our
call centers. With this upgrade, we expect to have additional call volume capacity and greater efficiency through shorter wait times and an increase
in the number of live contacts. We believe thiswill help maximize account manager productivity and further optimize the yield on our portfolio
purchases. We also believe that the use of predictive dialing technology helps us to ensure compliance with certain applicable federal and state
laws that restrict the time, place, and manner in which debt collectors can call consumers.

Computer Hardware. We use arobust computer platform to perform our daily operations, including the collection efforts of our global
workforce. Because our custom software applications are integrated within our database server environment, we are able to process transaction
loads with speed and efficiency. The computer platform offers usreliability and expansion opportunities. Furthermore, this hardware incorporates
state of the art data security protection. We back up our data daily, and store copies at a secured off-site location. We also mirror our production
datato aremote location to give usfull protection in the event of the loss of our primary data center. To ensure the integrity and reliability of our
computer platform we periodically engage outside auditors specializing in information technol ogy to examine both our operating systems and
disaster recovery plans.

Process Control. To ensure that our entire infrastructure continues to operate efficiently and securely we have devel oped a strong process
and control environment. These controls govern all areas of the enterprise from physical security and virtual security, change management, data
protection and segregation of duties.

Ability to Attract and Retain Employees

Of crucial importance to our successisthe recruitment and retention of our key employees, account managers, and executive management
team. In addition to offering attractive compensation structures for account managers, we may offer employee programs that promote personal and
professional goals such as leadership and skills training, tuition assistance in support of continued education, and wellness initiatives that earned
us distinction as one of San Diego’s Healthiest Employersin 2010. We believe that these tangible benefits, combined with intangible differentiators,
such as a diverse employee base and the prospect of living and working in an extremely temperate climate where our Corporate Headquartersis
located, all contribute to a sustainable competitive advantage with respect to recruitment and retention.

Competition

The consumer credit recovery industry is highly competitive and fragmented. We compete with awide range of collection companies,
financial services companies, and a number of well-funded entrants with limited experiencein our industry. We also compete with traditional
contingency collection agencies and in-house
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recovery departments. Competitive pressures affect the availability and pricing of receivable portfolios, aswell asthe availability and cost of
qualified recovery personnel. In addition, some of our competitors may have signed forward flow contracts under which originating institutions
have agreed to transfer charged-off receivables to them in the future, which could restrict those originating institutions from selling receivables to
us. We believe some of our major competitors, which include companies that focus primarily on the purchase of charged-off receivable portfolios,
have continued to diversify into third-party agency collections and into offering credit card and other financial services as part of their recovery
strategy.

When purchasing receivables, we compete primarily on the basis of the price paid for receivable portfolios, the ease of negotiating and
closing the prospective portfolio purchases with us, including our ability to obtain funding and our reputation with respect to the quality of
servicesthat we provide. We believe that our ability to compete effectively in this market is also dependent upon, among other things, our
relationships with originators and sellers of charged-off consumer receivables, and our ability to provide quality collection strategiesin compliance
with applicable collections laws.

Government Regulation

In anumber of states we must maintain licenses to perform debt recovery services and must satisfy related bonding requirements. It is our
policy to comply with all material licensing and bonding requirements. Our failure to comply with existing licensing requirements, changing
interpretations of existing requirements, or adoption of new licensing requirements, could restrict our ability to collect in states, subject usto
increased regulation, increase our costs, or adversely affect our ability to collect our receivables.

Federal and state statutes establish specific guidelines and procedures which debt collectors must follow when collecting consumer
receivables. The Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (the “FDCPA”) and comparabl e state statutes establish specific guidelines and procedures
which debt collectors must follow when communicating with consumers, including the time, place and manner of the communications. It isour
policy to comply with the provisions of the FDCPA and comparable state statutesin all of our recovery activities. Our failure to comply with these
laws could have amaterial adverse effect on usif they apply to some or all of our recovery activities. Alongside the FDCPA, the federal laws that
apply to our business (in addition to the regulations that relate to these laws) include the following:

» Truth-In-Lending Act * Credit CARD Act of 2009

Fair Credit Billing Act Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act

Equal Credit Opportunity Act Soldiersand Sailors Act

Fair Credit Reporting Act Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act
Electronic Funds Transfer Act Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act
U.S. Bankruptcy Code

State laws, among other things, may also limit the interest rate and the fees that a credit originator may impose on our consumers, and also
limit the time in which we may file legal actionsto enforce consumer accounts.

The relationship between a consumer and a credit card issuer is extensively regulated by federal and state consumer protection and related
laws and regulations. While we do not issue credit cards, these laws affect some of our operations because the majority of our receivables originate
through credit card transactions. The laws and regulations applicable to credit card issuers, among other things, impose disclosure requirements
when acredit card account is advertised, when it is applied for and when it is opened, at the end of monthly billing cycles and at year-end. Federal
law requires, among other things, that credit card issuers disclose to consumers the interest rates, fees, grace periods and balance calculation
methods associated with their credit card accounts. Some laws prohibit discriminatory practicesin connection with the extension of credit. If the
originating institution fails to comply with applicable statutes, rules, and regulations, it could create claims and rights for the consumers that
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would reduce or eliminate their obligations under their receivables. When we acquire receivables, we generally require the originating institution to
contractually indemnify us against losses caused by its failure to comply with applicable statutes, rules and regulations relating to the receivables
before they are sold to us.

Federal statutes further provide that, in some cases, consumers cannot be held liable for, or their liability islimited with respect to, chargesto
their credit card accounts that resulted from unauthorized use of their credit cards. These laws, among others, may give consumers alegal cause of
action against us, or may limit our ability to recover amounts owing with respect to the receivables, whether or not we committed any wrongful act
or omission in connection with the account.

State and federal laws concerning identity theft, privacy, data security, the use of automated dialing equipment and other laws related to
consumers and consumer protection, as well aslaws applicable to specific types of debt, impose requirements or restrictions on collection methods
or our ability to enforce and recover certain of our receivables.

The laws described above, among others, aswell as any new or changed laws, rules or regulations, may adversely affect our ability to recover
amounts owing with respect to our receivables.

Employees

We are a Delaware corporation incorporated in 1999. As of December 31, 2010, we had approximately 1,900 employees. None of our employees
isrepresented by alabor union. We believe that our relations with our employees are good.

Item 1A—Risk Factors

This section highlights some specific risks affecting our business, operating results and financial condition. Thelist of risksis not intended to
be exhaustive and the order in which the risks appear is not intended as an indication of their relative weight or importance.

Risk Factors

We are exposed to risks associated with worldwide financial markets and the global economy.

Asaresult of the global economic downturn, individual consumers are experiencing high unemployment, alack of credit availability, and
depressed real estate values. Continued financial pressure on the consumer on these fronts could reduce our ability to collect on our purchased
consumer receivable portfolios and would adversely affect their value. Further, increased financial pressure on the distressed consumer may result
in additional regulatory restrictions on our operations and increased litigation filed against us. We are unable to predict the likely duration or
severity of the current disruption in financial markets and adverse economic conditions and the effects they may have on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly.

Our quarterly operating results will likely vary in the future due to avariety of factorsthat could affect our revenues and operating expenses
in any particular quarter. We expect that our operating expenses as a percentage of collectionswill fluctuate in the future as we expand into new
markets, increase our new business devel opment efforts, hire additional personnel and incur increased insurance and regulatory compliance costs.
In addition, our operating results have fluctuated and may continue to fluctuate as the result of the factors described below and elsewherein this
Annual Report on Form 10-K:

+ thetiming and amount of collections on our receivable portfolios, including the effects of seasonality and economic recession;
» any chargeto earnings resulting from an allowance against the carrying value of our receivable portfolios;
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* increasesin operating expenses associated with the growth or change of our operations;
» thecost of credit to finance our purchases of receivable portfolios; and
+ thetiming and terms of our purchases of receivable portfolios.

Dueto fluctuating prices for consumer receivable portfolios, there has been considerable variation in our purchasing volume from quarter to
quarter and we expect that to continue. The volume of our portfolio purchases will be limited when prices are high, and may or may not increase
when portfolio pricing is more favorable to us. We believe our ability to collect on consumer receivable portfolios may be negatively impacted
because of current economic conditions, and this may require usto increase our projected return hurdlesin calculating prices we are willing to pay
for individual portfolios. Anincreasein portfolio return hurdles may decrease the volume of portfolios we are successful in purchasing. Because we
recognize revenue on the basis of projected collections on purchased portfolios, we may experience variations in quarterly revenue and earnings
due to the timing of portfolio purchases.

We may not be ableto purchase receivables at sufficiently favorable prices or terms, or at all.

Our ability to continue to operate profitably depends upon the continued availability of receivable portfolios that meet our purchasing
standards and are cost-effective based upon projected collections exceeding our costs. Our profitability also depends on our actual collections on
accounts meeting or exceeding our projected collections. Thereis no assurance as to how long portfolioswill be available for purchase on terms
acceptableto us, or at all.

The availability of consumer receivable portfolios at favorable prices and on favorable terms depends on a number of factors, including:
« continued high levels of default in consumer debt;

»  continued sale of receivable portfolios by originating institutions at prevailing price levels;

* our ability to develop and maintain long-term relationships with key major credit originators;

« our ability to obtain adequate data from credit originators or portfolio resellersto appropriately eval uate the collectability of, and estimate
the value of, portfolios;

+ changesin laws and regulations governing consumer |ending, bankruptcy and collections; and

» potential availability of government funding to competing purchasers for the acquisition of account portfolios under various programs
intended to serve as an economic stimulus.

In addition, because of the length of time involved in collecting charged-off consumer receivables on acquired portfolios and the volatility in
the timing of our collections, we may not be able to identify trends and make changes in our purchasing strategiesin atimely manner. Ultimately, if
we are unable to continually purchase and collect on a sufficient volume of receivables to generate cash collections that exceed our costs, our
business will be materially and adversely affected.

We may experience losses on portfolios consisting of new types of receivables.

We continually look for opportunities to expand the classes of assets that make up the portfolios we acquire. Therefore, we may acquire
portfolios consisting of assets with which we have little or no collection experience. Our lack of experience with new types of receivables may cause
us to pay too much for these receivable portfolios, which may substantially hinder our ability to generate profits from such portfolios. Further, our
existing methods of collections may proveineffective for such new receivables, and we may not be able to collect on these portfolios. Our
inexperience may have amaterial and adverse affect on our results of operations.
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We may purchase receivable portfolios that contain unprofitable accounts and we may not be able to collect sufficient amountsto recover our
costs and to fund our operations.

We acquire and service receivables that the obligors have failed to pay and the sellers have deemed uncollectible and written off. The
originating institutions generally make numerous attempts to recover on their nonperforming receivables, often using a combination of their in-
house collection and legal departments aswell as third-party collection agencies. In order to operate profitably over the long term, we must
continually purchase and collect on a sufficient volume of receivablesto generate revenue that exceeds our costs. These receivables are difficult to
collect, and we may not be successful in collecting amounts sufficient to cover the costs associated with purchasing the receivables and funding
our operations. If we are not able to collect on these receivables or collect sufficient amountsto cover our costs, this may materially and adversely
affect our results of operations.

Sellers may deliver portfoliosthat contain accounts which do not meet our account collection criteria.

In the normal course of our portfolio acquisitions, some receivables may be included in the portfolios that fail to conform to the terms of the
purchase agreements and we may seek to return these receivables to the seller for payment or replacement. However, we cannot guarantee that
sellerswill be able to meet their obligations to us. Accounts that we are unable to return to sellers may yield no return. If sellers deliver portfolios
containing too many accounts that do not conform to the terms of the purchase contracts, we may be unable to collect a sufficient amount and the
portfolio purchase could be unprofitable, which would have an adverse effect on our cash flows. If cash flows from operations are less than
anticipated, our ability to satisfy our debt obligations and purchase new portfolios and our future growth and profitability may be materially and
adversely affected.

Our failureto purchase sufficient quantities of receivable portfolios or collect sufficient amounts on receivables we own may necessitate
wor kforce reductions, which may harm our business.

Because fixed costs, such as certain personnel costs and lease or other facilities costs, constitute a significant portion of our overhead, we
may be required to reduce the number of employeesin our collection operationsif we do not continually augment the receivable portfolios we
service with additional receivable portfolios or collect sufficient amounts on receivables we own for the reasons indicated above. Reducing the
number of employees can affect our business adversely due to:

* lower employee morale, higher employee attrition rates, fewer experienced employees and higher recruiting and training costs,
+ disruptionsin our operations and loss of efficiency in collection functions; and
*  excess costs associated with unused space in collection facilities.

A significant portion of our portfolio purchases during any period may be concentrated with a small number of sellers.

We expect that a significant percentage of our portfolio purchases for any given fiscal year may be concentrated with afew large sellers, some
of which also may involve forward flow arrangements. For example, in 2010, we purchased 67% of our portfolios from our five top sellers. We
cannot be certain that any of our significant sellers will continue to sell charged-off receivablesto us on terms or in quantities acceptable to us, or
that we would be able to replace such purchases with purchases from other sellers.

A significant decrease in the volume of purchases available from any of our principal sellers on terms acceptable to us would force us to seek
alternative sources of charged-off receivables. We may be unable to find alternative sources from which to purchase charged-off receivables, and
even if we could successfully replace such purchases, the search could take time, the receivables could be of lower quality, cost more, or both, any
of which could materially adversely affect our financial performance.
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The statistical models we use to project remaining cash flows from our receivable portfolios may prove to beinaccurate.

We use our internally developed Unified Collection Score, or UCS model, and Behavioral Liquidation Score, or BLS model, to project the
remaining cash flows from our receivable portfolios. Our UCS and BL S models consider known data about our consumers' accounts, including,
among other things, our collection experience and changes in external consumer factors, in addition to all data known when we acquired the
accounts. There can be no assurance, however, that we will be able to achieve the collections forecasted by our UCS and BLS models. If we are not
able to achieve these levels of forecasted collection, our revenues will be reduced or we may be required to record an allowance charge, which may
materially and adversely impact our results of operations.

We may incur allowance charges based on the authoritative guidance for loans and debt securities acquired with deteriorated credit quality.

We account for our portfolio revenue in accordance with the authoritative guidance for loans and debt securities acquired with deteriorated
credit quality. The authoritative guidance limits the revenue that may be accrued to the excess of the estimate of expected future cash flows over a
portfolio’sinitial cost of accounts receivable acquired, requires that the excess of the contractual cash flows over expected cash flows not be
recognized as an adjustment of revenue, expense, or on the balance sheet, and freezes the IRR originally estimated when the accounts receivable
are purchased for subsequent allowance testing. Rather than lower the estimated IRR if the expected future cash flow estimates are decreased, the
carrying value of our receivable portfolios would be written down to maintain the then-current IRR. Increases in expected future cash flows would
be recognized prospectively through an upward adjustment of the IRR over aportfolio’s remaining life. Any increased yield then becomes the new
benchmark for allowance testing. Since the authoritative guidance does not permit yields to be lowered, there is an increased probability of our
having to incur allowance charges in the future, which would negatively impact our results of operations.

Our business of enforcing the collection of purchased receivablesis subject to extensive statutory and regulatory oversight, which has
increased and may continueto increase.

Laws and regulations applicable to credit card issuers or other debt originators may preclude us from collecting on receivables we purchase,
regardless of any act or omission on our part. For instance, we may be precluded from collecting on receivables where the card issuer or originator
failed to comply with applicable federal or state lawsin generating or servicing the receivables that we have acquired. Because our receivables
generally are originated and serviced nationwide, we cannot be certain that the originating lenders have complied with applicable laws and
regulations. While our receivable acquisition contracts typically contain provisionsindemnifying us for losses owing to the originating
institution’s failure to comply with applicable laws and other events, we cannot be certain that any indemnities received from originating
ingtitutions will be adequate to protect us from losses on the receivables or liabilities to consumers. Laws relating to debt collections also directly
apply to our business. Our failure or the failure of third party agencies and attorneys or the originators of our receivablesto comply with existing or
new laws, rules or regulations could limit our ability to recover on receivables or cause us to pay damagesto the original consumers, which could
reduce our revenues and harm our business.

We sometimes purchase accountsin asset classes that are subject to industry-specific restrictions that limit the collection methods that we
can use on those accounts. Our inability to collect sufficient amounts from these accounts through avail abl e collections methods could materially
and adversely affect our results of operations.

In response to the global economic downturn, or otherwise, additional consumer protection or privacy laws, rules and regulations may be
enacted that impose additional restrictions on the collection of receivables. Such new laws, rules and regulations may materially adversely affect
our ability to collect on our receivables, which could materially and adversely affect our earnings.
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Passage of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act may increase our operational and compliance costs.

The Dodd-Frank Act contains avariety of provisions designed to regulate financial markets, including credit and derivatives transactions.
The Dodd-Frank Act requires various federal agencies to adopt a broad range of new rules and regulations, and to prepare numerous studies and
reports for Congress. The federal agencies are given significant discretion in drafting the rules and regulations, and consequently, many of the
details and much of the impact of the Dodd-Frank Act may not be known for many months or years.

The Dodd-Frank Act will require publicly traded companies to give stockholders a non-binding vote on executive compensation and so-called
“golden parachute” payments, and authorizes the SEC to promulgate rules that would allow stockholders to nominate their own candidates using a
company’s proxy materials. It is difficult to predict at thistime what specific impact the Dodd-Frank Act and the yet to be written implementing rules
and regulations will have. However, if the Dodd-Frank Act and the implementing rules and regul ations cause amaterial increase in our compliance
and operating costs or materially inhibit our ability to collect on our receivables, they may have amaterial adverse impact on our results of
operations.

Failureto comply with government regulation could result in the suspension or termination of our ability to conduct business, may requirethe
payment of significant finesand penalties, or require other significant expenditures.

The collectionsindustry is heavily regulated under various federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations. Many states and several cities
require that we be licensed as a debt collection company. The Federal Trade Commission, state Attorneys General and other regulatory bodies have
the authority to investigate a variety of mattersincluding consumer complaints against debt collection companies and to recommend enforcement
actions and seek monetary penalties. If we or our third party collection agencies or law firmsfail to comply with applicable laws, rules and
regulations, including, but not limited to, identity theft, privacy, data security, the use of automated dialing equipment, laws related to consumer
protection, debt collection, and laws applicable to specific types of debt, it could result in the suspension or termination of our ability to conduct
collection operations, which would materially adversely affect us. Furthermore, our ability to collect may be impacted by state laws which require
that certain types of account documentation be in our possession prior to the institution of any collection activities. In addition, new federal, state
or local laws or regulations, or changesin the ways these rules or laws are interpreted or enforced, could limit our activitiesin the future and/or
significantly increase the cost of regulatory compliance.

We are dependent upon third partiesto service morethan half of our consumer receivable portfolios.

We use outside collection services to collect a substantial portion of our receivables. We are dependent upon the efforts of third-party
collection agencies and attorneysto service and collect our consumer receivables. Any failure by our third-party collection agencies and attorneys
to perform collection services for us adequately or remit such collections to us could materially reduce our revenue and our profitability. In addition,
if one or more of those third-party collection agencies or attorneys were to cease operations abruptly, or to become insolvent, such cessation or
insolvency could materially reduce our revenue and profitability. Our revenue and profitability could also be materially adversely affected if we were
not able to secure replacement third party collection agencies or attorneys or transfer account information to our new third party collection
agencies or attorneys or in-house promptly in the event our agreements with our third-party collection agencies and attorneys are terminated. Our
revenue and profitability could also be materially adversely affected if our third-party collection agencies or attorneysfail to perform their
obligations adequately, or if our relationships with such third-party collection agencies and attorneys otherwise change adversely.
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Increasesin costs associated with our collections through a network of attorneys can materially raise our costs associated with our collection
strategies and the individual lawsuits brought against consumersto collect on judgmentsin our favor.

We contract with a nationwide network of attorneys that specialize in collection matters. In connection with our agreements with our
contracted attorneys, we advance certain out-of-pocket court costs, or Deferred Court Costs. Deferred Court Costs represent amounts we believe
wewill recover from our consumers, in addition to the amounts owed on our consumers’ accounts that we expect to collect. These court costs may
be difficult or impossible to collect, and we may not be successful in collecting amounts sufficient to cover the amounts deferred in our financial
statements. If we are not able to recover these court costs, this may materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

Further, we are increasing our collection activity through our legal channel and as a consequence, due to an increase in Deferred Court Costs,
and an increasein costs related to counterclaims, our costsin collecting on these accounts may increase, which may have amaterial, adverse effect
on our results of operations.

Our network of third party agencies and attorneys may not utilize amounts collected on our behalf or amountswe advance for court costsin the
manner for which they were intended.

Third party collection agencies and attorneys may receive funds owed to us. We advance court coststo third party attorneys. These third
parties may fail to remit amounts owed to us on atimely matter or at all. Further, third party attorneys may misuse all or some of the fundswe
advance for court costs. Our ability to recoup our funds may be diminished if these third parties become insolvent or enter into bankruptcy
proceedings.

A significant portion of our collectionsreliesupon our successin individual lawsuits brought against consumers and our ability to collect on
judgmentsin our favor.

We generate a significant portion of our revenue by collecting on judgments that are granted by courtsin lawsuits filed against consumers. A
decreasein the willingness of courtsto grant such judgments, a change in the requirements for filing such cases or obtaining such judgments, or a
decreasein our ability to collect on such judgments could have a material and adverse effect on our results of operations. Aswe increase our use of
the legal channel for collections, our short-term margins may decrease as aresult of an increasein upfront court costs and costs related to counter
claims. We may not be able to collect on certain aged accounts because of applicable statutes of limitations and we may be subject to adverse
effects of regulatory changes that we cannot predict. Further, courtsin certain jurisdictions require that a copy of the account statements or
applications be attached to the pleadingsin order to obtain ajudgment against the consumers. If we are unable to produce account documents,
because the account documents have not been provided by the account’s seller or otherwise, these courts will deny our claims.

We are subject to ongoing risks of litigation, including individual and class actions under consumer credit, consumer protection, collections,
employment, securities and other laws, and may be subject to awards of substantial damages.

We operate in an extremely litigious climate and currently are, and may in the future be, named as defendantsin litigation, including individual
and class actions under consumer credit, consumer protection, theft, privacy, data security, the use of automated dialing equipment, debt
collections, employment, securities and other laws. In addition, we may become subject to regulatory investigations, inquiries and other actions
relating to our activities. The litigation and regulatory inquiries in which we are currently engaged or which we may become subject to, could have a
material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

Securities class-action litigation has often been filed against companies after a period of volatility in the market price of their stock. Our
industry experiences a high volume of litigation, and legal precedents have not
been clearly established in many areas applicable to our business. Additionally, employment-related litigation is
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increasing throughout the country. Defending alawsuit, regardless of its merit, could be costly and divert management’s attention from the
operation of our business. Damage awards or settlements could be significant. All of these factors could have an adverse effect on our business
and financial condition.

We may make acquisitions that prove unsuccessful or strain or divert our resources.

From time to time, we consider acquisitions of other companies that could complement our business, including the acquisition of entitiesin
diverse geographic regions and entities offering greater access to businesses and markets that we do not currently serve. For instance, during 2005
we acquired Ascension Capital Group and certain assets of Jefferson Capital. We may not be able to successfully acquire other businesses or, if we
do, the acquisition may be unprofitable. If we do acquire one or more businesses, we may not successfully operate the businesses acquired, or may
not successfully integrate such businesses with our own, which may result in our inability to maintain our goals, objectives, standards, controls,
policies, culture or profitability. In addition, through acquisitions, we may enter marketsin which we have limited or no experience. The occurrence
of one or more of these events may place additional constraints on our resources such as diverting the attention of our management from other
business concerns, which may materially adversely affect our operations and financial condition. Moreover, any acquisition may result in a
potentially dilutiveissuance of equity securities, incurrence of additional debt and amortization of identifiable intangible assets, al of which could
reduce our profitability.

We are dependent on our management team for the adoption and implementation of our strategies and the loss of their services could have a
material adverse effect on our business.

Our management team has considerabl e experience in finance, banking, consumer collections and other industries. We believe that the
expertise of our executives obtained by managing businesses across numerous other industries has been critical to the enhancement of our
operations. Our management team has created a culture of new ideas and progressive thinking, coupled with increased use of technology and
statistical analysis. Theloss of the services of one or more of our key executive officers could disrupt our operations and seriously impair our
ability to continue to acquire or collect on portfolios of charged-off consumer receivables and to manage and expand our business. Our success
depends on the continued service and performance of our management team, and we cannot guarantee that we will be able to retain such
individuals.

Further, we are devel oping a senior management succession plan in order to effectively prepare for changesin our executive officers over
time, but there can be no guarantee that the plan will be successful or that we will find appropriate candidates. If we are unable to hire and retain
qualified employees, our business and operating results could be adversely affected.

Regulatory, political and economic conditionsin I ndia expose usto risk, including loss of business.

A significant element of our business strategy is to continue to devel op and expand offshore operationsin India. While wage costsin India
are significantly lower than in the U.S. and other industrialized countries for comparably skilled workers, wagesin Indiaareincreasing at afaster
rate than in the U.S., and we experience higher employee turnover in our operationsin Indiathan istypical in our U.S. locations. The continuation
of these trends could result in the loss of the cost savings we sought to achieve by establishing a portion of our collection operationsto India. In
the past, India has experienced significant inflation and shortages of readily available foreign currency for exchange, and has been subject to civil
unrest. We may be adversely affected by changesin inflation, exchange rate fluctuations, interest rates, tax provisions, social stability or other
political, economic or diplomatic developmentsin or affecting Indiain the future. In addition, the infrastructure of the economy in Indiaisrelatively
poor. Further, the Indian government is significantly involved in and exerts considerabl e influence over its economy through its complicated tax
code and pervasive bureaucracy. In the recent past, the Indian government has provided significant tax incentives and relaxed certain regulatory
restrictionsin order to encourage foreign investment in certain sectors of the economy, including the technology industry. Changes in the business
or regulatory climate of India could have amaterial and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
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We may not be able to manage our growth effectively, including the expansion of our operationsin India.

We have expanded significantly in recent years. However, future growth will place additional demands on our resources, and we cannot be
sure that we will be able to manage our growth effectively. Continued growth could place a strain on our management, operations and financial
resources. We cannot be certain that our infrastructure, facilities and personnel will be adequate to support our future operations or to effectively
adapt to future growth. To support our growth and improve our operations, we continue to make investments in infrastructure, facilities and
personnel in our operationsin the U.S. and in India; however, we cannot be certain that these additional investments will be successful or that our
investments will produce profitable results. If we cannot manage our growth effectively, our results of operations may be materially and adversely
affected.

Thefailure of our technology and telecommunications systems could have an adver se effect on our operations.

Our success depends in large part on sophisticated computer and telecommunications systems. The temporary or permanent |oss of our
computer and telecommunications equipment and software systems, through casualty, operating malfunction, software virus, or service provider
failure, could disrupt our operations. In the normal course of our business, we must record and process significant amounts of data quickly and
accurately to properly bid on prospective acquisitions of receivable portfolios and to access, maintain and expand the databases we use for our
collection activities. Any simultaneous failure of our information systems and their backup systems would interrupt our business operations.

We may not be able to successfully anticipate, invest in or adopt technological advanceswithin our industry.

Our business relies on computer and tel ecommuni cations technol ogies, and our ability to integrate new technologies into our businessis
essential to our competitive position and our success. We may not be successful in anticipating, managing, or adopting technological changesin a
timely basis. Computer and telecommunications technologies are evolving rapidly and are characterized by short product life cycles.

We are making significant modifications to our information systems to ensure that they continue to meet our current and foreseeable
demands and continued expansion, and our future growth may require additional investment in these systems. These system modifications may
exceed our cost or time estimates for completion or may be unsuccessful. If we cannot update our information systems effectively, our results of
operations may be materially and adversely affected.

We depend on having the capital resources necessary to invest in new technologies to acquire and service receivables. We cannot be certain
that adequate capital resourceswill be availableto us.

We may not be able adequately to protect the intellectual property rights upon which werely.

Werely on proprietary software programs and valuation and collection processes and techniques, and we believe that these assets provide
us with a competitive advantage. We consider our proprietary software, processes and techniques to be trade secrets, but they are not protected
by patent or registered copyright. We may not be able to protect our technology and data resources adequately, which may materially diminish our
competitive advantage.

Our results of operations may be materially adversely affected if bankruptcy filingsincrease or if bankruptcy or other debt collection laws
change.

Our business model may be uniquely vulnerable to an economic recession, which typically resultsin an increase in the amount of defaulted
consumer receivables, thereby contributing to an increase in the amount of personal bankruptcy filings. Under certain bankruptcy filings, a
consumer’s assets are sold to repay credit
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originators, with priority given to holders of secured debt. Since the defaulted consumer receivables we typically purchase are generally unsecured,
we often would not be able to collect on those receivables. In addition, since we purchase receivables that are seriously delinquent, thisis often an
indication that many of the consumers from whom we collect would be unable to service their debts going forward and are more likely to file for
bankruptcy in an economic recession. We cannot be certain that our collection experience would not decline with an increase in bankruptcy filings.
If our actual collection experience with respect to a defaulted consumer receivable portfolio is significantly lower than we projected when we
purchased the portfolio, our results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

In 2005, the Bankruptcy Abuse Prevention and Consumer Protection Act, or the Protection Act, was enacted which made significant changes
in the treatment of consumer filersfor bankruptcy protection. Since the Protection Act was enacted, the number of bankruptcy filings has
decreased, and the volume of business at Ascension has decreased as aresult. We cannot determine the impact of the Protection Act on the
number of bankruptcy filings, on a prospective basis, and itsimpact on the collectability of consumer debt.

Item 1B—Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2—Properties

Our corporate headquarters and primary operations facility are located in approximately 57,000 sguare feet of |eased space in San Diego,
California.

We lease afacility for our call center located in Phoenix, Arizonawith approximately 33,000 square feet of space and afacility for our call
center located in St. Cloud, Minnesota with approximately 46,000 square feet of space.

Our leased Ascension facility islocated in Arlington, Texas and is approximately 28,600 square feet. Thisfacility serves as our bankruptcy
servicing center.

We aso lease afacility in Gurgaon, India. The facility in India has approximately 107,500 square feet of space and can accommodate
approximately 1,600 employees. Our facility in Indiaserves asacall center, bankruptcy servicing center and administrative offices.

We believe that our current leased facilities are generally well maintained and in good operating condition. We believe that these facilities are
suitable and sufficient for our operational needs. Our policy isto improve, replace and supplement the facilities as considered appropriate to meet
the needs of the individual operations. In this regard, we plan to move certain of our operations to an additional leased facility in San Diego during
the coming year to accommodate our anticipated operational needs.

Item 3—L egal Proceedings

On October 18, 2004, Timothy W. Moser, one of our former officers, filed an action in the United States District Court for the Southern District
of Californiaagainst us, and certain individuals, including several of our officers and directors. On February 14, 2005, we were served with an
amended complaint in this action alleging defamation, intentional interference with contractual relations, breach of contract, breach of the covenant
of good faith and fair dealing, intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress and civil conspiracy arising out of certain statementsin our
Registration Statement on Form S-1, originally filed in September 2003, and alleged to be included in our Registration Statement on Form S-3,
originaly filed in May 2004. The amended complaint sought injunctive relief, economic and punitive damages in an unspecified amount plus an
award of profits
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allegedly earned by the defendants and alleged co-conspirators as aresult of the alleged conduct, in addition to attorney’s fees and costs. On
June 1, 2006, the plaintiff filed a second amended complaint in which he amended his claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress. On
January 19, 2010, the District Court issued an order granting defendants' summary judgment motions, dismissed all causes of action against all of
the defendants and entered judgment in favor of the defendants. On February 12, 2010, Mr. Moser filed a notice of appeal of the judgment. The
parties are in the process of briefing their arguments on appeal and no date for oral argument has been set.

On September 7, 2005, Mr. Moser filed arelated action in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Californiaagainst Triarc
Companies, Inc. (“Triarc”), which at the time was a significant stockholder of ours, alleging intentional interference with contractual relations and
intentional infliction of emotional distress. The case arose out of the same statements made or alleged to have been made in our Registration
Statements referenced above. The amended complaint sought injunctive relief, an order directing Triarc to issue a statement of retraction or
correction of the allegedly false statements, economic and punitive damages in an unspecified amount and attorney’s fees and costs. Triarc
tendered the defense of this action to us, and we accepted the defense and will indemnify Triarc, pursuant to the indemnification provisions of the
Registration Rights Agreements dated as of October 31, 2000 and February 21, 2002, and the Underwriting Agreements dated September 25, 2004
and January 20, 2005 to which Triarc isaparty. This action was also dismissed by the District Court on January 19, 2010. Mr. Moser’s February 12,
2010 appeal aso challenges thisjudgment.

We, along with othersin our industry, are routinely subject to legal actions based on the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, or FDCPA,
comparable state statutes and common law causes of action. The violations of law alleged in these actions often include claims that we lack
specified licenses to conduct our business, attempt to collect debts on which the statute of limitations has run, and/ or have made inaccurate
assertions of fact in support of our collection actions. A number of these cases are styled as class actions and a class has been certified in several
of these cases. Many of these cases present novel issues on which thereis no clear legal precedent.

In one such action, captioned Brent v. Midland Credit Management, Inc et. al, filed on May 19, 2008, in the United States District Court for
the Northern District of Ohio Western Division, the plaintiff, Andrea Brent, hasfiled a class action counter-claim against our subsidiaries Midland
Credit Management, Inc. and Midland Funding LLC (the “Midland Defendants”). The complaint alleges that the Midland Defendants' business
practices violated consumers' rights under the FDCPA and the Ohio Consumer Sales Practices Act. The plaintiff is seeking actual and statutory
damages for the class of Ohio residents, plus attorney’s fees and costs of class notice and class administration. On August 11, 2009, the court
issued an order partially granting plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment and entering findings adverse to the Midland Defendants on certain of
plaintiff’s claims. The Midland Defendants subsequently moved the court to reconsider the order and were partially successful. However, because
the court did not completely reverse the August 11 order, certain portions of the order remain subject to reversal only on appeal. On February 22,
2010, the District Court denied Plaintiff’s attempts to enlarge the case to include anational class of consumers, and ordered the parties to brief
issues relating to whether a statewide class should be certified. On November 4, 2010, the court granted in part, and denied in part, plaintiff’s motion
for class certification of astatewide class. On February 10, 2011, the parties reached an agreement in principal to settle this lawsuit on a national
class basis, subject to entering into a definitive settlement agreement and obtaining court approval after notice to the class. We have vigorously
denied the claims asserted against usin this matter, but have agreed to the proposed settlement to avoid the burden and expense of continued
litigation. Subject to Court approval, settlement awards to eligible class members, aswell asfeesand costs, will be paid from a settlement fund of
approximately $5.2 million. If the number of class members who make claims exceeds a certain level, the total settlement could increase to an amount
not to exceed $5.7 million. Of this, approximately $3.5 million is expected to be paid with insurance proceeds. We have accrued our portion of the
settlement, which resulted in a decrease in net income of approximately $1.0 million and adecrease in fully diluted earnings per share of $0.04 for the
year ended December 31, 2010.

17



Table of Contents

We are defending a number of additional class action cases which assert, among other things, affidavit claims similar to those asserted in the
Brent litigation. Because of the similarities of the claims, the proposed settlement of the Brent caseis expected to resolve the affidavit claimsin
these other cases.

On November 2, 2010 and December 17, 2010 two national class actions entitled Robinson v. Midland Funding LLC and Tovar v. Midland
Credit Management, respectively, werefiled in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California. The complaints allege that
our subsidiaries violated the Telephone Consumer Protection Act (“ TCPA”) by calling consumers’ cellular phones without their prior express
consent. The complaints seek monetary damages under the TCPA, injunctive relief and other relief, including attorney fees. We have filed motions
to dismiss or stay these cases. Those motions are currently pending.

There are anumber of other lawsuits, claims and counterclaims pending or threatened against us. In general, these lawsuits, claims or
counterclaims have arisen in the ordinary course of business and involve claims for damages arising from avariety of alleged misconduct or
improper reporting of credit information by us or our employees or agents.

In addition, from time to time, we are subject to various regulatory investigations, inquiries and other actions, relating to our collection
activities. Theseinquiries and other actionsinclude the following:

On January 12, 2011, the Office of the Attorney General of the State of Texasissued acivil investigative demand to us to produce documents
in an investigation of our methods of collecting consumer debtsin the State of Texas and related topics. Weintend to cooperate fully with the
Texas Attorney General in response to this subpoena, subject to applicable law.

On January 6, 2010, the Office of the Attorney General of the State of California, the “ California Attorney General,” issued a subpoenato usto
answer interrogatories and to produce documentsin a proceeding entitled In the Matter of the I nvestigation of Encore Capital Group, Inc.,
Midland Credit Management, Inc. and Affiliated Persons and Entities concerning our debt collection practices and related topics. We have and
intend to continue to cooperate fully with the California Attorney General in response to this subpoena, subject to applicable law.

On December 16, 2009, the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, issued an order directing us to submit information about our practicesin
buying and collecting consumer debt, which the FTC intends to use for a study of the debt-buying industry. We are one of nine companies that
received such an order from the FTC requesting the production of information for use in the FTC's study of the industry. The nine companies were
described by the FTC asthe nation’s largest consumer debt buyers. The order was publicly announced by the FTC on January 5, 2010. We believe
that we have cooperated fully with the FTC in connection with its study, subject to applicable law.

Some of the matters pending against us involve potential compensatory, punitive damage claims, fines or sanctionsthat, if granted, could
reguire usto pay damages or make other expenditures in amounts that could have amaterial adverse effect on our financial position or results of
operations. In certain of these cases, we may have recourse to insurance or third party contractual indemnitiesto cover all or portions of our
litigation expenses, judgments or settlements. In accordance with authoritative guidance, we have recorded loss contingenciesin our financial
statements only for mattersin which losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated.

Item 4—(Removed and Reserved)
18



Table of Contents

PART 11
Item 5—Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matter sand Issuer Purchase of Equity Securities
Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “ECPG.”

The high and low sales prices of our common stock, as reported by NASDAQ Global Select Market for each quarter during our two most
recent fiscal years, are reported below:

Market Price
High Low

Fiscal Year 2010

First Quarter $18.66 $14.65

Second Quarter $24.09 $16.50

Third Quarter $22.92 $17.50

Fourth Quarter $23.67 $16.70
Fiscal Y ear 2009

First Quarter $ 843 $ 2.62

Second Quarter $14.14 $ 4.20

Third Quarter $17.50 $10.30

Fourth Quarter $19.89 $11.79

The closing price of our common stock on February 1, 2011, was $23.65 per share and there were 17 holders of record, including one
representingl02 NASD registered broker/dealers.

The following Performance Graph and related information shall not be deemed “ soliciting material” or “filed” with the SEC, nor shall such
information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as
amended, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.

The following graph compares the total cumulative stockholder return on our common stock for the period from December 30, 2005 through
December 31, 2010, with the cumulative total return of (a) the NASDAQ Index and (b) Asset Acceptance Capital Corp., AstaFunding, Inc. and
Portfolio Recovery Associates, Inc., which we believe are comparable companies. The comparison assumes that $100 was invested on December 30,
2005, in our common stock and in each of the comparison indices.
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COMPARISON OF 5§ YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
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"H100 mvested on 12/3005 in slock or index, induding reinvastment of dividands,
Fiscal year ending Decembser 31,

12/2005 12/2006 12/2007  12/2008 12/2009 12/2010
Encore Capital Group, Inc. $100.00 $ 7262 $ 5579 $4150 $100.29  $135.16
NASDAQ Composite $100.00 $111.74 $12467 $73.77 $107.12  $125.93
Peer Group $100.00 $ 918 $ 7511 $4121 $ 5761 $ 8401

Dividend Policy

Asapublic company, we have never declared or paid dividends on our common stock. However, the declaration, payment and amount of
future dividends, if any, is subject to the discretion of our board of directors, which may review our dividend policy from timeto timein light of the
then existing relevant facts and circumstances. Under the terms of our revolving credit facility, we are permitted to declare and pay dividendsin an
amount not to exceed, during any fiscal year, 20% of our audited consolidated net income for the then most recently completed fiscal year, so long
as no default or unmatured default under the facility has occurred and is continuing or would arise as aresult of the dividend payment. We may
also be subject to additional dividend restrictions under future financing facilities.
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Item 6—Selected Financial Data

Thistable presents selected historical financial data of Encore and its consolidated subsidiaries. Thisinformation should be carefully
considered in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto appearing elsewhere in thisreport. The selected datain this
section are not intended to replace the consolidated financial statements. The selected financial data (except for “ Selected Operating Data’) in the
table below, as of December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006 and for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, were derived from our audited
consolidated financial statements not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected financia data as of December 31, 2010, and 2009
and for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, and 2008, were derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewherein
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Selected Operating Data were derived from our books and records (in thousands, except per share and
personnel data):

As of and For The Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Revenue
Revenue from receivable portfolios, net® $364,294 $299,732 $240,802 $241,402 $239,340
Servicing fees and rel ated revenue@ 17,014 16,687 15,087 12,609 15,800
Total revenue 381,308 316,419 255,889 254,011 255,140
Operating expenses
Salaries and employee benefits 65,767 58,025 58,120 64,153 63,962
Stock-based compensation expense 6,010 4,384 3,564 4,287 5,669
Cost of legal collections 121,085 112,570 96,187 78,636 52,079
Other operating expenses 36,387 26,013 23,652 21,533 22,585
Collection agency commissions 20,385 19,278 13,118 12,411 18,030
General and administrative expenses 31,444 26,920 19,445 17,478 17,310
Depreciation and amortization 3,199 2,592 2,814 3,351 3,894
Total operating expenses 284,277 249,782 216,900 201,849 183,529
Income before other (expense) income and income taxes 97,031 66,637 38,989 52,162 71,611
Other (expense) income
Interest expense (19,349) (16,160) (20,572) (34,504) (35,310)
Gain on repurchase of convertible notes, net — 3,268 4771 — —
Other income (expense) 316 (2) 358 1,071 609
Total other expense (19,033) (12,894) (15,443) (33,433) (34,701)
Income befor eincome taxes 77,998 53,743 23,546 18,729 36,910
Provision for income taxes (28,946) (20,696) (9,700) (6,498) (15,436)
Net income $ 49,052 $ 33,047 $ 13,846 $ 12,231 $ 21,474
Earningsper share:
Basic $ 205 $ 142 $ 060 $ 053 $ 094
Diluted $ 19 $ 137 $ 059 $ 052 $ 092
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As of and For The Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Weighted-aver age shar es outstanding:
Basic 23,897 23,215 23,046 22,876 22,754
Diluted 25,091 24,082 23577 23,386 23,390
Cash flow data:
Cash flows provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 73451 $ 76,116 $ 63,071 $ 19,610 $ 38,027
Investing activities $(142,807) $(79,171) $(107,252) $(95,059) $(37,190)
Financing activities $ 71,873 $ 1,102 $ 45,846 $ 73,334 $ 2,928
Selected operating data:
Purchases of receivable portfolios, at cost®) $ 361,957 $256,632 $ 230,278 $208,953 $144,287
Gross collections for the period $ 604,609 $487,792 $ 398,633 $355,193 $337,097
Average active employees for the period® 1,563 1,102 913 907 858
Gross collections per average active employee $ 387 $ 443 $ 436 $ 392 $ 393
Consolidated statements of financial condition data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,905 $ 8,388 $ 10,341 $ 8,676 $ 10,791
Investment in receivable portfolios, net $ 644,753 $526,877 $ 461,346 $392,209 $300,348
Total assets $ 736,468 $595,159 $ 549,079 $483,011 $394,673
Total debt $ 385,264 $303,075 $ 303,655 $256,223 $179,010
Total liabilities $ 433,771 $352,068 $ 345,653 $295,576 $222,803

$243,091 $ 203,426 $187,435 $171,870

Total stockholders’ equity $ 302,697

(1)

@)

(3

4

Includes net allowance charges of $22.2 million, $19.3 million, $41.4 million, $11.2 million and $1.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009, 2008, 2007 and 2006,

respectively.

Includes $16.9 million, $16.7 million, $15.0 million, $12.5 million and $15.7 million in revenue from Ascension for the years ending December 31, 2010, 2009, 2008, 2007 and 2006,

respectively.

Purchase price includes a $10.3 million, $5.6 million, $11.7 million and $10.6 million allocation of our forward flow asset for 2009, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. In July 2008, we
ceased forward flow purchases from Jefferson Capital due to an alleged breach by Jefferson Capital and its parent, CompuCredit Corporation, of certain agreements. In September 2009, we

settled our dispute with Jefferson Capital. As part of the settlement, we purchased a receivable portfolio and applied the remaining forward flow asset to that purchase.
Excludes employees of Ascension and employees in India supporting Ascension, which averaged approximately 191, 125, 116, 133 and 184, for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009,

2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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Item 7—M anagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “ forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the securities laws. The words “ believe,”
“expect,” “ anticipate,” “ estimate,” “ project,” “intend,” “ plan,” “will,” “may” and similar expressions often characterize forward-looking
statements. These statements may include, but are not limited to, projections of collections, revenues, income or loss, estimates of capital
expenditures, plans for future operations, products or services and financing needs or plans, aswell as assumptionsrelating to these matters.
Although we believe that the expectations reflected in these forwar d-looking statements are reasonabl e, we caution that these expectations or
predictions may not prove to be correct or we may not achieve the financial results, savings or other benefits anticipated in the forward-looking
statements. These forward-looking statements are necessarily estimates refl ecting the best judgment of our senior management and involve a
number of risks and uncertainties, some of which may be beyond our control or cannot be predicted or quantified, that could cause actual
results to differ materially from those suggested by the forward-looking statements. Many factors, including but not limited to those set forth in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K under “ Part |, Item 1A. Risk Factors,” could cause our actual results, performance, achievements or industry
resultsto be very different fromthe results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Our business,
financial condition or results of operations could also be materially and adver sely affected by other factors besides those listed. Forward-
looking statements speak only as of the date the statements were made. We do not undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-
looking statementsto reflect new information or future events, or for any other reason, even if experience or future events makeit clear that any
expected results expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements will not be realized. In addition, it is generally our policy not to make
any specific projections as to future earnings, and we do not endor se projections regarding future performance that may be made by third
parties.

Introduction

We are aleader in consumer debt buying and recovery. We purchase portfolios of defaulted consumer receivables at deep discounts to face
value based on robust, account-level valuation methods, and employ a suite of proprietary statistical and behavioral models when building account
collection strategies. We use avariety of operational channelsto maximize our collections from the portfolios that we purchase, including seeking
to partner with individuals as they repay their obligations and work toward financial recovery. In addition, we provide bankruptcy support services
to some of the largest companiesin the financial servicesindustry through our wholly owned subsidiary Ascension.

While seasonality does not have a material impact on our business, collections are generally strongest in our first calendar quarter, slower in
the second and third calendar quarters and slowest in the fourth calendar quarter. Higher relative collectionsin the first quarter could result in a
lower cost-to-collect ratio compared to the fourth quarter, as our fixed costs would be constant and applied against alarger collection base. The
seasonal impact on our business may be influenced by our purchasing levels, the types of portfolios we purchase and our operating strategies.

Collection seasonality can also impact our revenue recognition rate. Generally, revenue for each pool group declines steadily over time,
whereas collections can fluctuate from quarter to quarter based on seasonality, as described above. In quarters with lower collections (like the 4th
calendar quarter), revenue as a percentage of collections can be higher than in quarters with higher collections (like the 1st calendar quarter).

In addition, seasonality could have an impact on therelative level of quarterly earnings. In quarters with stronger collections, total costs are
higher, as aresult of the additional efforts required to generate those collections. Since revenue for each pool group declines steadily over time, in
quarters with stronger collections and higher costs (like the 1st calendar quarter), all else being equal, earnings could be lower than in quarters with
slower collections and lower costs (like the 4th calendar quarter).
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Market Overview

While there has been improvement in macroeconomic indicators during 2010, including stronger manufacturing and corporate profit metrics, a
broad economic recovery hasyet to fully materialize for the U.S. consumer. Minimal job growth, uncertainty over state and federal taxes and limited
credit availability continue to challenge U.S. consumers, as demonstrated by weak consumer spending and volatile but rising consumer confidence
levels. Within the credit card space, we see mixed signals. Although charge-off rates remain at historic highs, delinquency levels have improved at a
rate that may indicate afundamental improvement in consumer financial strength. However, related measures, like personal bankruptcies and home
foreclosures, remain elevated and indicate continued near-term pressure on the average consumer.

Despite this macroeconomic volatility through 2010, most of our internal collection metrics were consistent with, or better than, what we
observed in 2008 and 2009. To illustrate, payer rates and average payment size, adjusted for changes in the mix of settlements-in-full versus
payment plans, remained constant. However, more of our consumers are opting to settle their debt obligations through payment plans as opposed
to one-time settlements. Settlements made through payment plans impact our recoveriesin two ways. First, the delay in cash flows from payments
received over extended time periods may result in aprovision for portfolio allowance. When along-term payment stream (as compared to aone-time
payment of the same amount) is discounted using a pool group’sinternal rate of return, or IRR, the net present value islower. In other words,
despite the absol ute value of total cash received being identical in both scenarios, accounting for the timing of cash flowsin a payment plan yields
alower net present value which, in turn, can result in aprovision for portfolio allowance. Second, payment plansinherently contain the possibility
of consumersfailing to complete all scheduled payments, which we term a*“ broken payer.”

Therate at which consumers are honoring their obligations and completing their payment plans hasincreased in 2010 when compared to 2009.
We believe thisistheresult of two factors: our commitment to partner effectively with consumers during their recovery process and the strength of
our analytic platform, which allows us to make accurate and timely decisions about how best to maximize our portfolio returns. Nevertheless,
payment plans may still produce broken payersthat fail to fulfill all scheduled payments. When this happens, we are often successful in getting the
consumer back on plan, but thisis not always the case and in those instances where we are unable to do so, we experience a shortfall in recoveries
as compared to our initial forecasts. Please refer to “ Management’s Discussion and Analysis— Revenue” below for amore detailed explanation of
the provision for portfolio allowances.

Throughout the credit crisis, we strategically invested in receivable portfolio as credit card charge-offs increased to historic levelsand we
believe that some of our competitors were (i) caught owning receivables with low yields as aresult of purchasing certain portfolios at elevated
pricing levels between 2005 and 2008 and (ii) faced with constrained accessto capital to fund portfolio purchases due to depressed capital markets.
These dynamics resulted in a supply-demand gap that dramatically reduced pricing of available portfolios, beginning in early 2009. For example,
pricesfor freshly charged-off assets (i.e., receivables sold within thirty days of charge-off by the credit issuers) declined from arange of 8% — 13%
in 2008 to arange of 5% — 9% in 2009 and early 2010. Similar price reductions were apparent across a broad range of defaulted consumer receivable
asset classes (including credit cards and other consumer |oans), balance ranges and ages. After such a dramatic decline, pricing has started to
increase, but remains favorable when compared to 2005 through 2008 levels. In response to the price declines in 2009 and early 2010, some issuers
opted not to sell all of their receivable portfolio and instead, pursued internal liquidation strategies or partnered with third party agencies. We
believe that as pricing increases, these issuerswill sell agreater percentage of their charged-off portfolios.
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Purchases and Collections
Purchases by Type

The following table summarizes the types of charged-off consumer receivables portfolios we purchased for the periods presented (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Credit card $341,910 $256,632 $201,315
Consumer bankruptcy receivables® 12,205 — —

Telecom 7,842 — 28,963

$361,957 $256,632 $230,278

o Represents portfolio receivables subject to Chapter 13 and Chapter 7 bankruptcy proceedings acquired from issuers.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we invested $362.0 million for portfolios, primarily for charged-off credit card, bankruptcy and
telecom portfolios, with face values aggregating $10.9 billion for an average purchase price of 3.3% of face value. Thisisa$105.4 million increase, or
41.0%, in the amount invested, compared with the $256.6 million invested during the year ended December 31, 2009, to acquire portfolios, primarily
consisting of charged-off credit card portfolios, with aface value aggregating $6.5 billion for an average purchase price of 4.0% of face value.
Included in our 2010 purchases was a $45.6 million, one-time, large portfolio purchase from one seller in December 2010.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we invested $256.6 million to acquire portfolios, primarily consisting of charged-off credit card
portfolios, with aface value aggregating $6.5 billion for an average purchase price of 4.0% of face value. Thisisa $26.4 million increase, or 11.4%, in
the amount invested, compared with the $230.3 million invested during the year ended December 31, 2008, to acquire portfolios, primarily consisting
of charged-off credit card portfolios, with aface value aggregating $6.6 billion for an average purchase price of 3.5% of face value.

Average purchase price, as a percentage of face value, varies from period to period depending on, among other things, the quality of the
accounts purchased and the length of time from charge-off to the time we purchase the portfolios.

Collections by Channel

During 2010, 2009 and 2008, we utilized numerous business channels for the collection of charged-off credit card receivables and other
charged-off receivables. The following table summarizes gross collections by collection channel (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Collection sites $268,205 $185,789 $157,077
Legal collections 266,762 232,667 193,201
Collection agencies 68,042 62,653 34,736
Sales — 6,677 12,550
Other 1,600 6 1,069

$604,609 $487,792 $398,633

Gross collectionsincreased $116.8 million, or 23.9%, to $604.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2010, from $487.8 million during the
year ended December 31, 2009, primarily due to increased portfolio purchases throughout the year.
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Gross collections increased $89.2 million, or 22.4%, to $487.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2009, from $398.6 million during the
year ended December 31, 2008, primarily due to increased portfolio purchases throughout the year.

Results of Operations
Results of operations, in dollars and as a percentage of total revenue, were as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Revenue
Revenue from receivable portfolios, net $364,294 95.5% $299,732 94.7% $240,802 94.1%
Servicing fees and related revenue 17,014 4.5% 16,687 5.3% 15,087 5.9%
Total revenue 381,308 100.0% 316,419 100.0% 255,889 100.0%
Operating expenses
Salaries and employee benefits 65,767 17.2% 58,025 18.4% 58,120 22.71%
Stock-based compensation expense 6,010 1.6% 4,384 1.4% 3,564 1.4%
Cost of legal collections 121,085 31.8% 112,570 35.6% 96,187 37.6%
Other operating expenses 36,387 9.5% 26,013 8.2% 23,652 9.2%
Collection agency commissions 20,385 5.4% 19,278 6.1% 13,118 5.1%
General and administrative expenses 31,444 8.2% 26,920 8.5% 19,445 7.6%
Depreciation and amortization 3,199 0.8% 2,592 0.8% 2,814 1.1%
Total operating expenses 284,277 74.5% 249,782 79.0% 216,900 84.7%
Income before other (expense) income and income taxes 97,031 25.5% 66,637 21.0% 38,989 15.3%
Other (expense) income
Interest expense (19,349) (5.1)% (16,160) (5.1)% (20,572) (8.0)%
Gain on repurchase of convertible notes, net — 0.0% 3,268 1.0% 4,771 1.8%
Other income (expense) 316 0.1% (2 0.0% 358 0.1%
Total other expense (19,033) (5.0)% (12,894) (4.1)% (15,443) (6.1)%
Income beforeincome taxes 77,998 20.5% 53,743 16.9% 23,546 9.2%
Provision for income taxes (28,946) (7.6)% (20,696) (6.5)% (9,700) (3.8)%
Net income $ 49,052 12.9% $ 33,047 10.4% $ 13,846 5.4%

Comparison of Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2010 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2009
Revenue

Our revenue consists primarily of portfolio revenue and bankruptcy servicing revenue. Portfolio revenue consists of accretion revenue and
zero basis revenue. Accretion revenue represents revenue derived from pools (quarterly groupings of purchased receivable portfolios) with a cost
basis that has not been fully amortized. Revenue from pools with aremaining unamortized cost basisis accrued based on each pool’s effective
interest rate applied to each pool’s remaining unamortized cost basis. The cost basis of each pool isincreased by revenue earned and decreased by
gross collections and portfolio alowances. The effective interest rate isthe internal rate of return derived from the timing and amounts of actual
cash received and anticipated future cash flow projections for each pool. All collections realized after the net book value of a portfolio has been
fully recovered,
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or zero basis portfolios, are recorded as revenue, or zero basis revenue or alowance reversal if applicable. We account for our investment in
receivable portfolios utilizing the interest method in accordance with the authoritative guidance for loans and debt securities acquired with
deteriorated credit quality. Servicing fee revenue isrevenue primarily associated with bankruptcy servicing fees earned from our Ascension
subsidiary, aprovider of bankruptcy services to the finance industry.

The following tables summarize collections, revenue, end of period receivable balance and other related supplemental data, by year of
purchase (in thousands, except percentages):

As of
Year Ended December 31, 2010 December 31, 2010
Net
Gross Revenue Reversal Revenue
Revenue Recognition (Portfalio % of Total Unamortized Monthly

Collections(?) (2) Rate® Allowance) Revenue Balances IRR
ZBA $ 10,590 $ 9,689 915% $ 901 25% % = =
2002 417 — 0.0% 417 0.0% — —
2003 3,215 759 23.6% 1,829 0.2% — —
2004 7,799 2,822 36.2% 1,553 0.7% 1,166 6.6%
2005 27,034 16,301 60.3% (2,750) 4.2% 17,315 5.6%
2006 26,185 21,592 82.5% (9,605) 5.6% 28,890 5.1%
2007 70,569 44,689 63.3% (4,527) 11.6% 38,302 7.5%
2008 126,496 78,579 62.1% (10,027) 20.3% 99,802 5.1%
2009 206,360 135,096 65.5% — 35.0% 147,830 6.4%
2010 125,729 76,976 61.2% — 19.9% 311,448 4.2%
Tota $ 604,394 $386,503 63.9%  $(22,209) 100.0% $ 644,753 5.1%

Asof
Year Ended December 31, 2009 December 31, 2009
Net
Gross Revenue Reversal Revenue
Revenue Recognition (Portfolio % of Total Unamortized Monthly

Collections(?) (2) Rate® Allowance) Revenue Balances IRR
ZBA $ 8,927 $ 8927 1000% $ — 28% 3% i i
2002 2,831 903 31.9% 1,254 0.3% — —
2003 8,021 5,932 74.0% 59 1.9% 629 31.4%
2004 11,363 6,922 60.9% (629) 2.1% 4,600 8.1%
2005 41,948 26,332 62.8% (2,192) 8.2% 30,804 5.6%
2006 44,554 31,864 71.5% (4,622) 10.0% 44,030 5.1%
2007 111,116 64,045 57.6% (6,357) 20.1% 68,739 5.8%
2008 162,846 112,657 69.2% (6,823) 35.3% 157,807 5.0%
2009 95,852 61,460 64.1% — 19.3% 220,268 4.4%
Total $ 487,458 $319,042 65.5%  $(19,310) 100.0% $ 526,877 5.0%

M Does not include amounts collected on behdlf of athers.
@ Gross revenue excludes the effects of net portfolio allowance or net portfolio alowance reversals.
@ Revenue recognition rate excludes the effects of net portfolio allowance or net portfolio allowance reversals.

Total revenue was $381.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, an increase of $64.9 million, or 20.5%, compared to total revenue of
$316.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. Portfolio revenue was $364.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, an increase of $64.6
million, or 21.5%, compared to portfolio revenue of $299.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2009. Theincrease in portfolio revenuefor the
year ended December 31, 2010, was primarily the result of additional accretion revenue associated with a higher portfolio balance during the year
ended December 31, 2010 compared to the year ended December 31, 2009. During the year ended December 31, 2010, we recorded a net portfolio
allowance provision of $22.2
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million, compared to a net portfolio allowance provision of $19.3 million in the prior year. The portfolio allowances for the years ended December 31,
2010 and 2009 were largely due to ashortfall in collectionsin certain pool groups against our forecast. While our total collections exceeded our
forecast, there is often variability at the pool group level between our actual collections and our forecasted collections, primarily our 2006 through
2008 vintage portfolios. Thisistheresult of several factors, including pressures on our consumers due to a weakened economy, changesin internal
operating strategies, shiftsin consumer payment patterns and the inherent challenge of forecasting collections at the pool group level.

Revenue associated with bankruptcy servicing fees was $16.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, an increase of $0.2 million, or
1.9%, compared to revenue of $16.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses were $284.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, an increase of $34.5 million, or 13.8%, compared to total
operating expenses of $249.8 million for the year ended December 31, 20009.

Operating expenses are explained in more detail asfollows:

Salaries and employee benefits

Total salaries and employee benefitsincreased $7.8 million, or 13.3%, to $65.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2010, from $58.0
million during the year ended December 31, 2009. Theincrease was primarily the result of an additional $9.4 million in payroll related expenses due to
increased headcount to support our growth, offset by a $1.6 million decrease in our self-insured health care costs due to our successful wellness
programs and to fewer catastrophic claims compared to the prior year.

Stock-based compensation expenses

Stock-based compensation increased $1.6 million, or 37.1%, to $6.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2010, from $4.4 million during
the year ended December 31, 2009. Thisincrease was primarily attributable to awards granted to our senior management team in the year ended
December 31, 2010 and the higher fair value of equity awards granted in recent periods due to an increase in our stock price.

Cost of legal collections

The cost of legal collectionsincreased $8.5 million, or 7.6%, to $121.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2010, compared to $112.6
million during the year ended December 31, 2009. These costs represent contingent fees paid to our nationwide network of attorneys and costs of
litigation. Theincreasein the cost of legal collections was primarily the result of anincrease in commissions paid on increased collections through
our legal channel, partially offset by adecrease in court cost expense. For the year ended December 31, 2010, we paid commissions of $76.2 million,
or 28.6%, on legal collections of $266.8 million, compared to commissions of $66.5 million, or 28.6%, on legal collections of $232.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2009. Court cost expense decreased to $42.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared to $43.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2009. This decrease was due to the effect of our change in accounting estimate of Deferred Court Costs effective
October 1, 2010, as discussed in more detail in “Change in Accounting Estimate” under “ Critical Accounting Policies,” which reduced our court
cost expense by $2.8 million. This decrease was offset by additional expense related to the increase of $10.7 million in court costs advanced in the
year ended December 31, 2010, compared to the year ended December 31, 2009. Accordingly, court cost expense decreased to 15.9% as a percent of
legal collections for the year ended December 31, 2010, compared to 18.7% of legal collections for the year ended December 31, 2009. As aresult, the
cost of legal collections, as a percent of gross collections through this channel, decreased to 45.4% for the year ended
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December 31, 2010 from 48.4% for the year ended December 31, 2009. See Note 5 “ Deferred Court Costs” in our consolidated financial statements for
further information on the effect of the change in accounting estimate related to Deferred Court Costs.

The following table summarizes our legal collection channel performance and related direct costs (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009
Collections $266,762 100.0% $232,667 100.0%
Court costs advanced $ 74,758 28.0% $ 64,047 27.5%
Court costs deferred (32,247) (12.1)% (22,169) (9.5)%
Deferred court costs reversal® — 0.0% 1,714 0.7%
Court cost expense2 42,511 15.9% 43,592 18.7%
Other® 2,403 0.9% 2,444 1.1%
Commissions 76,171 28.6% 66,534 28.6%
Total Costs $121,085 45.4% $112,570 48.4%

@O pri marily related to our settled arbitration with Jefferson Capital in September 2009. As part of the settlement with Jefferson Capital, we returned accounts that were subject to Jefferson
Capitd’ s settlement with the FTC. A portion of those accounts were in our legal channel and, when these were returned, resulted in the reversal of court costs previously deferred.

@ In connection with our agreement with contracted attorneys, we advance certain out-of-pocket court costs. We capitalize these costs in our consolidated financia statements and provide a
reserve and corresponding court cost expense for the costs that we believe will be ultimately uncollectible. This amount includes changes in our anticipated recovery rate of court costs
expensed.

() Other costs consigt of costs related to counter claims and legal network subscription fees.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expensesincreased $10.4 million, or 39.9%, to $36.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2010, from $26.0 million during
the year ended December 31, 2009. The increase was primarily the result of an increase of $2.6 million in direct mail campaign expenses, an increase
of $1.7 million in media-related expenses, an increase of $1.9 million in telephone expenses, an increase of $1.1 million in telephone number tracing
expenses and a net increase in various other operating expenses of $3.1 million, all to support our growth.

Collection agency commissions

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we incurred $20.4 million in commissions to third party collection agencies, or 30.0% of the related
gross collections of $68.0 million, compared to $19.3 million in commissions, or 30.8% of the related gross collections of $62.7 million during the year
ended December 31, 2009. The decrease in the net commission rate as a percentage of the related gross collections was primarily due to the mix of
accounts placed with the agencies. Commissions, as a percentage of collections through this channel, vary from period to period depending on,
among other things, the time from charge-off of the accounts placed with an agency. Generally, freshly charged-off accounts have alower
commission rate than accounts that have been charged off for alonger period of time. During the year ended December 31, 2010, we collected more
freshly charged-off accounts with our agencies as compared to the prior year.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses increased $4.5 million, or 16.8%, to $31.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2010, from $26.9
million during the year ended December 31, 2009. The increase was primarily the result of an increase of $4.1 millionin legal settlements, an increase
of $0.4 million in consulting
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fees, an increase of $1.4 million in system maintenance costs and a net increase in other general and administrative expenses of $3.8 million. The
increase was offset by a decrease of $5.2 million in corporate legal expenses due to incurring significant legal expensesin 2009 in connection with
our settled arbitration with Jefferson Capital.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $0.6 million, or 23.4%, to $3.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2010, from $2.6
million during the year ended December 31, 2009. The increase was primarily due to increased depreciation expenses resulted from our acquisition of
fixed assetsin the current and prior years.

Cost per Dollar Collected
The following table summarizes our cost per dollar collected (in thousands, except per centages):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009
Cost Per Cost Per Cost Per Cost Per
Channel Total Channel Total
Dollar Dollar Dollar Dollar
Collections Cost Collected Collected Collections Cost Collected Collected
Collection sites $268,205 $ 25,3500 9.5% 4.2% $185,789 $ 22,9120 12.3% 4.7%
Legal networks 266,762 121,085 45.4% 20.0% 232,667 112,570 48.4% 23.1%
Collection agency outsourcing 68,042 20,385 30.0% 3.4% 62,653 19,278 30.8% 4.0%
Sales and other 1,600 — — — 6,683 — — —
Other indirect
costs® — 97,119 — 16.1% — 77,420 — 15.8%
Total $604,609  $263,9399 437%  $487,792  $232,1800 47.6%

@ Represents only account manager saaries, variable compensation and employee benefits.

@ Other indirect costs represent non collection salaries and employee benefits, general and administrative expenses, other operating expenses, and depreciation and amortization.

Represents all operating expenses excluding stock-based compensation expense and bankruptcy servicing operating expenses. We include this information in order to facilitate a comparison
of approximate cash costs to cash collections for the debt purchasing business in the periods presented. Refer to the items for reconciliation of operating expenses, excluding stock-based
compensation expense and bankruptcy servicing operating expenses to GAAP total operating expenses in the table below.

(3

During the year ended December 31, 2010, cost per dollar collected decreased by 390 basis points to 43.7% of gross collections from 47.6% of
gross collections during the year ended December 31, 2009. This decrease was primarily due to several factors, including:

»  Thecost from our collection sites, which includes account manager salaries, variable compensation and employee benefits, asa
percentage of total collections, decreased to 4.2% for the year ended December 31, 2010 from 4.7% for the year ended December 31, 2009
and, as a percentage of our site collections, decreased to 9.5% for the year ended December 31, 2010 from 12.3% for the year ended
December 31, 2009. The decrease was primarily due to the growth of our collection workforce in India.

+ Thecost of legal collections as a percent of total collections decreased to 20.0% for the year ended December 31, 2010 from 23.1% for the
year ended December 31, 2009 and, as a percentage of legal collections, decreased to 45.4% in the year ended December 31, 2010 from
48.4% for the year ended December 31, 2009. The decreases were primarily due to the effect of our change in accounting estimate of
Deferred Court Costs effective October 1, 2010, as discussed in more detail in “ Change in Accounting Estimate” under “Critical
Accounting Policies” which reduced our court cost expense by $2.8 million. Additionally, as we refine our analytics and increase our
ability to model consumer
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behavior, we have been able to be more precise about where to use the legal channel, which has enabled us to reduce our cost
expenditure without negatively impacting collections.

*  Thecost of collection agency commissions, as a percentage of total collections, decreased to 3.4% for the year ended December 31, 2010
from 4.0% for the year ended December 30, 2009. The cost in collection agency commissions, as a percentage of channel collections,
decreased to 30.0% for the year ended December 31, 2010 from 30.8% for the year ended December 31, 2009. This decrease was the result
of achangein the mix of accounts placed into this channel. Freshly charged-off accounts have alower commission rate than accounts
that have been charged-off for alonger period of time. During the year ended December 31, 2010, we collected more freshly charged-off
accounts with our agencies as compared to the prior year.

The decrease in cost per dollar collected was partially offset by an increase in other costs not directly attributable to specific channel
collections (other indirect costs), as a percentage of total collections, from 15.8% for the year ended December 31, 2009, to 16.1% for the year ended
December 31, 2010. These costsinclude non- collection salaries and employee benefits, general and administrative expenses, other operating
expenses and depreciation and amortization. The dollar increase and the increasein cost per dollar collected were due to several factorsincluding
increases in corporate settlements and increases in headcount and general and administrative expenses to support our growth.

The following table presents the items for reconciliation of operating expenses, excluding stock-based compensation expense and bankruptcy
servicing operating expenses to GAAP total operating expenses (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2010 2009
GAAP total operating expenses, as reported $ 284,277 $ 249,782
Stock-based compensation expense (6,010) (4,384)
Bankruptcy servicing operating expenses (14,328) (13,218)

Expansion in India

Due to the continued strong performance of our team in Indiaand our ability to reduce our overall site cost- to-collect through the expansion
of our offshore collection efforts, we have entered into alease for additional spacein India. This spaceislocated adjacent to our current sitein
Gurgaon, Indiaand will allow usto expand our account manager headcount throughout 2011.

Interest expense
The following table summarizes our interest expense (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 $ Change % Change
Stated interest on debt obligations $15,667 $12,080 $ 3,587 29.7%
Amortization of loan fees and other |oan costs 1,669 1,179 490 41.6%
Amortization of debt discount—convertible notes 2,013 2,901 (888) (30.6)%
Total interest expense $19,349 $16,160 $ 3,189 19.7%

Stated interest on debt obligations increased $3.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2010, compared to the prior year, primarily due
to higher interest rates and increases in amounts borrowed under our revolving credit facility to fund our purchases of receivable portfolios and for
general working capital needs.

Other income and expense

During the year ended December 31, 2010, total other income was $0.3 million, compared to atotal other expense of less than $0.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2009. The other income of $0.3 million during
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the year ended December 31, 2010 was primarily attributable to a $0.3 million gain recognized in connection with the early termination of a contract.

Provision for income taxes

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we recorded an income tax provision of $28.9 million, reflecting an effective rate of 37.1% of pretax
income. The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2010 primarily consisted of aprovision for federal income taxes of 32.7% (which is net
of abenefit for state taxes of 2.3%), ablended provision for state taxes of 6.7%, a0.6% beneficial adjustment to federal taxes payable as aresult of
state tax true ups and a benefit for the effect of permanent book versus tax differences of 1.7%.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we recorded an income tax provision of $20.7 million, reflecting an effective rate of 38.5% of pretax
income. The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2009 primarily consisted of a provision for federal income taxes of 32.4% (which is net
of abenefit for state taxes of 2.6%), a blended provision for state taxes of 7.3%, a 1.0% beneficial adjustment to federal taxes payable as aresult of
state tax rate changes and a benefit for the effect of permanent book versus tax differences of 0.2%.

Year Ended December 31, 2009 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2008
Revenue

The following tables summarize collections, revenue, end of period receivable balance and other related supplemental data, by year of
purchase (in thousands, except percentages):

As of
Year Ended December 31, 2009 December 31, 2009
Net Revenue
Gross Revenue Reversal % of
Revenue Recognition (Portfolio Total Unamortized Monthly
Collections() (2 Rate(® Allowance) Revenue Balances IRR
ZBA $ 8,927 $ 8927 1000% $ — 28% $ = —
2002 2,831 903 31.9% 1,254 0.3% — —
2003 8,021 5,932 74.0% 59 1.9% 629 31.4%
2004 11,363 6,922 60.9% (629) 2.1% 4,600 8.1%
2005 41,948 26,332 62.8% (2,192 8.2% 30,804 5.6%
2006 44,554 31,864 71.5% (4,622) 10.0% 44,030 5.1%
2007 111,116 64,045 57.6% (6,357) 20.1% 68,739 5.8%
2008 162,846 112,657 69.2% (6,823) 35.3% 157,807 5.0%
2009 95,852 61,460 64.1% — 19.3% 220,268 4.4%
Total $ 487,458 $319,042 655%  $ (19,310 100.0% $ 526,877 5.0%
As of
Year Ended December 31, 2008 December 31, 2008
Net
Gross Revenue Reversal Revenue
Revenue Recognition (Portfolio % of Total Unamortized Monthly
CollectionsV) [l Ratel3) Allowance) Revenue Balances IRR
ZBA $ 9,606 $ 9,606 1000% $ — 34% 3 i i
2002 5,511 4,015 72.9% 360 1.4% 681 29.1%
2003 13,874 12,129 87.4% 15 4.3% 2,666 30.7%
2004 19,117 15121 79.1% (7,037) 5.4% 9,675 8.3%
2005 66,675 46,115 69.2% (17,892) 16.3% 48,613 5.6%
2006 70,743 47,922 67.7% (11,442) 17.0% 61,368 51%
2007 145,271 92,928 64.0% (5,404) 32.9% 122,215 5.2%
2008 67,506 54,366 80.5% — 19.3% 216,128 4.9%
Tota $ 398,303 $282,202 70.9%  $ (41,400) 100.0% $ 461,346 5.4%

32



Table of Contents

(" Does not include amounts collected on behalf of others.
( Gross revenue excludes the effects of net portfolio allowance or net portfolio allowance reversals.
( Revenue recognition rate excludes the effects of net portfolio allowance or net portfolio allowance reversals.

Total revenue was $316.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of $60.5 million, or 23.7%, compared to total revenue of
$255.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Portfolio revenue was $299.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of $58.9
million, or 24.5%, compared to portfolio revenue of $240.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. Theincrease in portfolio revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2009, was primarily the result of additional accretion revenue associated with a higher portfolio balance during the year
ended December 31, 2009 compared to the year ended December 31, 2008. During the year ended December 31, 2009, we recorded a net portfolio
alowance provision of $19.3 million, compared to a net portfolio allowance provision of $41.4 million in the prior year. The net provision for
portfolio allowances for the year ended December 31, 2009 was largely due to ashortfall in collectionsin certain pool groups against our forecast.
While our total collections exceeded our forecast, there is often variability at the pool group level between our actual collections and our forecasted
collections, primarily our 2006 through 2008 vintage portfolios. Thisisthe result of several factors, including pressures on the consumer dueto a
weak economy, changesin internal operating strategy, shiftsin consumer payment patterns and the inherent challenge of forecasting collections at
the pool group level. The net portfolio alowance provision of $41.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2008 was primarily due to ashortfal in
collectionsin certain pool groups against our forecast, primarily our 2004 through 2007 vintages. We believe that this was the result of broadening
pressure on our consumers due to aweakening economy as well asto particular challenges we experienced in collecting on certain portfolios.

Revenue associated with bankruptcy servicing fees was $16.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of $1.6 million, or
10.6%, compared to revenue of $15.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2008. The increase in Ascension revenue was due to a higher volume
of bankruptcy placementsin 2009.

Operating Expenses
Total operating expenses were $249.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2009, an increase of $32.9 million, or 15.1%, compared to total
operating expenses of $216.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Operating expenses are explained in more detail asfollows:

Salaries and employee benefits

Total salaries and employee benefits decreased $0.1 million, or less than one percent, to $58.0 million during the year ended December 31,
2009, from $58.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2008. The slight decrease was primarily the result of a decrease of $0.4 million related to
deferred compensation expense which was fully amortized in 2008, offset by an increase of $0.4 million in health benefit related expenses.
Additionally, total salaries and benefits declined slightly while company headcount increased. This declineisthe result of ashiftin our collection
workforce from the United Statesto India and a change in our compensation plan structure in our domestic sites.

Stock-based compensation expenses

Stock-based compensation increased $0.8 million, or 23.0%, to $4.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2009, from $3.6 million during
the year ended December 31, 2008. Thisincrease was aresult of equity awards granted during the year ended December 31, 20009.
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Cost of legal collections

The cost of legal collectionsincreased $16.4 million, or 17.0%, to $112.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2009, compared to $96.2
million during the year ended December 31, 2008. These costs represent contingent fees paid to our nationwide network of attorneys and costs of
litigation. Theincreasein the cost of legal collections was primarily the result of anincrease in commissions paid on increased collections through
our legal channel and an increase in court cost expense. For the year ended December 31, 2009, we paid commissions of $66.5 million, or 28.6%, on
legal collections of $232.7 million, compared to commissions of $55.5 million, or 28.7%, on legal collections of $193.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008. Court costs advanced for the year ended December 31, 2009 amounted to $64.0 million, compared to $63.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2008. Court costs expensed increased to $43.6 million, but decreased to 18.7% as a percent of collections, for the year ended
December 31, 2009, compared to $38.5 million, or 19.9% of collections, for the year ended December 31, 2008, due to a decrease in our court cost
recovery rate. Asaresult, the cost of legal collections, as a percent of gross collections through this channel, decreased to 48.4% for the year
ended December 31, 2009 from 49.8% for the year ended December 31, 2008.

The following table summarizes our legal collection channel performance and related direct costs (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008

Collections $232,667 100.0% $193,201 100.0%
Court costs advanced $ 64,047 27.5% $ 63,846 33.0%
Court costs deferred (22,169) (9.5)% (25,354) (13.1)%
Deferred court costs reversal(® 1,714 0.7% — 0.0%
Court cost expense@ 43,592 18.7% 38,492 19.9%
Other® 2,444 1.1% 2,210 1.2%
Commissions 66,534 28.6% 55,485 28.7%
Total Costs $112,570 48.4% $ 96,187 49.8%

O pr marily related to our arbitration settlement with Jefferson Capital in September 2009. As part of the settlement with Jefferson Capital, we returned accounts that were subject to Jefferson
Capital’ s settlement with the FTC. A portion of those accounts were in our legal channel and, when these were returned, resulted in the reversal of court costs previously deferred.

@ In connection with our agreement with contracted attorneys, we advance certain out-of-pocket court costs. We capitalize these costs in our consolidated financial statements and provide a
reserve and corresponding court cost expense for the costs that we believe will be ultimately uncollectible. This amount includes changes in our anticipated recovery rate of court costs
expensed.

() Other costs consist of costs related to counter claims and legal network subscription fees.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expensesincreased $2.3 million, or 10.0%, to $26.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2009, from $23.7 million during
the year ended December 31, 2008. The increase was primarily the result of an increase of $0.7 million in telephone expenses, an increase of $0.5
million in telephone number tracing expenses, an increase of $0.5 million in direct mail campaign expenses, an increase of $0.5 million in media-
related expenses and a net increase in various other operating expenses of $0.2 million.

Collection agency commissions

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we incurred $19.3 million in commissions to third party collection agencies, or 30.8% of the related
gross collections of $62.7 million, compared to $13.1 million in commissions, or 37.8% of the related gross collections of $34.8 million during the year
ended December 31, 2008. Theincrease in commissions was due to the increase in collections through this channel, offset by alower
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net commission rate. The decrease in the net commission rate as a percentage of the related gross collections was primarily due to the mix of
accounts placed with the agencies. Commissions, as a percentage of collections through this channel, vary from period to period depending on,
among other things, the time from charge-off of the accounts placed with an agency. Generally, freshly charged-off accounts have alower
commission rate than accounts that have been charged off for alonger period of time. During the year ended December 31, 2009, our agencies
collected more from freshly charged-off accounts as compared to the prior year.

General and administrative expenses

Generd and administrative expensesincreased $7.5 million, or 38.4%, to $26.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2009, from $19.4
million during the year ended December 31, 2008. The increase was primarily the result of an increase of $5.3 million in corporate legal expenses
related primarily to our settled Jefferson Capital arbitration and other ongoing litigation, an increase of $1.2 million in corporate settlements, an
increase of $0.9 million in building rent related to our expansion in India and a net increase in other general and administrative expenses of $0.1
million.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $0.2 million, or 7.9%, to $2.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2009, from $2.8
million during the year ended December 31, 2008. Depreciation expense was $2.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2009 and December 31,
2008. Amortization expense, relating to intangible assets acquired in conjunction with the acquisition of Ascension in 2005, was $0.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2009, compared to $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2008.

Cost per Dollar Collected
The following table summarizes our cost per dollar collected (in thousands, except per centages):

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008
Cost Per Cost Per Cost Per Cost Per
Channel Total Channel Total
Dollar Dollar Dollar Dallar
Collections Cost Collected Collected Collections Cost Collected Collected
Collection sites $185,789 $ 22,9121 12.3% 4.7% $157,077 $ 25,267 16.1% 6.3%
Legal networks 232,667 112,570 48.4% 23.1% 193,201 96,187 49.8% 24.1%
Collection agency outsourcing 62,653 19,278 30.8% 4.0% 34,736 13,118 37.8% 3.3%
Sales and other 6,683 — — — 13,619 — — —
Other indirect costs® — 77,420 — 15.8% — 65,395 — 16.5%
Totd $487,792 $232,180) 47.6% $398,633 $199,967(3) 50.2%

@ Represents only account manager salaries, variable compensation and employee benefits.

@ Other indirect costs represent non collection salaries and employee benefits, general and administrative expenses, other operating expenses, and depreciation and amortization.

(3 Represents al operating expenses excluding stock-based compensation expense and bankruptcy servicing operating expenses. We include this information in order to facilitate a comparison
of approximate cash costs to cash collections for the debt purchasing business in the periods presented. Refer to the items for reconciliation of operating expenses, excluding stock-based
compensation expense and bankruptcy servicing operating expenses to GAAP total operating expenses in the table below.
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During the year ended December 31, 2009, cost per dollar collected decreased by 260 basis points to 47.6% of gross collections from 50.2% of
gross collections during the year ended December 31, 2008. This decrease was primarily due to several factors, including:

* Thecost of legal collectionsincreased in total dollars but decreased as a percent of total collectionsto 23.1% from 24.1% and, asa
percentage of legal collections, decreased to 48.4% from 49.8%. The dollar increase is primarily due to an increase in collections through
this channel. The decrease in the percentageis primarily due to commissions and court cost expense growing at arate slower than total
collections.

« Account manager salaries, variable compensation and employee benefits, as a percentage of total collections, decreased to 4.7% from
6.3% and, as a percentage of our site collections, decreased to 12.3% from 16.1%. The decrease is primarily due to a shift in our collection
workforce from the United Statesto Indiaand a change in our compensation plan structure in the United States.

+  Other costs not directly attributable to specific channel collections, including non-collection salaries and employee benefits, general and
administrative expenses, other operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, decreased as a percentage of total collection to
15.8% from 16.5%. This decreaseis primarily due to the increased leverage of spreading our non direct collection costs over alarger pool
of collections. The dollar increaseis due to several factorsincluding increasesin corporate legal expense related primarily to our settled
Jefferson Capital arbitration and other ongoing litigation, an increase in corporate settlements and other increases to support our growth.

The decrease in cost per dollar collected was offset by an increasein collection agency commissions, as a percentage of total collections, to
4.0% from 3.3%. Theincrease in the percentage of commissionsto total collectionsis due to collection agency collections growing at arate faster
than total collections, offset by a declinein the commission rate due to our agencies collecting more from freshly charged-off accounts during the
year ended December 31, 2009 than they did during the year ended December 31, 2008. Freshly charged-off accounts have alower commission rate
than accounts that have been charged off for alonger period of time. Thisresulted in adeclinein cost per dollar collected in this channel from
37.8%t0 30.8%.

The following table presents the items for reconciliation of operating expenses, excluding stock-based compensation expense and bankruptcy
servicing operating expenses to GAAP total operating expenses (in thousands):

Y ears Ended December 31,

2009 2008
GAAP total operating expenses, as reported $ 249,782 $ 216,900
Stock-based compensation expense (4,384) (3,564)
Bankruptcy servicing operating expenses (13,218) (13,369)

Interest expense

Interest expense decreased $4.4 million, or 21.4%, to $16.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2009, from an adjusted $20.6 million
during the year ended December 31, 2008.

The following table summarizes our interest expense (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008 $ Change % Change
Stated interest on debt obligations $12,080 $14,252 $(2172) (15.2)%
Amortization of loan fees and other loan costs 1,179 1,213 (34) (2.8)%
Amortization of debt discount—convertible notes 2,901 5,107 (2,206) (43.2)%
Total interest expense $16,160 20,572 $ (4,412 (21.49)%
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Stated interest on debt obligations decreased $2.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2009, compared to the prior year, primarily due
to decreases in our variable interest rate on our revolving credit facility and decreased stated interest expense on our convertible notes dueto a
reduced principal balance as aresult of buy backs, offset by increases in amounts borrowed under our revolving credit facility to fund our
purchases of receivable portfolios, to fund our repurchases of a portion of our convertible notes and for general working capital needs.

Gain on repurchase of convertible notes, net

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we repurchased $28.5 million principal amount of our outstanding convertible notes, for atotal
price of $22.3 million, plus accrued interest. The repurchases left $42.9 million principal amount of our convertible notes outstanding as of
December 31, 2009. These repurchases resulted in a pre-tax gain of $3.5 million, which was partialy offset by a $0.2 million write-off of the debt
issuance costs related to the portions of the convertible notes repurchased. The net gain of $3.3 million was recognized in our consolidated
statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Other income and expense

During the year ended December 31, 2009, total other expense was less than $0.1 million, compared to $0.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2008. The other income of $0.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2008 was primarily attributable to a$0.3 million gain
recognized in connection with the early termination of acontract.

Provision for income taxes

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we recorded an income tax provision of $20.7 million, reflecting an effective rate of 38.5% of pretax
income. The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2009 primarily consisted of aprovision for federal income taxes of 32.4% (which is net
of abenefit for state taxes of 2.6%), ablended provision for state taxes of 7.3%, a 1.0% beneficial adjustment to federal taxes payable as aresult of
state tax rate changes and a benefit for the effect of permanent book versus tax differences of 0.2%.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, we recorded an income tax provision of $9.7 million, reflecting an effective rate of 41.2% of pretax
income. The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2008, primarily consisted of a provision for federal income taxes of 32.3% (whichis
net of abenefit for state taxes of 2.7%), ablended provision for state taxes of 7.8%, a 1.2% adjustment to federal taxes payable as aresult of state tax
rate changes and a benefit for the effect of permanent book versus tax differences of 0.1%.

The overall incometax rate for the year ended December 31, 2009, decreased to 38.5% from 41.2% for the year ended December 31, 2008. This
decrease was primarily due to a net state effective tax rate decrease in 2009, the release of atax reserve and atrue-up of certain tax amounts.
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Supplemental Performance Data
Cumulative Collectionsto Purchase Price Multiple

The following table summarizes our purchases and related gross collections by year of purchase (in thousands, except multiples):

Cumulative Collections through December 31, 2010

Year of Purchase CCM
Purchase Price(®) <2004 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Total® N
<2004 $ 2841594  $517,451  $192,940  $144,775  $109379  $ 50,708 $ 26,777 $ 16345 $ 11924  $1,070,299 3.8
2004 101,320 — 39,400 79,845 54,832 34,625 19,116 11,363 8,062 247,243 2.4
2005 192,585 — — 66,491 129,809 109,078 67,346 42,387 27,210 442,321 2.3
2006 141,031 — — — 42,354 92,265 70,743 44,553 26,201 276,116 2.0
2007 204,278 — — — — 68,048 145,272 111,117 70,572 395,009 1.9
2008 227,897 — — — — — 69,049 165,164 127,799 362,012 1.6
2009 253,479 — — — — — — 96,529 206,773 303,302 1.2
2010 358,491 — — — — — — — 125,853 125853 _ 0.4
Total $1,763,240 $517,451  $232,340  $291,111  $336,374  $354,724  $398,303  $487.458  $604,394  $3,222,155 1.8

@ Adjusted for put-backs, account recalls, purchase price rescissions, and the impact of an acquisition in 2000. Put-backs represent accounts that are returned to the seller in accordance with the
respective purchase agreement (“ Put-Backs"). Recalls represents accounts that are recalled by the seller in accordance with the respective purchase agreement (“ Recalls’).

@ cumulative collections from inception through December 31, 2010, excluding collections on behalf of others.

() cumulative Collections Multi ple (* CCM") through December 31, 2010 — collections as a multiple of purchase price.

@ From inception through December 31, 2003.

Total Estimated Collections to Purchase Price Multiple

The following table summarizes our purchases, resulting historical gross collections, and estimated remaining gross collections, by year of
purchase (in thousands, except multiples):

Historical . :

Purchase Collections 5;2%% Total Estimated TOIGJCEISII;T:?;?SSTO$

__Pricel) _ _ @ Calections Gross Callections __PurchasePrice _

<2004 $ 284,1590) $1,070,299 $ 1,028 $ 1,071,327 38
2004 101,320 247,243 1,679 248,922 25
2005 192,585 442,321 26,914 469,235 24
2006 141,031 276,116 54,008 330,124 2.3
2007 204,278 395,009 93,862 488,871 24
2008 227,897 362,012 204,134 566,146 25
2009 253,479 303,302 344,994 648,296 2.6
2010 358,491 125,853 662,193 788,046 2.2
Total $1,763,240 $3,222,155 $1,388,812 $ 4,610,967 2.6

o Adjusted for Put-Backs, Recalls, purchase price rescissions, and the impact of an acquisition in 2000.
@ cumulative collections from inception through December 31, 2010, excluding collections on behalf of others.
From inception through December 31, 2003.
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Estimated Remaining Gross Collections by Year of Purchase
The following table summarizes our estimated remaining gross collections by year of purchase (in thousands):

Estimated Remaining Gross Collections by Year of Purchase

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Total
<2004 $ 1028 § — $8 — 8 — $ — $ — $— $ 1028
2004 1,679 — — — — — — 1,679
2005 19,968 6,929 17 — — — — 26,914
2006 25,415 19,293 9,300 — — — — 54,008
2007 45,021 27,779 15,735 5,327 — — — 93,862
2008 88,831 55,309 34,482 18,901 6,611 — — 204,134
2009 149,054 101,057 49,907 27,099 13,069 4,808 = 344,994
2010 209,299 199,635 115,828 67,621 39,291 21,796 8,723 662,193
Total $540,295  $410,002  $225269  $118,948  $58971  $26,604 $8,723  $1,388,812

@ Esimated remaini ng collections for Zero Basis Portfolios can extend beyond the 84-month accrual basis collection forecast.

Unamortized Balances of Portfolios

The following table summarizes the remaining unamortized balances of our purchased receivabl e portfolios by year of purchase (in
thousands, except percentages):

Unamortized Unamortized

Unamortized Balance as a Balance as a

Balance as of Purchase Per centage of Per centage

December 31, 2010 Price(® Pur chase Price of Total

2004 $ 1,166 $ 101,320 1.2% 0.2%
2005 17,315 192,585 9.0% 2.7%
2006 28,890 141,031 20.5% 4.5%
2007 38,302 204,278 18.7% 5.9%
2008 99,802 227,897 43.8% 15.5%
2009 147,830 253,479 58.3% 22.9%
2010 311,448 358,491 86.9% 48.3%
Total $ 644,753 $1,479,081 43.6% 100.0%

@ Ppurchase price refers to the cash paid to a seller to acquire a portfolio less Put-Backs, plus an allocation of our forward flow asset (if applicable), and less the purchase price for accounts that
were sold at the time of purchase to another debt purchaser.

Changesin the I nvestment in Receivable Portfolios

Revenue related to our investment in receivable portfolios comprises two groups. First, revenue from those portfolios that have aremaining
book value and are accounted for on the accrual basis (“ Accrual Basis Portfolios’), and second, revenue from those portfolios that have fully
recovered their book value Zero Basis Portfolios and, therefore, every dollar of gross collectionsisrecorded entirely as Zero Basis Revenue. If the
amount and timing of future cash collections on a pool of receivables are not reasonably estimable, we account for such portfolios on the cost
recovery method (“ Cost Recovery Portfolios”). No revenueis recognized on Cost Recovery Portfolios until the cost basis has been fully recovered,
at which time they become Zero Basis Portfolios.
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The following tables summarize the changesin the balance of the investment in receivable portfolios and the proportion of revenue
recognized as a percentage of collections (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31, 2010

Accrual Basis Cost Recovery ZeroBasis
Portfolios Portfolios Portfolios Total
Balance, beginning of period $ 526,366 $ 511 $ — $ 526,877
Purchases of receivable portfolios 361,957 — — 361,957
Gross collections® (593,749) (55) (10,590) (604,394)
Put-backs and recalls (3,981) — — (3,981)
Revenue recognized®@ 376,814 — 9,689 386,503
(Portfolio allowances) portfolio allowance reversals, net (22,654) (456) 901 (22,209)
Balance, end of period $ 644,753 $ — $§ — $ 644,753
Revenue as a percentage of collections® 63.5% 0.0% 91.5% 63.9%
Year Ended December 31, 2009
Accrual Basis Cost Recovery Zero Basis
__Portfolios __Portfolios Portfolios __Total
Balance, beginning of period $ 460,598 $ 748 $ — $ 461,346
Purchases of receivable portfolios 256,632 — — 256,632
Gross collections® (478,253) (237) (8,968) (487,458)
Put-backs and recalls (3,371) — (4) (3,375)
Revenue recognized®? 310,116 — 8,926 319,042
(Portfolio allowances) portfolio allowance reversals, net (19,356) — 46 (19,310)
Balance, end of period $ 526,366 $ 511 $ — $ 526,877
Revenue as a percentage of collections® 64.8% 0.0% 99.5% 65.4%
Year Ended December 31, 2008
Accrual Basis Cost Recovery Zero Basis
Portfolios Portfolios Portfolios Total
Balance, beginning of period $ 390,564 $ 1,645 $ — $ 392,209
Purchases of receivable portfolios 230,278 — — 230,278
Gross collections® (388,110) (587) (9,606) (398,303)
Put-backs and recalls (3,330) (310) — (3,640)
Revenue recognized® 272,596 — 9,606 282,202
(Portfolio allowances) portfolio allowance reversals, net (41,400) — — (41,400)
Balance, end of period $ 460,598 $ 748 $ — $ 461,346
Revenue as a percentage of collections® 70.2% 0.0% 100.0% 70.9%

(M Does not include amounts collected on behalf of others.
@ Includes retained interest.
Revenue as a percentage of collections excludes the effects of net portfolio allowance or net portfolio allowance reversals.
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As of December 31, 2010, we had $644.8 million in investment in receivable portfolios. This balance will be amortized based upon current
projections of cash collectionsin excess of revenue applied to the principal balance. The estimated amortization of the investment in receivable
portfolio balance is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Amortization
2011 $ 199,746
2012 205,533
2013 118,604
2014 63,227
2015 32,957
2016 17,279
2017 7,407
Total $ 644,753

Collections by Channel

We utilize numerous business channels for the collection of charged-off credit cards and other receivables. The following table summarizes
the gross collections by collection channel (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Collection sites $268,205 $185,789 $157,077
Legal collections 266,762 232,667 193,201
Collection agencies 68,042 62,653 34,736
Sales — 6,677 12,550
Other 1,600 6 1,069

$604,609 $487,792 $398,633

External Collection Channelsand Related Direct Costs
The following tables summarize our external collection channel performance and related direct costs (in thousands, except percentages):

L egal Collections
Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

Collections $266,762 100.0%  $232,667 100.0%  $193,201 100.0%
Commissions $ 76,171 28.6% $ 66,534 28.6% $ 55,485 28.7%
Court cost expense® 42,511 15.9% 43,592 18.7% 38,492 19.9%
Other@ 2,403 0.9% 2,444 1.1% 2,210 1.2%
Total costs $121,085 454%  $112,570 484% $ 96,187 49.8%

@ In connection with our agreement with contracted attorneys, we advance certain out-of-pocket court costs. We capitalize these costs in our consolidated financial statements and provide a
reserve and corresponding court cost expense for the costs that we believe will be ultimately uncollectible. This amount includes changes in our anticipated recovery rate of court costs
expensed.

@ Other costs consist primarily of costs related to counter claims and legal network subscription fees.
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Collection Agencies
Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Collections $68,042  100.0% $62,653  100.0% $34,736  100.0%
Total costs $20,385 30.0% $19,278 30.8% $13,118 37.8%

Legal Outsourcing Collections and Related Costs

The following tables summarize our legal outsourcing collection channel performance and related direct costs (in thousands, except
percentages):

Gross Collections by Year of Collection(®)

Total
Placement Year 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Collections
2003 $10,750 $27,192 $17212 $ 9566 $ 5561 $ 3050 $ 2014 $ 1603 $ 76948
2004 — $23455  $37674 $21676 $12029 $ 5840 $ 3665 $ 2811 $ 107,150
2005 — — $21694 $40,762 $22152 $10582 $ 6226 $ 4740 $ 106,156
2006 — — — $39,395  $82,740 $43303 $ 22527 $14148 $ 202,113
2007 — — = — $41,958 $80211 $ 44321 $24,067 $ 190,557
2008 — — — — — $47320 $110868 $64,998 $ 223,186
2009 — — — = = — $ 40,856 $92124 $ 132,980
2010 — — — — — — — $60,706 $ 60,706
@ Includes collections for accounts placed in our legal channel beginning January 1, 2003. We continue to collect on accounts placed in this channel prior to that date.
Court Costs by Year of Collection(t)
Total
Placement Year 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Court Costs
2003 $908 $2046 $571 $ 300 $ 147 $ 103 $ 86 $ 65 $ 422
2004 —
$2509 $2937 $1087 $ 406 $ 223 $ 153 $ 147 $ 7462
2005 —
o $3271 $4426 $ 89 $ 3B6 $ 218 $ 224 $ 934
2006 —
— — $10,158 $10,291 $1829 $ 407 $ 617 $ 23302
2007 —
— — — $15357 $11952 $1178 $ 719 $ 29,206
2008 —
— — — — $19,322  $15842 $ 2562 $ 37,726
2009 —
- — — — — $17,009 $11,998 $ 29,007
2010 —

— — — — — — $27121  $ 27121

@ Includes court cost expense for accounts placed in our legal channel beginning January 1, 2003. We continue to incur court cost expense on accounts placed in this channel prior to that date.
Court cost expense in this table is calculated based on our blended court cost expense rate.

Commissions by Year of Collection®

Total
Placement Year 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Commissions
2003 $3574 $8606 $5496 $288 $1574 $ 82 $ 577 $ 465 $ 24,062
2004 — $7,273 $12,060 $6653 $3498 $1690 $1063 $ 827 $ 33064
2005 — = $6725 $12108 $6364 $3036 $1792 $138 $ 31413
2006 — — — $11451  $23659 $12370 $6464 $4120 $ 58064
2007 — — — — $11,845  $22,927 $12,697 $ 7040 $ 54,509
2008 — — — — — $13678  $31,794 $18926 $ 64,398
2009 — — — — = = $11476  $26,110 $ 37,586
2010 — — — — — — — $16881 $ 16,881

@ Includes commissions for accounts placed in our legal channel beginning January 1, 2003. We continue to incur commissions on collections for accounts placed in this channel prior to that
date.
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Placement Year
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010

Placement Year(2)
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010

(1)
(2

Headcount by Function by Site

Court Cost Expense and Commissions as a
% of Gross Collections by Year of Collection

Represents the year the account was placed into litigation.
Represents the year the account was placed into our legal channel.

The following table summarizes our headcount by function by site:

General & Administrative
Account Manager
Bankruptcy Specialist

Gross Collections by Account Manager

Cumulative
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Average
41.7% 39.2% 35.2% 33.4% 31.0% 32.0% 32.9% 33.1% 36.8%
— 41.7% 39.8% 35.7% 32.4% 32.8% 33.2% 34.6% 37.8%
— — 46.1% 40.6% 32.6% 32.1% 32.3% 34.0% 38.4%
— — — 54.9% 41.0% 32.8% 30.5% 33.5% 40.3%
— — — — 64.8% 43.5% 31.3% 32.2% 43.9%
— — — — — 69.7% 43.0% 33.1% 45.8%
— — — — — — 69.7% 41.4% 50.1%
— — — — — — — 72.5% 72.5%
L awsuits Filed by Year(
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 Total
23 29 5 2 — — — — 59
— 59 39 11 2 — — — 111
— — 76 46 3 — — — 125
— — — 205 105 4 — — 314
— — — — 269 106 4 — 379
— — — — — 338 136 3 477
— — — — — — 245 89 334
— — — — — — — 425 425
Headcount as of December 31,
2010 2009 2008
us. India ~ US.  India  US India
378 233 345 170 312 87
217 909 223 665 240 341
_83 7L 64 5% 61 _3
678 1213 6% 891 619 463

The following table summarizes our collection performance by account manager (in thousands, except headcount):

Gross collections—collection sites
Average active account managers

Collections per average active account manager

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

$268205 $185789  $157,078
1,040 678 574

$ 2579 $ 2740 $ 2737
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Gross Collections per Hour Paid

The following table summarizes our gross collections per hour paid to account managers (in thousands, except gross collections per hour
paid):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Gross collections—collection sites $268205 $185789  $157,077
Total hours paid 1,960 1,242 1,078
Collections per hour paid $ 1368 $ 1496 $ 1457

Collection Sites Direct Cost per Dollar Collected

The following table summarizes our gross collectionsin collection sites and the related direct cost (in thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Gross collections—collection sites $268,205 $185,789 $157,077
Direct cost® $ 25,350 $ 22,912 $ 25,267

Cost per dollar collected 9.5% 12.3% 16.1%

@ Represents salaries, variable compensation and employee benefits.

Salaries and Employee Benefits by Function

The following table summarizes our salaries and employee benefits by function (excluding stock-based compensation) (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Portfolio Purchasing and Collecting Activities
Collectionsrelated $25,350 $22,912 $25,267
General & administrative 32,717 27,291 25,615
Subtotal 58,067 50,203 50,882
Bankruptcy Services 7,700 7,822 7,238

$65,767 $58,025 $58,120
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Purchases by Quarter
The following table summarizes portfolio purchases we made by quarter, and the respective purchase prices (in thousands):

Forward
Flow
# of Purchase Allocation
Quarter Accounts Face Value Price (1)
Q1 2008 647 1,199,703 47,902 2,926
Q2 2008 676 1,801,902 52,492 2,635
Q32008 795 1,830,292 66,107 —
Q4 2008 1,084 1,729,568 63,777 —
Q1 2009 505 1,341,660 55,913 —
Q2 2009 719 1,944,158 82,033 —
Q32009 1,515 2,173,562 77,734 10,302
Q4 2009 519 1,017,998 40,952 —
Q12010 839 2,112,332 81,632 —
Q22010 1,002 2,245,713 83,336 —
Q32010 1,101 2,616,678 77,889 —
Q42010 1,206 3,882,646 119,100 —

@ Allocation of the forward flow asset to the cost basis of receivable portfolio purchases. In July 2008, we ceased forward flow purchases from Jefferson Capital due to an alleged breach by
Jefferson Capital and its parent, CompuCredit Corporation, of certain agreements. In September 2009, we settled our dispute with Jefferson Capital.

Liquidity and Capital Resour ces

Overview

Historically, we have met our cash requirements by utilizing our cash flows from operations, bank borrowings and equity offerings. Our
primary cash requirements have included the purchase of receivable portfolios, operational expenses, and the payment of interest and principal on
bank borrowings and tax payments.

The following table summarizes our cash flows by category for the periods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 73451 $ 76,116 $ 63,071
Net cash used in investing activities $(142,807) $(79,171) $(107,252)
Net cash provided by financing activities $ 71,873 $ 1,102 $ 45,846

On February 8, 2010, we entered into a new $327.5 million revolving credit facility. On July 15, 2010, under an accordion feature, we obtained
an additional $33.0 millionin commitmentsincreasing our revolving credit facility to $360.5 million. On September 20 and 21, 2010 we amended our
revolving credit facility to reset the accordion feature to $100 million (not to exceed atotal facility of $460.5 million) and extended the maturity date
to December 31, 2013. On February 11, 2011, we obtained an additional $50.0 million in commitments from lenders and exercised a portion of our
$100.0 million accordion feature, thereby increasing our revolving credit facility to $410.5 million from $360.5 million. See Note 8 “ Debt” to our
consolidated financial statementsfor afurther discussion of our debt.

Currently, all of our portfolio purchases are funded with cash from operations and borrowings under our revolving credit facility.

On September 20, 2010, we issued $50.0 million in senior secured notes to certain affiliates of Prudential Capital Group. The notes bear an
annual interest rate of 7.75% and mature in 2017 with principal amortization beginning December 2012. The proceeds from the notes were used to
reduce aggregate outstanding borrowings under our revolving credit facility, including borrowings incurred to repay the remaining $42.9 million of
3.375% convertible senior notes that matured September 20, 2010.
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On February 10, 2011, we issued an additional $25.0 million in senior secured notesto certain affiliates of Prudential Capital Group through an
amended and restated note purchase agreement. The notes bear an annual interest rate of 7.375% and mature in 2019 with principal amortization
beginning in May 2013.

Operating Cash Flows

Net cash provided by operating activities was $73.5 million, $76.1 million and $63.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and
2008, respectively.

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2010, is primarily related to net income of $49.1 million and $22.2 million
in anon-cash add back related to the net portfolio allowance provision of our receivable portfolios. Cash provided by operating activities for the
year ended December 31, 2009, is primarily related to net income of $33.0 million, $19.3 million in anon-cash add back related to the net portfolio
allowance provision of our receivable portfolios and an $11.2 million increase in income taxes payable. Cash provided by operating activities for the
year ended December 31, 2008, is primarily related to net income of $13.8 million and $41.4 million in anon-cash add back related to the net portfolio
allowance provision of our receivable portfolios.

Investing Cash Flows

Net cash used in investing activities was $142.8 million, $79.2 million and $107.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.

The cash flows used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2010, are primarily related to receivable portfolio purchases of
$362.0 million, offset by gross collection proceeds applied to the principal of our receivable portfoliosin the amount of $217.9 million. The cash
flows used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2009, are primarily related to receivable portfolio purchases of $246.3 million
($256.6 million of gross purchases less our forward flow allocation of $10.3 million), offset by gross collection proceeds applied to the principal of
our receivable portfolios in the amount of $168.4 million. The cash flows used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2008 are
primarily related to receivable portfolio purchases of $224.7 million ($230.3 million of gross purchases |ess our forward flow allocation of $5.6
million), offset by gross collection proceeds applied to the principal of our receivable portfoliosin the amount of $116.1 million.

Capital expendituresfor fixed assets acquired with internal cash flow were $2.7 million, $4.6 million and $2.3 million for years ended
December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Financing Cash Flows

Net cash provided by financing activitieswas $71.9 million, $1.1 million and $45.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and
2008, respectively.

The cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2010, reflects $125.5 million in borrowings under our line of
credit agreement and $50.0 million in proceeds from the issuance of our senior secured notes, offset by $58.5 million in repayments of amounts
outstanding under our line of credit and $42.9 million in repayments of the remaining balance of our convertible notes that matured on
September 20, 2010. The cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2009, reflects $68.5 million in repayments of
amounts outstanding under our line of credit and $22.3 million in repurchase of our outstanding convertible notes, offset by $90.5 millionin
borrowings under our line of credit agreement. The cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2008, reflects $42.2
million in repayments of amounts outstanding under our line of credit and $20.1 million in repurchase of our outstanding convertible notes, offset
by $108.0 million in borrowings under our line of credit agreement.

46



Table of Contents

Future Contractual Cash Obligations
The following table summarizes our future contractual cash obligations as of December 31, 2010 (in thousands):

Payments Due

Less More
Than 1- Than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year 3Years 3-5Years 5Years
Revolving credit facility $327,000 $ — $327,000 $ — $ —
Senior secured notes® 50,000 — 12,500 20,000 17,500
Estimated interest payments 73,709 20,310 48,313 4,069 1,017
Purchase commitments on receivable portfolios® 144,397 144,397 — — —
L ease obligations 35,739 8,998 12,858 6,751 7,132
Employee agreements 157 157 — — —
Total contractual cash obligations $631,002 $173,862 $400,671 $ 30,820 $25,649

@ on February 10, 2011, we issued an additional $25.0 million in senior secured notes to certain affiliates of Prudential Capital Group through an amended and restated note purchase
agreement. The notes bear an annual interest rate of 7.375% and mature in 2019 with principal amortization beginning in May 2013. The contractual obligation balance shown in the table
above does not include these $25.0 million newly issued notes.

@ We calculated estimated interest payments for long-term debt as follows: for the senior secured notes, we calculated interest based on the applicable rates and payment dates. As discussed

above, we issued additional $25.0 senior secured notes on February 10, 2011, the estimated future interest obligation showing in the table above does not include interest payments for these

$25.0 million newly issued notes. For our revolving credit facility, we calculated the interest for the hedged portion using fixed interest rates plus the required spread. For the remaining

balance, which is subject to a variable interest rate, we estimated the debt balance and interest rates based on our determination of the most likely scenario including entering into a

replacement revolving line of credit. We expect to settle such interest payments with cash flows from operating activities.

Certain of these purchase commitments allow us to cancel the commitment with a 60-day notice or a one-time cancellation fee. We do not anticipate canceling any of these commitments at

this time and, as a result, have included the entire anticipated future commitment. We expect to fund forward flow purchases with cash flows from operating activities and/or borrowings from

our revolving credit facility.

(©)

We are in compliance with all covenants under our financing arrangements and, excluding the effects of the one-time payment of $16.9 million
to eliminate all future Contingent Interest payments in the second quarter of 2007 (this payment, |ess amounts accrued on our balance sheet,
resulted in achargein our statement of operations of $6.9 million after the effect of income taxes) and the effects of the adoption of anew
accounting principal related to our convertible notes, we have achieved 36 consecutive quarters of positive net income. We believe that we have
sufficient liquidity to fund our operations for at least the next twelve months, given our expectation of continued positive cash flows from
operations, our cash and cash equivalents of $10.9 million as of December 31, 2010, our access to the capital markets and availability under our
revolving credit facility, which expiresin December 2013.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined by Item 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K.

Critical Accounting Policies

Investment in Receivable Portfolios and Related Revenue. As permitted by the authoritative guidance for loans and debt securities acquired
with deteriorated credit quality, static pools are established on a quarterly basis with accounts purchased during the quarter that have common risk
characteristics. Discrete receivable portfolio purchases during a quarter are aggregated into pools based on these common risk characteristics.
Once a static pool is established, the portfolios are permanently assigned to the pool. The discount (i.e., the difference between the cost of each
static pool and the rel ated aggregate contractual receivable balance) is not recorded because we expect to collect arelatively small percentage of
each static pool’s contractual receivable balance. As aresult, receivable portfolios are recorded at cost at the time of acquisition. The purchase cost
of the portfoliosincludes certain fees paid to third parties incurred in connection with the direct acquisition of the receivable portfolios.
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In compliance with the authoritative guidance, we account for our investmentsin consumer receivable portfolios using either the interest
method or the cost recovery method. The interest method applies an internal rate of return (“IRR"), to the cost basis of the pool, which remains
unchanged throughout the life of the pool, unless there isan increase in subsequent expected cash flows. Subsequent increases in expected cash
flows are generally recognized prospectively through an upward adjustment of the pool’s IRR over itsremaining life. Subsequent decreasesin
expected cash flows do not change the IRR, but are recognized as an allowance to the cost basis of the pool, and are reflected in the consolidated
statements of income as areduction in revenue, with a corresponding val uation allowance, offsetting the investment in receivable portfoliosin the
consolidated statements of financial condition.

We account for each static pool as aunit for the economic life of the pool (similar to one loan) for recognition of revenue from receivable
portfolios, for collections applied to the cost basis of receivable portfolios and for provision for loss or allowance. Revenue from receivable
portfoliosis accrued based on each pool’s IRR applied to each pool’s adjusted cost basis. The cost basis of each pool isincreased by revenue
earned and decreased by gross collections and portfolio allowances.

If the amount and timing of future cash collections on a pool of receivables are not reasonably estimable, we account for such portfolios on
the cost recovery method as cost recovery portfolios. The accountsin these portfolios have different risk characteristics than thoseincluded in
other portfolios acquired during the same quarter, or the necessary information was not availabl e to estimate future cash flows and, accordingly,
they were not aggregated with other portfolios. Under the cost recovery method of accounting, no incomeisrecognized until the purchase price of
acost recovery portfolio has been fully recovered.

Deferred Revenue. We provide bankruptcy administration services primarily to holders of motor vehicle and real estate secured loans, on
which the consumer has filed for Chapter 7 or 13 bankruptcy protection. These services are provided subject to the terms of long-term contracts.
Such contracts generally haveinitial terms of one or two years and automatically renew annually. Fees for the bankruptcy administration services
are charged on a ‘per referred’ account basis and generally consist of an upfront fee at the time of account referral. This upfront feeistypically
coupled with either an ongoing monthly service fee per referred account or service specific fees based on a predetermined fee schedule. The
servicing deliverable for Chapter 7 accountsis focused on the compl etion of the entire bankruptcy process resulting in the most favorable possible
conclusion for the customer. As aresult, revenue is deferred and not recognized until the bankruptcy caseis closed (dismissal/discharge). Dueto
practical limitations and constraints, a historical average life of seven monthsis used rather than actual closure dates. Therefore, the total financial
consideration (less efforts applied to litigation for client contracts without a separate litigation fee schedule) is recognized seven months after a
referred account is activated. Chapter 13 bankruptcy proceedings, also known as reorganization, are generally designed to restructure an
individual’s debts and allow them to propose a repayment plan detailing how they are going to pay back their debts over the plan period. The
responsibility of Ascension isto ensure that the client’s claim isrecognized by the court to the maximum benefit of Ascension’s client, and to
monitor and/or collect the consumer payments throughout the confirmed bankruptcy plan term. The average duration period for Chapter 13
bankruptcy placementsis 35 months. Given the nature and duration of a Chapter 13 proceeding, the monthly servicing deliverable provided relative
to a Chapter 13 referred account is considered “delivered” each month and revenue is recognized ratably, including any upfront fees we received
over time asthe services are provided. Thelitigation deliverableis an asincurred event, with revenue recognized based on the historical percentage
of accounts litigated over the average duration of an account. Any billingsin excess of the ratable revenue will be deferred. The average duration
period for Chapter 7 and 13 bankruptcy placementsis reviewed periodically for changes.

Deferred Court Costs. We contract with a nationwide network of attorneys that specialize in collection matters. We generally refer charged-
off accounts to our contracted attorneys when we believe the related consumer has sufficient assets to repay the indebtedness and has, to date,
been unwilling to pay. In connection with our agreements with our contracted attorneys, we advance certain out-of-pocket court costs, or Deferred
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Court Costs. We capitalize these costs in the consolidated financial statements and provide areserve for those costs that we believe will ultimately
be uncollectible. We determine the reserve based on our analysis of court costs that have been advanced and recovered, or that we anticipate
recovering. Deferred Court Costs not recovered within three years of placement are fully written off. Effective October 1, 2010, we changed our
estimate for Deferred Court Costs. See “Changein Accounting Estimate” below for further discussion of Deferred Court Costs.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. We use derivative instruments to manage risks rel ated to interest rates and foreign currency.
Our interest rate swap contracts and foreign exchange contracts qualify for hedge accounting treatment under the authoritative guidance for
derivatives and hedging.

The authoritative guidance for derivatives and hedging requires that qualifying derivative instruments be recorded on the balance sheet as
either an asset or liability measured at itsfair value. The effective portion of the change in fair value of the derivative isrecorded in other
comprehensiveincome. Theineffective portion of the change in fair value of the derivatives, if any, isrecognized in earningsin the period of
change. See Note 3 “ Derivatives and Hedging Instruments” to our consolidated financial statementsfor further discussion of our derivative
instruments.

Stock-Based Compensation. We record compensation costs related to our stock—based awards which include stock options, restricted stock
awards and restricted stock units. We measure stock—based compensation cost at the grant date based on the fair value of the award.
Compensation cost for service—based awards is recognized ratably over the applicable vesting period. Compensation cost for performance—based
awards is reassessed each period and recognized based upon the probability that the performance targets will be achieved. The amount of stock—
based compensation expense recognized during a period is based on the portion of the awards that are ultimately expected to vest. The total
expense recognized over the vesting period will only be for those awards that ultimately vest.

Income Taxes. We use the liability method of accounting for income taxes. When we prepare the consolidated financial statements, we
estimate our income taxes based on the various jurisdictions where we conduct business. This requires us to estimate our current tax exposure and
to assess temporary differences that result from differing treatments of certain items for tax and accounting purposes. Deferred income taxes are
recognized based on the differences between the financial statement and income tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax ratesin effect
for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. We then assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be realized. Valuation
allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. When we establish avaluation
allowance or increase this allowance in an accounting period, we record a corresponding tax expense in our statement of income. When we reduce
our valuation allowance in an accounting period, we record a corresponding tax benefit in our statement of income. See Note 10 “Income Taxes’ to
our consolidated financial statements for further discussion of income taxes.

Use of Estimates. We have made significant estimates with respect to the rate of return established to recognize accretion revenue on our
receivable portfolios and with respect to the provision for allowances of receivable portfolios. In connection with these estimates, we have made
significant estimates with respect to the timing and amount of collections of future cash flows from receivabl e portfolios owned.

Significant estimates have al so been made with respect to Ascension’s service revenue, the realizability of our net deferred court costs,
intangible assets, net deferred tax assets and tax reserve, stock-based compensation, and the potential liabilities with respect to our health benefits
plans.

Change in Accounting Estimate. Asdescribed in “ Deferred Court Costs” above, we capitalize Deferred Court Costsin our consolidated
financial statements and provide areserve for those costs that we believe will ultimately be uncollectible. At the end of each quarter we evaluate
our recovery rate estimate for Deferred Court
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Cost. Effective October 1, 2010 we revised our estimate of Deferred Court Costs based on additional datathat we have accumul ated over the last
four years. This datainforms us as to which consumerswill ultimately repay their debts and reimburse us for the court costs we incurred. This data
indicated that we would recover a greater percentage of court costs advanced than we had originally expected. This expectationislargely
attributable to our greater precision around which consumers are best suited for litigation and are more likely to settle their accountswith us. As
such, we increased our court cost recovery estimate to better reflect our revised recovery expectations. This change was treated as achangein
estimate in accordance with authoritative guidance related to accounting changes and error corrections. The impact of this changein estimate
resulted in an increasein our Deferred Court Cost asset of $2.8 million as of October 1, 2010, and resulted in a$2.8 million reduction in our court cost
expense, a$1.8 million increasein our net income and a$0.07 increasein our earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2010.

Item 7A—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to economic risk from foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. A portion of these risksis hedged, but they may
impact our financial statements.

Foreign Currency. We have operationsin India, which exposes us to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations due to transactions
denominated in Indian Rupees, such as employee salaries and rent expenditures. We continuously eval uate and manage our foreign currency risk
through the use of derivative financial instruments, including foreign currency forward contracts with financial counterparties where practicable.
Such derivative instruments are viewed as risk management tools and are not used for speculative or trading purposes. As of December 31, 2010,
we had 12 outstanding foreign currency forward contracts that hedge our risk of foreign currency exchange against the Indian Rupee. Each contract
settles monthly with a notional amount of an USD equivalent of $0.7 million and hedges the forecasted monthly cash settlements resulting from the
expenses incurred by our operationsin India. Since asignificant portion of our foreign currency transactionsis hedged through the forward
contracts, a hypothetical change in the foreign exchange rate against the Indian Rupee would not have a material impact on our consolidated
statement of income.

Interest Rate. As of December 31, 2010, we had total variable-interest-bearing borrowings of $327.0 million outstanding under our revolving
credit facility, thus subjecting us to interest rate risk. We manage our interest rate risk through the use of derivative financial instruments, including
interest rate swap contracts with financial counterparties. Such derivative instruments are viewed as risk management tools and are not used for
speculative or trading purposes. We entered into several receive floating-pay fixed interest rate swaps to hedge against potential changesin cash
flows on our outstanding variable-interest-bearing debt. The receive variable leg of the swaps and the variable rate paid on the underlying debt
bear the same rate of interest, excluding the credit spread, and reset and pay interest on the same dates. As of December 31, 2010, we havefive
interest rate swap contracts with financial counterparties with atotal notional amount of $125.0 million. The contracts bear fixed annual interest
rates ranging from 0.765% to 5.01%.

From the inception of the hedging program, the swaps have been determined to be highly effective. A hypothetical change in the interest
rates would not have an impact on our interest expense on the $125.0 million hedged portion of our variable-interest-bearing debt. The remaining
$202.0 million of our revolving credit facility is subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations. If the market interest rates for our variable rate
agreements increase 10%, interest expense on such outstanding debt would increase by approximately $0.8 million, on an annualized basis.
Conversely, if the market interest rates decreased an average of 10%, our interest expense on such outstanding debt would decrease by $0.8 million.
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Item 8—Financial Statementsand Supplementary Data

Our consolidated financial statements, the notes thereto and the Report of BDO USA, LLP, our Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm, areincluded in this Annual Report on Form 10-K on pages F-1 through F-31.

Item 9—Changesin and Disagreementswith Accountantson Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A—Controlsand Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by thisreport, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financia Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(€) and 15d-15(€). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our disclosure controls and
procedures are effective in enabling us to record, process, summarize and report information required to be included in our periodic SEC filings
within the required time period.

Management’s Report on I nternal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, isresponsible for establishing and maintaining
adeguate internal control over financial reporting (as such termis defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for Encore Capital Group,
Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “ Company”). The Company’sinternal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the
Company’'s management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published consolidated financial statementsin
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Because of itsinherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance and may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Further, because of changing conditions, effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting may vary over
time. The Company’s processes contain self-monitoring mechanisms and actions are taken to correct deficiencies asthey are identified.

Management has assessed the effectiveness of Encore’sinternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on the
criteriafor effective internal control described in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission. Based on its assessment, management concluded that the Company’sinternal control over financial reporting was
effective as of December 31, 2010.

BDO USA, LLP, theindependent registered public accounting firm that audited the consolidated financial statementsincluded in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, was engaged to attest to and report on the effectiveness of Encore’sinternal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2010, as stated in its report below.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Encore Capital Group, Inc.
San Diego, California

We have audited Encore Capital Group, Inc.’sinternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on criteria established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria).
Encore Capital Group, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effectiveinternal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility isto express an opinion on the company’sinternal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether effective internal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting,
assessing therisk that a material weakness exists, and testing and eval uating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on
the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides areasonabl e basis for our opinion.

A company’sinternal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonabl e assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposesin accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’sinternal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of recordsthat, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonabl e assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statementsin accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonabl e assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of itsinherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectivenessto future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changesin conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Encore Capital Group, Inc. maintained, in al material respects, effectiveinternal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2010, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated statements of financial condition of Encore Capital Group, Inc. as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related consolidated
statements of income, stockholders' equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the three yearsin the period ended December 31,
2010 and our report dated February 14, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/9 BDOUSA, LLP

San Diego, California
February 14, 2011
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Changesin Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no changein internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)),

during our fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or isreasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B—Other Information

On February 8, 2011, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company approved an amendment to the Company’s Bylaws. Specifically,
effective as of February 8, 2011, Section 5.12 of the Bylaws was amended to remove the prohibition that the Board's Chairman or Vice Chairman not
be an executive officer of the Company unless specifically designated as the chief executive officer of the Company by the Board. The amendment
reflects the Company’s current |eadership structure.

PART 111
Item 10—Directors, Executive Officersand Cor porate Gover nance

The information under the captions “ Election of Directors,” “Executive Officers’ and “ Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting

Compliance,” appearing in the 2011 Proxy Statement to be filed no later than April 30, 2011, is hereby incorporated by reference.
Item 11—Executive Compensation

The information under the caption “ Executive Compensation and Other Information,” appearing in the 2011 Proxy Statement to befiled no

later than April 30, 2011, is hereby incorporated by reference.
Item 12—Security Owner ship of Certain Beneficial Ownersand Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information under the captions “ Security Ownership of Principal Stockholders and Management” and “ Equity Compensation Plan

Information,” appearing in the 2011 Proxy Statement to befiled no later than April 30, 2011, is hereby incorporated by reference.
Item 13—Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director I ndependence

The information under the captions “ Certain Relationships and Related Transactions’ and “Election of Directors—Corporate Governance—

Director Independence,” appearing in the 2011 Proxy Statement to be filed no later than April 30, 2011, is hereby incorporated by reference.
Item 14—Principal Accounting Feesand Services

Theinformation under the caption “Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm,” appearing in the 2011 Proxy Statement to befiled no
later than April 30, 2011, is hereby incorporated by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15—Exhibitsand Financial Statement Schedules
() Financial Statements.

The following consolidated financial statements of Encore Capital Group, Inc. are filed as part of thisannual report on Form 10-K:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-1
Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition at December 31, 2010 and 2009 F-2
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity and Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 F-5
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-6

(b) Exhibits.

Number Description
31 Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s

Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed on June 14, 1999, File No. 333-77483)

32 Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by referenceto
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2002, File No. 000-26489)

3.3 Bylaws, as amended through February 8, 2011 (filed herewith)

41 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 21, 2002, between the Company and the several Purchaserslisted on
Schedule A thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 25,
2002, File No. 000-26489)

42 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2000, between the Company and the several
stockholders listed therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
August 22, 2003, File No. 000-26489)

43 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 19, 2005, by and among Encore Capital Group, Inc. and Morgan Stanley
& Co. Incorporated and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on September 22, 2005)

4.4 First Amendment, dated as of March 13, 2001, to Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of
October 31, 2000, between the Company and the several stockholderslisted therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 22, 2003, File No. 000-26489)

45 Indenture, dated September 19, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 22, 2005)

4.6 Instrument of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance, dated September 21, 2006, by and among Encore Capital Group, Inc.,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., and The Bank of New Y ork (now known as The Bank of New Y ork Mellon Trust Company, N.A.)
as successor trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on July 30,
2009)

47 Form of 3.375% Convertible Senior Notes due 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on September 22, 2005)
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Number

Description

4.8

4.9*

4.10*
10.1

10.2

10.3+

10.4+

10.5+

10.6+

10.7+

10.8+

10.9+

10.10+

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3
filed on December 21, 2009, File No. 333-163876)

Senior Secured Note Purchase Agreement, dated September 20, 2010, by and among the Company, The Prudential Insurance
Company of America, Pruco Life Insurance Company, Prudential Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company and Prudential
Annuities Life Assurance Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A
filed on October 25, 2010)

Form of Note (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on October 25, 2010)

Multi-Tenant Office Lease dated as of April 8, 2004 between LBA Realty Fund-Holding Co. I, LLC and Midland Credit Management,
Inc. (the“Midland Lease”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 4,
2004, File No. 000-26489)

L ease Guaranty dated as of April 8, 2004 by the Company in favor of LBA Realty Fund-Holding Co. I, LLC in connection with the
Midland Lease (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 4, 2004, File No.
000-26489)

1999 Equity Participation Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Appendix | to the Company’s proxy statement filed on
April 1, 2004, File No. 000-26489)

Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
May 4, 2006)

Form of Option Amendment (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 4,
2006)

Executive Non-Qualified Excess Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
on February 11, 2009)

Encore Capital Group, Inc. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 15, 2009)

Amended Form of Stock Option Agreement for awards under the 2005 Stock I ncentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on July 30, 2009)

Amended Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on July 30, 2009)

Form of Split-Dollar Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
May 4, 2006)

Credit Agreement dated as of June 7, 2005 among Encore Capital Group, Inc., the Lenders from time to time parties thereto and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Administrative Agent (the “ Credit Agreement”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 8, 2005)

Amendment No. 1 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 1, 2005)

Amendment No. 2, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 3, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 9, 2006)

Amendment No. 3, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of February 27, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2007)
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Number

Description

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22+

10.23+

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

Consent and Amendment No. 4 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2007)

Amendment No. 5 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 19, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 22, 2007)

Amendment No. 6 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of December 27, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 27, 2007)

Amendment No. 7 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 9, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 7, 2008)

Amendment No. 8 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of July 3, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 7, 2008)

Pledge and Security Agreement dated as of June 7, 2005, with respect to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 8, 2005)

Guaranty dated as of June 7, 2005, with respect to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 8, 2005)

Severance protection letter agreement dated as of March 11, 2009 between the Company and J. Brandon Black (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 13, 2009)

Severance protection |etter agreement dated as of March 11, 2009 between the Company and Paul Grinberg (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 13, 2009)

Asset Purchase and Forward Flow Agreement dated as of June 2, 2005 among Jefferson Capital Systems, LLC, Midland Funding LLC
and Encore Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
June 8, 2005)

Acknowledgement Agreement dated as of June 7, 2005 between CompuCredit Corporation and Midland Funding LLC (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 8, 2005)

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of August 30, 2005 among Ascension Capital Group, Ltd., Ascension Capital Management,
L.L.C,, The Erich M. Ramsey Trust, Erich M. Ramsey, Leonard R. Oszustowicz, Jeffrey J. Walter, Ascension Acquisition, LP, and
Encore Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
September 2, 2005)

Convertible Note Hedge Confirmation, dated as of September 13, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, National Association, an affiliate of J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 22, 2005)

Convertible Note Hedge Confirmation, dated as of September 13, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and Morgan
Stanley International Limited, an affiliate of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 22, 2005)

Convertible Note Hedge Confirmation, dated as of September 30, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, National Association, an affiliate of J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2005)
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Number
10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

Description

Convertible Note Hedge Confirmation, dated as of September 30, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and Morgan
Stanley International Limited, an affiliate of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2005)

Warrant Confirmation, dated as of September 13, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank,
National Association, an affiliate of J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on September 22, 2005)

Warrant Confirmation, dated as of September 13, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and Morgan Stanley
International Limited, an affiliate of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 22, 2005)

Warrant Confirmation, dated as of September 30, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank,
National Association, an affiliate of J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2005)

Warrant Confirmation, dated as of September 30, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and Morgan Stanley
International Limited, an affiliate of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2005)

Lease Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2009, between Midland Credit Management India Private Limited, Dinesh Kumar and
Manmohan Gaind, for real property located in Gurgaon, India (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on April 29, 2009)

Lease Deed, dated as of April 22, 2009, between Midland Credit Management India Private Limited and R.S. Technologies Private
Limited, for real property located in Gurgaon, India (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed on April 29, 2009)

Sublease, dated as of March 31, 2008, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and FMT Services, Inc., for real property located
in St. Cloud, Minnesota (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
August 4, 2008)

Multi-Tenant Net Commercial Lease, dated as of February 20, 2008, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and Pranjiwan R.
Lodhiaand LolitaLodhia, for real property located in Phoenix, Arizona (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 4, 2008)

Sublease, dated as of February 12, 2004, by and between Southwestern Bell Telephone, L.P. and Ascension Capital Group, Inc., as
successor ininterest to Ascension Capital Group, Ltd., for real property located in Arlington, Texas (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.39 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 8, 2010)

Assignment and Consent to Assignment of Sublease, dated as of August 18, 2005, by and between DBSI Housing, Inc.,
Ascension Capital Group, Ltd., Encore Capital Group, Inc., Ascension Acquisition, L.P., now known as Ascension Capital Group,
Inc., and Southwestern Bell Telephone, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K filed on February 8, 2010)

Credit Agreement dated as of February 8, 2010 by and among Encore Capital Group, Inc., the Lenders from time to time parties
thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (the “2010 Credit Agreement”) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 8, 2010)
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10.42

10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

10.47

21
23

24
311
312
321

Description
Pledge and Security Agreement dated as of February 8, 2010 with respect to the 2010 Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 8, 2010)

Guaranty dated as of February 8, 2010 with respect to the 2010 Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 8, 2010)

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement by and between George Lund and Encore Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 17, 2010)

Amendment No. 1 to the Credit Agreement, dated September 20, 2010, by and among the Company, the financial institutions listed
on the signatures pages thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. as collateral agent and administrative agent (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 23, 2010)

Amendment No. 2 to the Credit Agreement, dated September 21, 2010, by and among the Company, the financial institutions listed
on the signatures pages thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. as collateral agent and administrative agent (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 23, 2010)

L ease Deed, dated as of October 26, 2010, between Midland Credit Management India Private Limited and R.S. Technologies
Private Limited, for real property located in Gurgaon, India (filed herewith)

List of Subsidiaries (filed herewith)

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, BDO USA, LLP, dated February 14, 2011 to the incorporation by
reference of their report dated February 14, 2011, in the Company’s Registration Statements on Form S-8 (filed herewith)

Power of Attorney (filed herewith)
Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to rule 13-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (filed herewith)
Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to rule 13-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (filed herewith)

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley act of 2002 (furnished herewith)

* The asterisk denotes that confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted in reliance on Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. The confidential portions have been submitted separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission.
+  Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused thisreport to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ENCORE CAPITAL GROUP, INC.,
aDelaware corporation

By: /sl J. BRANDON BLACK

J. Brandon Black
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 14, 2011

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name and Signature Title Date

/s/ J. BRANDON BLACK President and Chief Executive February 14, 2011
J. Brandon Black Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

/sl PAuL GRINBERG Executive Vice President, February 14, 2011
Paul Grinberg Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financia and
Accounting Officer)

/sl TiMOTHY J. HANFORD* Director February 14, 2011
Timothy J. Hanford
/s/ GEORGE LUND* Executive Chairman and Director February 14, 2011
George Lund
/sl _RICHARD A. MANDELL* Director February 14, 2011
Richard A. Mandell
/sl WILLEM MESDAG* Director February 14, 2011
Willem Mesdag
/sl JoHN J. OROS* Director February 14, 2011
John J. Oros
/sl J. CHRISTOPHER TEETS* Director February 14, 2011

J. Christopher Teets

/sl H RONALD WEISSMAN* Director February 14, 2011

H Ronald Weissman

/s/  WARREN WILCOX* Director February 14, 2011

Warren Wilcox

* /s/ J. BRANDON BLACK

As attorney-in-fact pursuant to powers of attorney dated in February 2011
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Encore Capital Group, Inc.
San Diego, California

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of Encore Capital Group, Inc. as of December 31, 2010 and
2009, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the three
yearsin the period ended December 31, 2010. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our auditsin accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on atest basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosuresin the financial statements, assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, aswell as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide areasonabl e basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Encore
Capital Group, Inc. at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three yearsin the period ended
December 31, 2010, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Encore Capital
Group, Inc.’sinternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and our report dated February 14, 2011
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sy BDOUSA, LLP

San Diego, California
February 14, 2011
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Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, net

Investment in receivable portfolios, net
Deferred court costs

Property and equipment, net

Prepaid income tax

Other assets

Goodwill

Identifiable intangible assets, net

Total assets

Liabilitiesand stockholders equity
Liahilities:

ENCORE CAPITAL GROUP, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition
(In Thousands, Except Par Vaue Amounts)

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Income taxes payable

Deferred tax liabilities, net

Deferred revenue

Debt

Other liabilities

Total lighilities

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:

Convertible preferred stock, $.01 par value, 5,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding
Common stock, $.01 par value, 50,000 shares authorized, 24,011 shares and 23,359 shares issued and

outstanding as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated earnings

Accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss)

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilitiesand stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

F-2

December 31,
2010

$

10,905
3,331
644,753
32,158
13,658
1,629
13,301
15,985
748

736,468

26,539
17,626
3,857
385,264
485

433,771

240
113,412
188,894

151

302,697

736,468

December 31,
2009

$

8,388
3,134
526,877
25,957
9,427
4,252
15,985
1,139

595,159

21,815
2,681
16,980
5,481
303,075
2,036

352,068

234
104,261
139,842

(1,246)
243,001
595,159
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ENCORE CAPITAL GROUP, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Income
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)

Revenue
Revenue from receivabl e portfolios, net
Servicing fees and other related revenue
Total revenue
Operating expenses
Salaries and employee benefits (excluding stock-based compensation expense)
Stock-based compensation expense
Cost of legal collections
Other operating expenses
Collection agency commissions
General and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Income before other (expense) income and income taxes
Other (expense) income
Interest expense
Gain on repurchase of convertible notes, net
Other income (expense)
Total other expense
Income befor e income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income

Weighted aver age shar es outstanding:
Basic
Diluted
Earningsper share:
Basic
Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

F-3

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
$364204  $299732  $240,802
17,014 16,687 15,087
381,308 316,419 255,889
65,767 58,025 58,120
6,010 4,384 3,564
121,085 112,570 96,187
36,387 26,013 23,652
20,385 19,278 13,118
31,444 26,920 19,445
3,199 2,592 2,814
284,277 249,782 216,900
97,031 66,637 38,989
(19,349) (16,160) (20,572)
— 3,268 4771
316 ©) 358
(19,033) (12,894) (15,443)
77,998 53,743 23,546
(28,946) (20,696) (9,700)
$ 49052  $33047  $ 13846
23,897 23,215 23,046
25,001 24,082 23,577
$ 205 $ 142 $ 060
$ 195 $ 137 $ 059
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ENCORE CAPITAL GROUP, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity and Compr ehensive Income

Balance at December 31, 2007

Net income
Other comprehensive loss:

Unrealized loss on cash flow hedge, net of tax
Exercise of stock options and issuance of share-based

awards

Stock-based compensation
Tax benefit from convertible notesinterest expense
Tax provision related to stock-based compensation
Tax benefit from repurchase of convertible notes

Balance at December 31, 2008

Net income
Other comprehensive gain:

Unrealized gain on cash flow hedge, net of tax
Exercise of stock options and issuance of share-based

awards

Stock-based compensation
Tax benefit from convertible notesinterest expense
Tax provision related to stock-based compensation
Tax benefit from repurchase of convertible notes

Balance at December 31, 2009

Net income
Other comprehensive gain:
Unrealized gain on cash flow hedge, net of tax

Exercise of stock options and issuance of share-based
awards, net of shareswithheld for employee taxes

Stock-based compensation

Settlement of call options and warrants associated with
convertible notes, net

Reversal of previously established tax benefit related to
convertible notes

Tax benefit related to stock-based compensation

Tax provision from state tax adjustment

Balance at December 31, 2010

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements

(In Thousands)

Additional Accumulated
Common Stock Other
Paid-In Accumfjlated Comprehensive Total Comprehensive
Shares Par Capital Earnings (Loss) Income Equity Income
22992 $230 $ 95251 $ 92949 $ (995) $187435 $ 10,793
— — — 13,846 — 13846 $ 13,846
— — — — (1,126)  (1,126) (1,126)
61 1 22 — — 23 —
— — 3,564 — — 3,564 —
— — 52 — — 52 —
— — (461) — — (461) —
— — 93 — — 93 —
23,053 231 98,521 106,795 (2,121) 203426 $ 12,720
— — — 33,047 — 33047 $ 33,047
— — — — 875 875 875
306 3 769 — — 772 —
— — 4,384 — — 4,384 —
— — 9% — — 95 —
- = 468 = = 468 -
— — 24 — — 24 —
23359 $234 $104261 $ 139842 $ (1,246) $243,091 $ 33,922
— — — 49,052 — 49052 $ 49,052
— — — — 1,397 1,397 1,397
652 6 (41) — — (35) —
— — 6,010 — — 6,010 —
= — 524 — — 524 —
— — (115) — — (115) —
— — 2,924 — — 2,924 —
— — (151) — — (151) —
24011 $240 $113412 $ 183894 $ 151 $302697 $ 50,449

F-4
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ENCORE CAPITAL GROUP, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Operating activities:
Net Income

(In Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2010

$ 49,052

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of loan costs and debt discount

Stock-based compensation expense

Gain on repurchase of convertible notes, net

Deferred income tax expense

Excess tax benefit from stock-based payment arrangements

Provision for allowances on receivabl e portfolios, net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Other assets

Deferred court costs

Prepaid income tax and income taxes payable

Deferred revenue

Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other ligbilities

Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities:

Purchases of receivable portfolios, net of forward flow allocation
Collections applied to investment in receivable portfolios, net

Proceeds from put-backs of receivable portfolios
Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities:

Payment of loan costs

Proceeds from senior secured notes

Proceeds from revolving credit facility

Repayment of revolving credit facility

Repayment of convertible notes

Repurchase of convertible notes

Proceeds from net settlement of certain call options

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Excess tax benefit from stock-based payment arrangements

Proceeds from capital lease

Repayment of capital lease obligations

Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:

Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:

Fixed assets acquired through capital lease

Allocation of forward flow asset to acquired receivable portfolios

3,199
3,682
6,010

646
(3,249)
22,200

(1,390)
(6,201)
(1,782)
(1,624)

2,899
73,451

(361,957)
217,801
3,981
(2,722)
(142,807)

(6,248)
50,000
125,500
(58,500)
(42,920)
524
2,118
3,249

(1,850)
71,873
2,517
8,388

$ 10905

$ 15,652
$ 30,125

$ 4317
[ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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2009

2008

$ 33047 $ 13,846
2,592 2,814
4,080 6,320
4,384 3,564
(3,268) (4,771)
1,872 1,642
(729) —
19,310 41,400
(1,668) 4,135
2,379 (7,803)
11,204 2,095

278 1,305
2,635 (1,476)
76,116 63,071

(246,330) (224,717)

168,416 116,101
3,375 3,640
(4,632) (2,276)
(79,171) (107,252)
90,500 108,000
(68,500) (42,169)
(22,262) (20,101)
1,175 23

729 —

— 400
(540) (307)
1,102 45,846
(1,953) 1,665
10,341 8,676

$ 8388 $ 10341

$ 12521 $ 14,427

$ 8243 $ 5301

$ 516 $ 1602

$ 10,302 $ 5561
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ENCORE CAPITAL GROUP, INC.
Notesto Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1: Owner ship, Description of Business, and Significant Accounting Policies

Encore Capital Group, Inc. (“Encore”), through its subsidiaries (collectively, the “ Company”), is aleader in consumer debt buying and
recovery. The Company purchases portfolios of defaulted consumer receivables and manages them by partnering with individual s as they repay
their obligations and work toward financial recovery. Defaulted receivables are consumers’ unpaid financial commitments to credit originators,
including banks, credit unions, consumer finance companies, commercial retailers, auto finance companies and tel ecommunication companies,
which the Company purchases at deep discounts. Defaulted receivables also include receivables subject to bankruptcy proceedings or consumer
bankruptcy receivables.

The Company purchases receivabl es based on robust, account-level valuation methods and employs a suite of proprietary statistical and
behavioral models across the full extent of its operations. These investments allow the Company to value portfolios accurately (and limit the risk of
overpaying), avoid buying portfolios that are incompatible with its methods or goals and precisely align the accountsit purchases with its
operational channels to maximize future collections. As aresult, the Company has been able to realize significant returns from the receivablesit
acquires. The Company maintains strong relationships with many of the largest credit providersin the United States, and possesses one of the
industry’s best collection staff retention rates.

The Company expands upon the insights created during its purchasing process when building account collection strategies. The Company’s
proprietary consumer-level collectability analysisisthe primary determinant of whether an account is actively serviced post-purchase. Throughout
the Company’s ownership period, it continuously refines this analysisto determine the most effective collection strategy to pursue for each
account. After its preliminary analysis, it seeksto collect on only afraction of the accountsit purchases, through one or more of its collection
channels. The channel identification process is analogous to afunneling system where the Company first differentiates those consumerswho are
not able to pay, from those who are. Consumers who the Company believes are financially incapable of making any payments, or are facing
extenuating circumstances or hardships such as; medical issues, are serving in the military, or are currently receiving social security astheir only
means of financial sustenance are excluded from the next step of its collection process and are designated as inactive. The remaining pool of
accounts in the funnel then receives further evaluation. At that point, the Company analyzes and determines a consumer’s willingness to pay.
Based on that analysisit will pursue collections through letters and / or phone calls to its consumers. Despite its efforts to reach consumers and
work out a settlement option, only a small number of consumers who are contacted choose to engage with the Company. Those who do, are
oftentimes offered deep discounts on their obligations, or are presented with payment plans which are better suited to meet their daily cash flow
needs. The majority of contacted consumers, however, ignore both the Company’s calls and | etters and therefore it must then make the difficult
decision to pursue collections through legal means.

In addition, the Company provides bankruptcy support services to some of the largest companiesin the financial servicesindustry through
itswholly owned subsidiary Ascension Capital Group, Inc. (“Ascension”). Leveraging a proprietary software platform dedicated to bankruptcy
servicing, Ascension’s operational platform integrates lenders, trustees, and consumers across the bankruptcy lifecycle.

Basis of Consolidation

Encoreis a Delaware holding company whose principal assets are itsinvestmentsin various wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
thefinancial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could materially differ from
those estimates.

Management has made significant estimates with respect to the rate of return established to recognize accretion revenue on its receivable
portfolios and with respect to the provision for valuation allowances on its receivable portfolios. In connection with these estimates, management
has made significant estimates with respect to the timing and amount of collections of future cash flows from receivabl e portfolios owned. Every
quarter, since the fourth quarter of 2003, the Company has updated its collection forecasts of the remaining cash flows of its receivable portfolios
utilizing itsinternally developed Unified Collection Score (“UCS") and Behaviora Liquidation Score (“BLS") forecasting models.

The Company utilizesits UCS and BL S models to project the remaining cash flows from its receivable portfolios, considering known data
about its consumers' accounts. This dataincludes, among other things, the Company’s collection experience and changes in external consumer
factors, in addition to all data known when it acquired the accounts. The Company routinely evaluates and implements enhancementsto its UCS
and BLS models.

Significant estimates have also been made with respect to the realizability of the Company’s net deferred court costs (see Note 5 “ Deferred
Court Costs”), intangible assets (see “ Identifiable Intangible Assets and Goodwill” below), net deferred tax assets and tax reserves (see Note 10
“Income Taxes"), stock-based compensation (see Note 9 “ Stock-based Compensation”) and the Company’ s potential liabilities with respect to its
health benefit plans (see Note 12 “Commitments and Contingencies’). Actual results could materially differ from these estimates, making it possible
that amaterial change in these estimates could occur within one year.

Changein Accounting Principle

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company retrospectively applied the provisions of a new accounting standard related to debt with conversion
and other optionsto account for its outstanding convertible senior notes. Under the historical accounting principle, convertible debt instruments
were carried at face value and interest expense was recognized based on the stated interest rate of the convertible debt instruments. The new
standard requires that issuers of convertible debt instruments that, upon conversion, may be settled fully or partially in cash, must separately
account for the liability and equity componentsin amanner that will reflect the entity’ s nonconvertible debt borrowing rate when interest cost is
recognized in subsequent periods. Additionally, debt issuance costs are required to be allocated in proportion to the allocation of the liability and
equity components and accounted for as debt issuance costs and equity issuance costs, respectively.

Segment Reporting

The authoritative guidance for segment reporting establishes standards in reporting information about a public business enterprise’s
operating segments. Operating segments are components of an enterprise about which separate financial information isavailable, that is evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. For the year ended
December 31, 2010, the Company has determined it operatesin two segments. However, based on the requirements of the authoritative guidance,
the smaller operating segment does not meet the minimum requirement of 10% of combined revenues, reported profit or loss, or combined assets
and accordingly, no segment disclosures have been made for year ended December 31, 2010.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase. The Company
investsits excess cash in bank deposits and money market instruments, which are afforded the highest ratings by nationally recognized rating
firms. The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated statements of financial condition for cash and cash equival ents approximatesits fair value.

I nvestment in Receivables Portfolios

In accordance with the authoritative guidance for loans and debt securities acquired with deteriorated credit quality, discrete receivable
portfolio purchases during a quarter are aggregated into pools based on common risk characteristics. Once a static pool is established, the
portfolios are permanently assigned to the pool. The discount (i.e., the difference between the cost of each static pool and the related aggregate
contractual receivable balance) is not recorded because the Company expectsto collect arelatively small percentage of each static pool’s
contractual receivable balance. Asaresult, receivable portfolios are recorded at cost at the time of acquisition. The purchase cost of the portfolios
includes certain fees paid to third partiesincurred in connection with the direct acquisition of the receivable portfolios.

In compliance with the authoritative guidance, the Company accounts for its investmentsin consumer receivable portfolios using either the
interest method or the cost recovery method. The interest method applies aninternal rate of return (“IRR”), to the cost basis of the pool, which
remains unchanged throughout the life of the pool, unless thereis an increase in subsequent expected cash flows. Subsequent increasesin
expected cash flows are generally recognized prospectively through an upward adjustment of the pool’sIRR over itsremaining life. Subsequent
decreases in expected cash flows do not change the IRR, but are recognized as an allowance to the cost basis of the pool, and are reflected in the
consolidated statements of income as areduction in revenue, with a corresponding valuation allowance, offsetting the investment in receivable
portfoliosin the consolidated statements of financial condition.

The Company accounts for each static pool as aunit for the economic life of the pool (similar to one loan) for recognition of revenue from
receivable portfolios, for collections applied to the cost basis of receivable portfolios and for provision for loss or allowance. Revenue from
receivable portfoliosis accrued based on each pool’s IRR applied to each pool’s adjusted cost basis. The cost basis of each pool isincreased by
revenue earned and decreased by gross collections and portfolio allowances.

If the amount and timing of future cash collections on apool of receivables are not reasonably estimable, the Company accounts for such
portfolios on the cost recovery method (“ Cost Recovery Portfolios’). The accounts in these portfolios have different risk characteristics than those
included in other portfolios acquired during the same quarter, or the necessary information was not available to estimate future cash flows and,
accordingly, they were not aggregated with other portfolios. See Note 4 “ Investment in Receivable Portfolios, Net” for further discussion of
investment in receivable portfolios.

Deferred Revenue

Ascension’s services include, among others, negotiating bankruptcy plans, monitoring and managing the consumer’s compliance with
bankruptcy plans, and recommending courses of action to clients when there is a deviation from a bankruptcy plan. The Company accounts for
post-acquisition revenue related to the bankruptcy account services provided by Ascension in accordance with the authoritative guidance for
revenue recognition. Revenue for a given account is allocated between the servicing and litigation deliverables based on their relative fair values
and recognized according to whether the referred account is the subject of a Chapter 7 or a Chapter 13 bankruptcy proceeding.

The servicing deliverable for Chapter 7 accountsis focused on the compl etion of the bankruptcy process as awhole, to the most favorable
possible conclusion for the customer. As aresult, revenue is deferred and not recognized until the bankruptcy caseis closed (dismissal/discharge).
Thelitigation deliverableisrecorded as an
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“asincurred” event, with revenue recognized based on the historical percentage of accounts litigated over the average duration of an account. The
average duration period used for Chapter 7 accounts is seven months. This estimate is periodically reviewed for changes.

Chapter 13 bankruptcy proceedings, also known as reorganizations, are generally designed to restructure an individual’s debts and allow the
consumer to propose a repayment plan detailing how their debts will be repaid over the plan period. The responsibility of Ascensionisto ensure
that its customer’s claim is recognized by the court to the maximum benefit of the customer and to monitor and/or collect the consumer payments
throughout the confirmed bankruptcy plan term. The average duration period used for Chapter 13 accountsis 35 months. Given the nature and
duration of a Chapter 13 proceeding, the monthly servicing deliverable provided is considered “ delivered” each month and revenue is recognized
ratably, including any upfront fees received by the Company, over the time the services are provided. The litigation deliverableis recorded as an
“asincurred” event with revenue recognized based on the historical percentage of accounts litigated over the average duration of an account. The
average duration period for Chapter 13 accountsis periodically reviewed for changes.

Ascension bankruptcy services are provided under contract with its customers. The contracts for these services haveinitial terms of one or
two years and either renew automatically or have optionsto renew annually. There are two types of fee arrangements for bankruptcy administration
services. Oneis based on commissions; the other one consists of an upfront fee at the time of account referral, combined with either an ongoing
monthly service fee or service specific fees based on a predetermined fee schedule. Some contracts utilize a combination of these two types.

Identifiable I ntangible Assets and Goodwill

The Company’s identifiable intangible assets are recorded at cost and are amortized using an accel erated method, based on discounted cash
flows over their estimated useful lives, which range from four to nine years. Acquired identifiable intangible assets are presented net of
accumulated amortization of $5.3 million and $4.9 million as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The estimated annual aggregate
amortization of intangibles assetsis $0.3 million, $0.2 million, $0.1 million and $0.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2012, 2013 and
2014, respectively. The Company’sidentifiable intangibles assets are summarized as follows (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2010 2009
Customer relationships $ 5500 $ 5500
Other 500 500
Gross carrying amount 6,000 6,000
Less: accumulated amortization (5,252) (4,861)
Total identifiable intangible assets $ 748 $ 1,139

Goodwill, is not amortized, but rather reviewed along with the identifiable intangibl e assets for impairment. The Company tests its goodwill for
impairment at least annually at the reporting unit level. During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company performed impairment testing on all

reporting units that have goodwill and no impairment was identified. As of December 31, 2010, the Company’s goodwill was approximately $16.0
million.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost, less accumul ated depreciation and amortization. The provision for depreciation and amortization
is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Fixed Asset Category Estimated Useful Life
L easehold improvements L esser of lease term, including periods covered
by renewal options, or useful life
Furniture and fixtures 5to 7 years
Computer hardware and software 3to5years

Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense in the year incurred. Expenditures for major renewal s that extend the useful lives of fixed
assets are capitalized and depreciated over the useful lives of such assets.

Deferred Court Costs

The Company contracts with a nationwide network of attorneysthat specializein collection matters. The Company generally refers charged-
off accountsto its contracted attorneys when it believes the related consumer has sufficient assets to repay the indebtedness and has, to date,
been unwilling to pay. In connection with the Company’s agreement with the contracted attorneys, it advances certain out-of-pocket court costs
(“Deferred Court Costs”). The Company capitalizes these costsin its consolidated financial statements and provides areserve for those costs that
it believes will ultimately be uncollectible. The Company determines the reserve based on its analysis of court costs that have been advanced and
those that have been recovered. Deferred Court Costs not recovered within three years of placement are fully written off. Collections received from
these consumers are first applied against related court costs with the balance applied to the consumers’ accounts. Effective October 1, 2010, the
Company changed its estimate for Deferred Court Costs. See Note 5 “Deferred Court Costs” for further discussion of the Company’s Deferred
Court Costs and the change in accounting estimate.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes in accordance with the authoritative guidance for Income Taxes. When
the Company prepares its consolidated financial statements, it estimates income taxes based on the various jurisdictions where it conducts
business. This requires the Company to estimate current tax exposure and to assess temporary differences that result from differing treatments of
certainitemsfor tax and accounting purposes. Deferred income taxes are recognized based on the differences between the financial statement and
income tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The Company
then assesses the likelihood that deferred tax assets will be realized. Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax
assets to the amount expected to be realized. When the Company establishes a valuation allowance or increases this allowance in an accounting
period, it records a corresponding tax expense in the consolidated statement of operations. See Note 10 “Income Taxes’ for further discussion of
income taxes.

Management must make significant judgments to determine the provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities and any
valuation allowance to be recorded against the net deferred tax asset.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures stock-based compensation cost at the grant date, based on the estimated fair value of the award, and isrecognized as
expense over the employee’ s requisite service period. See Note 9 “ Stock-Based Compensation” for further discussion of the Company’s stock-
based compensation.
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Derivative | nstruments and Hedging Activities

The Company recognizes all derivative financia instrumentsin its consolidated financial statements at fair value. Changesin the fair value of
derivative instruments are recorded in earnings unless hedge accounting criteria are met. The Company’sinterest rate swap and foreign currency
contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2010 are designated as cash flow hedges. The effective portion of the changesin fair val ue of these cash
flow hedgesisrecorded each period, net of tax, in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) until the related hedged transaction occurs. Any
ineffective portion of the changesin fair value of these cash flow hedgesis recorded in earnings. In the event the hedged cash flow does not occur,
or it becomes probable that it will not occur, the Company would reclassify the amount of any gain or loss on the related cash flow hedge to income
(expense) at that time.

Concentrations of Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents.
The Company placesits cash with high quality financial institutions. Cash balances are generally substantially in excess of the amounts insured by
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per shareis calculated by dividing net earnings available to common stockhol ders by the weighted average number of shares
of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per shareis calculated on the basis of the weighted average number of shares of
common stock plus the effect of dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period using the treasury stock method. Dilutive potential
common shares include outstanding stock options and restricted stock units. The components of basic and diluted earnings per share are as
follows (in thousands, except earnings per share):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008

Net income available for common sharehol ders (A) $49,052 $33,047 $13,846
Weighted average outstanding shares of common stock (B) 23,897 23,215 23,046
Dilutive effect of stock-based awards 1,194 867 531
Common stock and common stock equivalents (C) 25,091 24,082 23,577
Earnings per share:

Basic (A/B) $ 205 $ 142 $ 060
Diluted (A/C) $ 1.9 $ 137 $ 059

Employee stock options to purchase approximately 229,000, 1,177,000, and 1,254,000 shares of common stock as of December 31, 2010, 2009
and 2008, respectively, were outstanding but not included in the computation of diluted earnings per common share because the effect on diluted
earnings per share would be anti-dilutive.

Note 2: Fair Value M easurements

The Company accounts for certain assets and liabilities at fair value. The authoritative guidance for fair value measurements defines fair value
asthe price that would be received upon sale of an asset or the price paid to transfer aliability, in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date (i.e. the “exit price”). The guidance utilizes afair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used in valuation
techniques to measure fair valueinto three broad levels. The following is abrief description of each level:

* Level 1: Observableinputs such as quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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» Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These include quoted
pricesfor similar assets or liabilitiesin active markets and quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not
active.

+ Level 3: Unobservable inputs that reflect the reporting entity’s own assumptions.

The Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on arecurring basis at December 31, 2010 are summarized below (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assets
Interest rate swap agreements $— $ 542 $— $ 542
Foreign exchange contracts $— $ 209 $— $ 209
Liabilities
Interest rate swap agreements $— $ (485) $— $(485)

Fair values of derivative instrumentsincluded in Level 2 are estimated using industry standard valuation models. These models project future
cash flows and discount the future amounts to a present value using market-based observable inputsincluding interest rate curves, foreign
exchange rates, and forward and spot prices for currencies. As of December 31, 2010, the Company did not have any financial instruments carried at
fair value that required Level 3 measurement.

Financial instruments not required to be carried at fair value

Borrowings under the Company’ s revolving credit facility are carried at historical cost, adjusted for additional borrowings less principal
repayments, which approximates fair value. For investment in receivable portfolios, there is no active market or observable inputs for the fair value
estimation. The Company considersit not practical to attempt to estimate the fair value of such financial instruments due to the excessive costs that
would be incurred in doing so.

Note 3: Derivativesand Hedging I nstruments

The Company uses derivative instruments to manage risks related to interest rates and foreign currency. The Company’s outstanding interest
rate swap contracts and foreign exchange contracts qualify for hedge accounting treatment under the authoritative guidance for derivatives and
hedging.

Interest Rate Swaps

The Company may periodically enter into derivative financia instruments, typically interest rate swap agreements, to reduce its exposure to
fluctuationsin interest rates on variable interest rate debt and their impact on earnings and cash flows. As of December 31, 2010, the Company has
five interest rate swap agreements outstanding with atotal notional amount of $125.0 million. Under the swap agreements, the Company receives
floating interest rate payments based on one-month reserve-adjusted LIBOR and makes interest payments based on fixed interest rates. The
Company intends to continue electing the one-month reserve-adjusted L IBOR as the benchmark interest rate on the debt being hedged through its
term. No credit spread was hedged. The Company designates itsinterest rate swap instruments as cash flow hedges.

The authoritative guidance requires companies to recognize derivative instruments as either an asset or liability measured at fair valuein the
statement of financial position. The effective portion of the changein fair value of the derivative instrument is recorded in other comprehensive
income. The ineffective portion of the changein fair value of the derivative instrument, if any, is recognized in interest expensein the period of
change. From the inception of the hedging program, the Company has determined that the hedging instruments are highly effective.
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Foreign Exchange Contracts

The Company has operationsin India, which exposes the Company to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations due to transactions
denominated in Indian Rupees, such as employee salaries and rent expenditures. To mitigate thisrisk, the Company entersinto derivative financial
instruments, principally forward contracts, which are designated as cash flow hedges to mitigate fluctuations in the cash payments of future
forecasted transactionsin Indian rupees for up to 24 months. The Company adjusts the level and use of derivatives as soon as practicable after
learning that an exposure has changed and the Company reviews all exposures and derivative positions on an ongoing basis.

Gains and losses on cash flow hedges are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) until the hedged transaction is
recorded in the consolidated financial statements. Once the underlying transaction is recorded in the consolidated financial statements, the
Company reclassifies the accumulated other comprehensive income or loss on the derivative into earnings. If al or aportion of the forecasted
transaction was cancelled, thiswould render al or a portion of the cash flow hedge ineffective and the Company would reclassify the ineffective
portion of the hedge into earnings. The Company generally does not experience ineffectiveness of the hedge relationship and the accompanying
consolidated financial statements do not include any such gains or losses.

As of December 31, 2010, the total notional amount of the forward contracts to buy Indian rupeesin exchange for U.S. dollars was $8.4 million.
All outstanding contracts qualified for hedge accounting treatment as of December 31, 2010. The Company estimates that approximately $0.2 million
of net derivative gain included in OCI will be reclassified into earnings within the next 12 months. No gains or losses were reclassified from OCI into
earnings as aresult of forecasted transactions that failed to occur during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.

The Company does not enter into derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

The following table summarizes the fair value of derivative instruments as recorded in the Company’s consolidated statements of financial
position (in thousands):

December 31, 2010 December 31, 2009
Balance Sheet Balance Sheet
L ocation Fair Value L ocation Fair Value
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate swaps Other assets $ 542 — $ —
Interest rate swaps Other liabilities $ (485 Other ligbilities $ (1,791)
Foreign exchange contracts Other assets $ 209 Other ligbilities $ (245

The following table summarizes the effects of derivativesin cash flow hedging rel ationships on the Company’ s statements of income for the
years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 (in thousands):

Location of Amount of
Gain or (Loss) Gain or (Loss)
Recognized - Recognized -
Location of Gain Gain or (Loss) Ineffective Ineffective
or (Loss) Reclassified Portion and Portion and
Reclassified from from OCI into Amount Amount
Gain or (Loss) OCl into Income - Excluded from Excluded from
Recognized in OCI- Income - Effective Effective Effectiveness Effectiveness
Effective Portion Portion Portion Testing Testing
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
Interest rate swaps $1848 $1692 Interestexpense $— $— Other (expense) $— $—
income
Foreign exchange contracts Salaries and
$ 448 $ — employee $ 8 $(30) Other (expense) $— $—
benefits income
Foreign exchange contracts General and
$ 111 $ —  administrative $ 19 $ (10) Other (expense) $— $—
expenses income
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Note 4: Investment in Receivable Portfolios, Net

In accordance with the authoritative guidance for loans and debt securities acquired with deteriorated credit quality, discrete receivable
portfolio purchases during a quarter are aggregated into pools based on common risk characteristics. Once a static pool is established, the
portfolios are permanently assigned to the pool. The discount (i.e., the difference between the cost of each static pool and the related aggregate
contractual receivable balance) is not recorded because the Company expectsto collect arelatively small percentage of each static pool’s
contractual receivable balance. Asaresult, receivable portfolios are recorded at cost at the time of acquisition. The purchase cost of the portfolios
includes certain fees paid to third partiesincurred in connection with the direct acquisition of the receivable portfolios.

In compliance with the authoritative guidance, the Company accounts for itsinvestments in consumer receivabl e portfolios using either the
interest method or the cost recovery method. The interest method applies an internal rate of return (“IRR”), to the cost basis of the pool, which
remains unchanged throughout the life of the pool, unlessthereis an increase in subseguent expected cash flows. Subsequent increasesin
expected cash flows are generally recognized prospectively through an upward adjustment of the pool’s IRR over itsremaining life. Subsequent
decreases in expected cash flows do not change the IRR, but are recognized as an allowance to the cost basis of the pool, and are reflected in the
consolidated statements of income as areduction in revenue, with a corresponding val uation allowance, offsetting the investment in receivable
portfoliosin the consolidated statements of financial condition.

The Company accounts for each static pool as aunit for the economic life of the pool (similar to one loan) for recognition of revenue from
receivable portfolios, for collections applied to the cost basis of receivable portfolios and for provision for loss or allowance. Revenue from
receivable portfoliosis accrued based on each pool’s IRR applied to each pool’s adjusted cost basis. The cost basis of each pool isincreased by
revenue earned and decreased by gross collections and portfolio allowances.

If the amount and timing of future cash collections on apool of receivables are not reasonably estimable, the Company accounts for such
portfolios on the cost recovery method as Cost Recovery Portfolios. The accountsin these portfolios have different risk characteristics than those
included in other portfolios acquired during the same quarter, or the necessary information was not available to estimate future cash flows and,
accordingly, they were not aggregated with other portfolios. Under the cost recovery method of accounting, no incomeis recognized until the
purchase price of a Cost Recovery Portfolio has been fully recovered.

Accretable yield represents the amount of revenue the Company expects to generate over the remaining life of its existing investment in
receivable portfolios based on estimated future cash flows. Total accretable yield isthe difference between future estimated collections and the
current carrying value of aportfolio. All estimated cash flows on portfolios where the cost basis has been fully recovered are classified as zero
basis cash flows.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s accretable yield and an estimate of zero basis future cash flows at the beginning and end of

the current period (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2008

Revenue recognized, net

(Reductions) additions on existing portfolios
Additionsfor current purchases

Balance at December 31, 2009

Revenue recognized, net

Additions on existing portfolios
Additionsfor current purchases

Balance at December 31, 2010

Estimate of
Accretable Zero Basis
Yield Cash Flows Total

$ 592,824 $ 8337 $ 601,161
(290,760) (8972) (299,732)
(20,976) 5,330 (15,646)
347,351 — 347,351
$ 628,439 $ 4695 $ 633,134
(353,706) (10,590) (364,296)
64,448 10,169 74,617
400,604 — 400,604
$ 739,785 $ 4274 $ 744,059

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company purchased receivable portfolios with aface value of $10.9 billion for $362.0 million, or
apurchase cost of 3.3% of face value. The estimated future collections at acquisition for these portfolios amounted to $750.4 million. During the
year ended December 31, 2009, the Company purchased receivable portfolios with aface value of $6.5 billion for $256.6 million, or a purchase cost of

4.0% of face value. The estimated future collections at acquisition for these portfolios amounted to $615.8 million.

All collectionsrealized after the net book value of a portfolio has been fully recovered (“ Zero Basis Portfolios”) are recorded as revenue
(“Zero Basis Revenue”). During the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, approximately $10.3 million and $8.6 million, exclusive of $0.3 million
and $0.3 million Zero Basis Revenue on the retained interest, respectively, were recognized as revenue on portfolios for which the related cost basis

has been fully recovered.

The following tables summarize the changes in the balance of the investment in receivable portfolios during the following periods (in

thousands, except percentages):

Balance, beginning of period
Purchases of receivable portfolios
Gross collections®
Put-backs and recalls@
Revenue recognized®
(Portfolio allowances) portfolio allowance reversals, net

Balance, end of period
Revenue as a percentage of collections®

Year Ended December 31, 2010

Accrual Basis
Portfolios

$ 526,366
361,957
(593,749)
(3,981)
376,814
(22,654)

$ 644,753

63.5%
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Cost Recovery

Portfolios
$ 511
(55)
(456)
$ -
0.0%

Zero Basis
Portfolios
$ -

(10,590)

Total

$ 526,877

361,957
(604,394)
(3,981)

386,503
(22,209)

$ 644,753

63.9%
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Balance, beginning of period

Purchases of receivable portfolios

Gross collections®

Put-backs and recalls@

Revenue recognized®

(Portfolio allowances) portfolio allowance reversals, net

Balance, end of period
Revenue as a percentage of collections®

Balance, beginning of period

Purchases of receivable portfolios

Gross collections®

Put-backs and recalls?

Revenue recognized®

(Portfolio allowances) portfolio allowance reversals, net

Balance, end of period
Revenue as a percentage of collections®

(€
(2

(3
4

Does not include amounts collected on behalf of others.

Year Ended December 31, 2009

Accrual Basis Cost Recovery Zero Basis
Portfolios Portfolios Portfolios Total
$ 460,598 $ 748 $ — $ 461,346
256,632 — — 256,632
(478,253) (237) (8,968) (487,458)
(3371) — ) (3,375)
310,116 — 8,926 319,042
(19,356) — 46 (19,310)
$ 526,366 $ 511 $ — $ 526,877
__ 648% __ 00% _ 95% __ 654%
Year Ended December 31, 2008
Accrual Basis Cost Recovery ZeroBasis
Portfolios Portfolios Portfolios Total
$ 390,564 $ 1,645 $ — $ 392,209
230,278 — — 230,278
(388,110) (587) (9,606) (398,303)
(3,330) (310) — (3,640)
272,596 — 9,606 282,202
__(41,400) - = — __(41,400)
$ 460,598 $ 748 $ — $ 461,346
70.2% 0.0% 100.0% 70.9%

Put-backs represent accounts that are returned to the seller in accordance with the respective purchase agreement (* Put-Backs’). Recalls represent accounts that are recalled by the seller in

accordance with the respective purchase agreement (“ Recalls’).
Includes retained interest.

Revenue as a percentage of collections excludes the effects of net portfolio allowances or net portfolio allowance reversals.

The following table summarizes the change in the valuation allowance for investment in receivable portfolios during the periods presented (in
thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2007
Provision for portfolio allowances
Reversal of prior allowances
Balance at December 31, 2008
Provision for portfolio allowances
Reversal of prior allowances
Balance at December 31, 2009
Provision for portfolio allowances
Reversal of prior allowances

Balance at December 31, 2010
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$ 15,752
42,532
(1,132)

$ 57,152
21,329
(2,019)

$ 76,462
28,259
(6,050)

$ 98,671
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The Company currently utilizes various business channels for the collection of its receivables. The following table summarizes the collections
by collection channel (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Collection sites $268,205 $185,789 $157,077
Legal collections 266,762 232,667 193,201
Collection agencies 68,042 62,653 34,736
Sales — 6,677 12,550
Other 1,600 6 1,069

$604,609 $487,792 $398,633

Note 5: Deferred Court Costs

The Company contracts with a nationwide network of attorneys that specialize in collection matters. The Company generally refers charged-
off accountsto its contracted attorneys when it believes the related consumer has sufficient assets to repay the indebtedness and has, to date,
been unwilling to pay. In connection with the Company’s agreement with the contracted attorneys, it advances certain out-of-pocket court costs
(“Deferred Court Costs”). The Company capitalizes Deferred Court Costsin its consolidated financial statements and provides areserve for those
coststhat it believeswill ultimately be uncollectible. The Company determines the reserve based on its analysis of court costs that have been
advanced and those that have been recovered. Deferred Court Costs not recovered within three years of placement are fully written off. Collections
received from these consumers are first applied against related court costs with the balance applied to the consumers' accounts.

At the end of each quarter, the Company evaluates its recovery rate estimate for Deferred Court Cost. Effective October 1, 2010, the Company
revised its estimate of Deferred Court Costs based on additional datathat it has accumulated over the last four years. This data provides
information as to which consumerswill ultimately repay their debts and reimburse the Company for the court costsit incurred. This dataindicated
that the Company would recover a greater percentage of court costs advanced than it had originally expected. This expectation islargely
attributable to its greater precision around which consumers are best suited for litigation and are more likely to settle their accounts with the
Company. As such, the Company increased its court cost recovery estimate to better reflect its revised recovery expectations. This change was
treated as a change in estimate in accordance with authoritative guidance related to accounting changes and error corrections. Theimpact of this
changein estimate resulted in an increase in the Company’s Deferred Court Cost asset of $2.8 million as of October 1, 2010, and resulted in a $2.8
million reduction in court cost expense, a$1.8 million increasein net income and a $0.07 increase in earnings per share for the year ended
December 31, 2010.

Deferred Court Costs for the three-year deferral period consist of the following as of the dates presented (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2010 2009
Court costs advanced $ 194,612 $ 172,488
Court costs recovered (49,215) (44,980)
Court costs reserve (113,239) (101,551)
$ 32158 $ 25957
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Note 6: Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following, as of the dates presented (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2010 2009
Furniture, fixtures and equipment $ 3,963 $ 3,459
Computer equipment and software 23,067 17,614
Telecommunications equi pment 3,520 2,986
L easehold improvements 4,841 4,397
35,391 28,456
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (21,733) (19,029
$ 13,658 $ 9427

Depreciation expense was $2.8 million and $2.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Note 7: Other Assets

Other assets consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2010 2009

Debt issuance costs, net of amortization $ 5286 $ 553
Prepaid expenses 5,052 1,728
Security deposit—Indiabuilding lease 1,370 1,013
Deferred compensation assets 776 758
Other 817 200
$ 13301 $ 4252

Deferred compensation assets represent monies held in a trust associated with the Company’s deferred compensation plan.

Note 8: Debt

The Company is obligated under borrowings, as follows (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2010 2009

Revolving credit facility $ 327,000 $ 260,000

Senior secured notes 50,000 —
Convertible notes — 42,920
Less: Debt discount — (2,013)
Capital lease obligations 8,264 2,168
$ 385,264 $ 303,075

Convertible Senior Notes

The Company’s convertible senior notes matured on September 20, 2010. On that date, the Company repaid the remaining $42.9 million
balance outstanding under the notes.
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In accordance with applicable accounting literature, the Company was required to separately account for the liability and equity components
of its convertible notesin amanner that reflected the Company’s nonconvertible debt borrowing rate. The effective interest rate on the liability
component of the convertible notes was 10.38%. Interest expense related to the convertible notes was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Interest expense—stated coupon rate $1,038 $1,633 $3,159
Interest expense—amortization of debt discount 2,013 2,901 5,107
Total interest expense—convertible notes $3,051 $4,534 $8,266

Senior Secured Notes

On September 20, 2010, the Company issued $50.0 million in senior secured notes (the “ 2010 Senior Secured Notes”) to certain affiliates of
Prudential Capital Group (“Prudential Capital Group”) through a private placement transaction. The Senior Secured Notes bear an annual interest
rate of 7.75% and mature in 2017 with principal amortization beginning in December 2012. Interest on the Senior Secured Notes is payable quarterly
on March 17, June 17, September 17 and December 17 of each year. Principa payments of $2.5 million are payable on December 17, 2012 and on each
March 17, June 17, September 17 and December 17 thereafter. The proceeds from the 2010 Senior Secured Notes were used to reduce aggregate
outstanding borrowings under the Company’s existing revolving credit facility, including borrowingsincurred to repay the remaining $42.9 million
of convertible notes that matured September 20, 2010. L oan fees and other loan costs associated with the above transactions amounted to
approximately $0.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2010. These costs are included in other assets in the Company’s consolidated
statements of financial condition and are being amortized over the term of the agreement.

On February 10, 2011, the Company issued an additional $25.0 million in senior secured notes (“2011 Senior Secured Notes”) to certain
affiliates of Prudential Capital Group through an amended and restated note purchase agreement. These 2011 Senior Secured Notes bear an annual
interest rate of 7.375% and mature in 2019 with principal amortization beginning in May 2013. Interest on the 2011 Senior Secured Notesis payable
quarterly on February 10, May 10, August 10 and November 10 of each year. Principal payments of $1.25 million are payable on May 10, 2013 and
on each August 10, November 10, February 10 and May 10 thereafter.

The 2010 and 2011 Senior Secured Notes are guaranteed in full by certain of the Company’s subsidiaries and are collateralized by all assets of
the Company. The 2010 and 2011 Senior Secured Notes may be accelerated and become automatically and immediately due and payable upon
certain events of default, including certain events related to insolvency, bankruptcy or liquidation. Additionally, the 2010 and 2011 Senior Secured
Notes may be accelerated at the election of the holder or holders of amajority in principal amount of the 2010 and 2011 Senior Secured Notes upon
certain events of default by the Company, including breach of affirmative covenants regarding guarantors, collateral, most favored lender treatment
or minimum revolving credit facility commitment or the breach of any negative covenant. If the Company prepays the 2010 or 2011 Senior Secured
Notes at any time for any reason, payment will be at the higher of par or the present value of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and
interest on the portion being prepaid. The discount rate used to determine the present value shall be 50 basis points over the then current Treasury
Rate corresponding to the remaining average life. The covenants are substantially similar to those in the revolving credit facility. Prudential Capital
Group and the administrative agent for the lenders of the revolving credit facility have an intercreditor agreement related to collateral, actionable
default, powers and duties and remedies, among other topics.

Pursuant to Securities and Exchange Commission rules, the Company has concluded that separate financial statements or condensed
consolidating financial information are not required as the guarantees related to the Senior Secured Notes are full and unconditional and joint and
severable, and the subsidiary of the parent company other than the subsidiary guarantors are minor.
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Revolving Credit Facility

On February 8, 2010, the Company entered into a new $327.5 million revolving credit facility to be used for the purpose of purchasing
receivable portfolios and for general working capital needs. The revolving credit facility expires on December 31, 2013.

Therevolving credit facility contains an accordion feature which allows the Company, on or subsequent to closing, at its option, and subject
to customary conditions, to request an increase in the facility of up to $100.0 million by obtaining one or more commitments from one or more
lenders or other entities with the consent of the administrative agent, but without the consent of any other lenders.

On July 15, 2010, the Company obtained an additional $33.0 million in commitments from lenders and exercised a portion of its $100.0 million
accordion feature.

On September 20 and 21, 2010, the Company amended its revolving credit facility. The amendments allowed for the addition of the $50.0
million in Senior Secured Notes and include a feature that would allow the Company to issue up to $25 million of additional notesto Prudential
Capital Group under terms equivalent to the Senior Secured Notes. The accordion feature of the facility was also reset to $100.0 million, increasing
the facility maximum from $427.5 million to $460.5 million.

On February 11, 2011, the Company obtained an additional $50.0 million in commitments from lenders and exercised a portion of its $100.0
million accordion feature, thereby increasing its revolving credit facility to $410.5 million from $360.5 million.

L oan fees and other loan costs associated with the above transactions amounted to approximately $5.7 million during the year ended
December 31, 2010. These costs are included in other assetsin the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition and are being
amortized over the term of the agreement.

Provisions of the revolving credit facility include:

+ Interest at afloating rate equal to, at the Company’s option, either: (1) reserve adjusted LIBOR plus a spread that ranges from 350 to 400
basis points, depending on the Company’s leverage; or (2) Alternate Base Rate (“ABR”) plus a spread that ranges from 250 to 300 basis
points, depending on the Company’s leverage. ABR, as defined in the agreement, means the highest of (i) the rate of interest publicly
announced by JP Morgan Chase Bank asits prime rate in effect at its principal officein New Y ork City, (ii) the federal funds effective rate
from time to time plus 0.5% and (iii) reserved adjusted LIBOR for a one month interest period on the applicable date plus 1%;

¢ $10.0 million sub-limits for swingline loans and letters of credit;

* A borrowing base equal to (i) the lesser of (1) 30% of eligible estimated remaining collections and (2) the product of the net book value of
all receivable portfolios acquired on or after January 1, 2005 multiplied by 95%, minus (ii) the aggregate principal amount outstanding in
respect of the Senior Secured Notes;

* Restrictions and covenants, which limit, among other things, the payment of dividends and the incurrence of additional indebtedness
and liens;

¢ Repurchases of up to $50.0 million of the Company’s common stock, subject to compliance with certain covenants and available
borrowing capacity;

» A change of control definition which excludes acquisitions of stock by Red Mountain Capital Partners LLC, JCF FPK | LP and their
respective affiliates of up to 50% of the outstanding shares of the Company’s voting stock;

+  Eventsof default which, upon occurrence, may permit the lenders to terminate the revolving credit facility and declare all amounts
outstanding to be immediately due and payable;
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* Anannuad capital expenditure maximum of $12.5 million;
* Anannua rental expense maximum of $12.5 million;

¢ Anoutstanding capital lease maximum of $12.5 million;
«  Anacquisition limit of $100.0 million; and

+ Collateralization by all assets of the Company.

At December 31, 2010, the outstanding balance on the revolving credit facility was $327.0 million, which bore aweighted average interest rate
of 4.66%. The aggregate borrowing base was $360.5 million, of which $33.5 million was available for future borrowings.

Subject to compliance with the revolving credit facility, the Company is authorized by its board of directorsto repurchase up to $50.0 million
of its common stock.

Capital Lease Obligations

The Company has capital |ease obligations primarily for certain computer equipment. As of December 31, 2010, the Company’s combined
obligations for these computer equipment | eases were approximately $6.7 million. These lease obligations require monthly or quarterly payments
through December 2013 and have implicit interest rates that range from approximately 2.9% to 7.7%.

Five-Year Maturity Schedule
The following table summarizes the five-year maturity of the Company’s debt and other long term liabilities (in thousands):

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 Total
Revolving credit facility $ — $ — $327000 $ — $ — $327,000
Senior secured notesd) — 2,500 10,000 10,000 10,000 32,500
Capital lease obligations 4,250 2,887 1,694 — — 8,831
Less: interest portion of capital lease (353) (175) (39) — — (567)

$3,897  $5212  $338655 $10,000 $10,000 $367,764

@ on February 10, 2011, the Company issued an additional $25.0 million in senior secured notes to certain affiliates of Prudential Capital Group through an amended and restated note
purchase agreement. The notes bear an annual interest rate of 7.375% and mature in 2019 with principal amortization beginning in May 2013. The above maturity table does not include the
maturity schedule for these newly issued $25.0 million notes.

Note 9: Stock Based Compensation

On March 9, 2009, the Board of Directors approved an amendment and restatement of the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (“ 2005 Plan™), which was
originally adopted on March 30, 2005, for Board members, employees, officers, and executives of, and consultants and advisors to, the Company.
The amendment and restatement of the 2005 Plan increased by 2,000,000 shares the maximum number of shares of the Company’s common stock
that may beissued or be subject to awards under the plan, established anew 10-year term for the plan and made certain other amendments. The
2005 Plan amendment was approved by the Company’s stockholders on June 9, 2009. The 2005 Plan provides for the granting of incentive stock
options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, and performance-based awardsto eligible
individuals. As amended, the 2005 Plan allows the granting of an aggregate of 3,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for awards, plus
the number of shares of stock that were available for future awards under the prior 1999 Equity Participation Plan (1999 Plan”). In addition, shares
subject to options granted under either the 1999 Plan
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or the 2005 Plan that terminate or expire without being exercised will become available for grant under the 2005 Plan. The benefits provided under
these plans are compensation subject to authoritative guidance for stock-based compensation.

In accordance with authoritative guidance for stock-based compensation, compensation expense is recognized only for those shares expected
to vest, based on the Company’s historical experience and future expectations. Total compensation expense during the years ended December 31,
2010, 2009 and 2008 was $6.0 million, $4.4 million and $3.6 million, respectively.

The Company’s stock-based compensation arrangements are described below:

Stock Options

The 2005 Plan permits the granting of stock options to employees, officers and executives, and directors of, and consultants and advisors to,
the Company. Option awards are generally granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company’s stock at the date of issuance.
They generally vest based on three to five years of continuous service, and have ten-year contractual terms.

The Company uses the Black-Schol es option-pricing model to determine the fair-val ue of stock-based awards. All options are amortized
ratably over the requisite service periods of the awards, which are generally the vesting periods.

Thefair value for options granted was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-
average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Weighted average fair value of options granted $ 970 $ 49 $ 537
Risk free interest rate 2.3% 2.1% 3.0%
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Volatility factors of the expected market price of the Company’s common stock 62% 57% 46%
Weighted-average expected life of options 5Years 5Years 5Years

Unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options as of December 31, 2010, was $3.2 million. The weighted-average remaining expense
period, based on the unamortized value of these outstanding stock options was approximately 1.9 years.

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity as of December 31, 2010, and changes during the year then ended, is presented bel ow:

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Number of Option Price Per Weighted Average Value
Shares Share Exercise Price (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2009 2,667,137 $0.35—$20.09 $ 9.28
Granted 215,000 17.90 17.90
Cancelled/forfeited (39,333) 2.89-17.90 11.13
Exercised (405,742) 0.35—16.19 4.90
Outstanding at December 31, 2010 2,437,062 $0.51 —$20.09 $ 10.74 $ 30,977
Exercisable at December 31, 2010 1,469,998 $0.51 —$20.09 $ 9.96 $ 19,835

Thetota intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $6.2 million, $2.0 million and $0.3
million, respectively. As of December 31, 2010, the weighted-average remaining contractual life of options outstanding and options exercisable was
6.04 years and 4.44 years, respectively.
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Non-Vested Shares

Under the Company’s 2005 Plan, employees, officers and executives and directors of, and consultants and advisors to, the Company are
eligibleto receive restricted stock units and restricted stock awards. In accordance with the authoritative guidance, the fair value of these non-
vested sharesis equal to the closing sale price of the Company’s common stock on the date of issuance. The total number of these awards
expected to vest is adjusted by estimated forfeiture rates. As of December 31, 2010, 88,825 of the non-vested shares are expected to vest over
approximately oneto two years based on certain performance goals (“ Performance-Based Awards’). The fair value of the Performance-Based
Awards is expensed over the expected vesting period, net of estimated forfeitures. If performance goals are not expected to be met, the
compensation expense previously recognized would be reversed. No reversals of compensation expense related to the Performance-Based Awards
have been made as of December 31, 2010. The remaining 525,045 non-vested shares are not performance-based, and will vest over approximately
oneto three years of continuous service.

A summary of the status of the Company’srestricted stock units as of December 31, 2010, and changes during the year, is presented below:

Weighted Average

Non-Vested Grant Date

Restricted Stock Units Shares Fair Value
Non-vested at December 31, 2009 675,790 $ 9.27
Awarded 343,582 $ 17.87
Vested (365,538) $ 10.36
Cancelled/forfeited (39,464) $ 14.74
Non-vested at December 31, 2010 614,370 $ 13.08

Unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock units as of December 31, 2010, was $4.5 million. The weighted-average remaining
expense period, based on the unamortized val ue of these outstanding restricted stock units was approximately 2.3 years. The fair value of restricted
stock units vested for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was $8.0 million, $1.7 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

Note 10: Income Taxes

During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company recorded an income tax provision of $28.9 million, reflecting an effectiverate of 37.1%
of pretax income. The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2010, primarily consisted of aprovision for federal income taxes of 32.7%
(whichisnet of abenefit for state taxes of 2.3%), aprovision for state taxes of 6.7%, a0.6% beneficial adjustment to the state and federal tax
payable as aresult of state and federal tax true-ups and a benefit of 1.7%, due to permanent book versustax differences. During the year ended
December 31, 2009, the Company recorded an income tax provision of $20.7 million, reflecting an effective rate of 38.5% of pretax income. The
effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2009, primarily consisted of aprovision for federal income taxes of 32.4% (which is net of a benefit
for state taxes of 2.6%), a provision for state taxes of 7.3%, a 1.0% beneficial adjustment to the federal tax payable as aresult of the effective state
tax rate change and a benefit of 0.2%, due to permanent book versustax differences.

The pretax income consists of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Domestic $73,863 $52,839 $22,975
Foreign 4135 904 571

$77,998 $53,743 $23,546
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The provision for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Current expense:

Federal $23,922 $15,734 $5,756
State 4,585 3,551 1,597
28,507 19,285 7,353

Deferred expense:
Federal 369 1,212 2,113
State 70 199 234
439 1411 2,347

$28,946 $20,696 $9,700

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following for the years presented (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2010 2009
Deferred tax assets:

State taxes $ 1,825 $ 1,420
Stock option expense 5,995 5,139
Accrued expenses 876 1,126
Non-qualified plan 97) (189)
Deferred revenue 1,490 1,710
Interest rate swap (104) 805
State net operating losses 189 399
Other 1,124 399
Valuation allowance (12) (12)
11,286 10,797

Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred court costs (11,674) (10,892
Differencein basis of amortizable assets (5,285) (4,678)
Differencein basis of depreciable assets (2,418) (988)
Differencesin income recognition related to receivable portfolios and retained interest (8,477) (10,339)
Deferred debt cancellation income (1,222) (1,222)
Other 164 342
(28,912) (27,777)
Net deferred tax liability $ (17,626) $ (16,980)

The Company has a state tax credit carryforward, as aresult of net operating losses, in the amount of $0.2 million that will begin to expire at
the end of 2011, if not previously utilized.
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The differences between the total income tax expense and the income tax expense computed using the applicable federal income tax rate of
35% per annum were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2010 2009 2008
Computed “expected” Federal income tax expense $27,299 $18,810 $8,241
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:
State income taxes, net 3,306 2,437 1,236
Foreign non-taxed income (1,447) (316) (199)
Other adjustments, net (212) (235) 423
Increase in valuation allowance — — (1)

$28,946 $20,696 $9,700

The Company has not provided for the United States income taxes or foreign withholding taxes on the undistributed earnings from continuing
operations of its subsidiary operating outside of the United States. Undistributed earnings of the subsidiary for the year ended December 31, 2010,
were approximately $4.1 million. Such undistributed earnings are considered permanently reinvested. The Company has not provided for taxes on
the undistributed earnings. If the net earnings were to be distributed, it is estimated that taxesin the amount approximated $1.8 million would need
to be reflected in the financial statements.

The Company’s subsidiary operating outside of the United Statesis currently operating under atax holiday in India. The tax holiday isdueto
expire on March 31, 2011. If there had been no tax holiday for the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company would have expensed an additional
$1.4 million inincome taxes.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefitsis as follows (in thousands):

Amount

Balance at December 31, 2009 $ 865
Additions based on tax positionsrelated to current year 198
Reductions for tax positions related to prior years (309)
Balance at December 31, 2010 $ 754

As of December 31, 2010, the Company has recorded a net tax benefit for penalties and interest of less than $0.1 million. The penalties and
interest are recorded as part of the provision for income taxes.

The Company has gross unrecognized tax benefits of $1.2 million at December 31, 2010, that if recognized, would result in anet tax benefit of
$0.8 million and would have a positive effect on the Company’ s effective tax rate.

The Company believesthat it isreasonably possible that its $1.2 million gross unrecognized tax benefits will significantly decrease within the
next 12 months or be eliminated entirely. The gross unrecognized tax benefits relate to the refund of state taxes previously paid. The Company is
currently undergoing a state tax audit. The completion of the audit could significantly reduce or eliminate the unrecognized tax benefits.
Accordingly, the Company has recorded areserve on the net unrecognized tax benefits.

The Company files U.S. federal and state income tax returnsin jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitations. The 2007 through 2010 tax
years remain subject to examination by federal taxing authorities and the 1999 through 2010 tax years generally remain subject to examination by
state tax authorities.
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Note 11: Purchase Concentrations

The following table summarizes the concentration of initial purchase cost by seller sorted by total aggregate costs (in thousands, except
percentages):

Year Ended December 31, 2010

Cost %

Seller 1 $ 57,262 15.8%
Seller 2 51,200 14.1%
Seller 3 45,685 12.6%
Seller 4 45,586 12.6%
Seller 5 43,848 12.1%
Other sellers 118,376 32.8%

$ 361,957 100.0%
Adjustments® (1,725)
Purchases, net $ 360,232

@ Adjusted for Put-backs and Recals,

Note 12: Commitmentsand Contingencies
Litigation

On October 18, 2004, Timothy W. Moser, one of the Company’s former officers, filed an action in the United States District Court for the
Southern District of California against the Company, and certain individuals, including several of its officers and directors. On February 14, 2005,
the Company was served with an amended complaint in this action alleging defamation, intentional interference with contractual relations, breach of
contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distressand civil conspiracy arising
out of certain statements in the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, originaly filed in September 2003, and alleged to be included in the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, originally filed in May 2004. The amended complaint sought injunctive relief, economic and
punitive damages in an unspecified amount plus an award of profits allegedly earned by the defendants and alleged co-conspirators as a result of
the alleged conduct, in addition to attorney’s fees and costs. On June 1, 2006, the plaintiff filed a second amended complaint in which he amended
his claim for negligent infliction of emotional distress. On January 19, 2010, the District Court issued an order granting defendants’ summary
judgment motions, dismissed all causes of action against all of the defendants and entered judgment in favor of the defendants. On February 12,
2010, Mr. Moser filed anotice of appeal of the judgment. The parties arein the process of briefing their arguments on appeal, and no date for oral
argument has been set.

On September 7, 2005, Mr. Moser filed arelated action in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Californiaagainst Triarc
Companies, Inc. (“Triarc”), which at the time was a significant stockhol der of the Company, alleging intentional interference with contractual
relations and intentional infliction of emotional distress. The case arose out of the same statements made or alleged to have been madein the
Company’s Registration Statements referenced above. The amended complaint sought injunctive relief, an order directing Triarc to issue a
statement of retraction or correction of the allegedly fal se statements, economic and punitive damages in an unspecified amount and attorney’s fees
and costs. Triarc tendered the defense of this action to the Company, and the Company accepted the defense and will indemnify Triarc, pursuant to
the indemnification provisions of the Registration Rights Agreements dated as of October 31, 2000 and February 21, 2002, and the Underwriting
Agreements dated September 25, 2004 and January 20, 2005 to which Triarc isaparty. This action was also dismissed by the District Court on
January 19, 2010. Mr. Moser’s February 12, 2010 appeal a so challenges this judgment.
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The Company, along with othersinitsindustry, is routinely subject to legal actions based on the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, or
FDCPA, comparable state statutes and common law causes of action. The violations of law alleged in these actions often include claims that the
Company lacks specified licenses to conduct its business, attempts to collect debts on which the statute of limitations has run, and / or has made
inaccurate assertions of fact in support of its collection actions. A number of these cases are styled as class actions and a class has been certified
in several of these cases. Many of these cases present novel issues on which thereisno clear legal precedent.

In one such action, captioned Brent v. Midland Credit Management, Inc et. al, filed on May 19, 2008, in the United States District Court for
the Northern District of Ohio Western Division, the plaintiff, Andrea Brent, has filed a class action counter-claim against the Company’s
subsidiaries Midland Credit Management, Inc. and Midland Funding LLC (the “Midland Defendants”). The complaint alleges that the Midland
Defendants' business practices violated consumers' rights under the FDCPA and the Ohio Consumer Sales Practices Act. The plaintiff is seeking
actual and statutory damages for the class of Ohio residents, plus attorney fees and costs of class notice and class administration. On August 11,
2009, the court issued an order partialy granting plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment and entering findings adverse to the Midland Defendants
on certain of plaintiff’'s claims. The Midland Defendants subsequently moved the court to reconsider the order and were partially successful.
However, because the court did not completely reverse the August 11 order, certain portions of the order remain subject to reversal only on appeal.
On February 22, 2010, the District Court denied Plaintiff’s attempts to enlarge the case to include a national class of consumers, and ordered the
partiesto brief issues relating to whether a statewide class should be certified. On November 4, 2010, the court granted in part, and denied in part,
plaintiff’s motion for class certification of a statewide class. On February 10, 2011, the parties reached an agreement in principal to settle this lawsuit
on anational class basis, subject to entering into a definitive settlement agreement and obtaining court approval after notice to the class. The
Company has vigorously denied the claims asserted against it in this matter, but has agreed to the proposed settlement to avoid the burden and
expense of continued litigation. Subject to Court approval, settlement awardsto eligible class members, as well as fees and costs, will be paid from a
settlement fund of approximately $5.2 million. If the number of class members who make claims exceeds a certain level, the total settlement could
increase to an amount not to exceed $5.7 million. Of this, approximately $3.5 million is expected to be paid with insurance proceeds. The Company
has accrued its portion of the settlement, which resulted in adecrease in net income of approximately $1.0 million and adecreasein fully diluted
earnings per share of $0.04 for the year ended December 31, 2010.

The Company is defending a number of additional class action cases which assert, among other things, affidavit claims similar to those
asserted in the Brent litigation. Because of the similarities of the claims, the proposed settlement of the Brent case is expected to resolve the
affidavit claimsin these other cases.

On November 2, 2010 and December 17, 2010 two national class actions entitled Robinson v. Midland Funding LLC and Tovar v. Midland
Credit Management, respectively, werefiled in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California. The complaints allege that
subsidiaries of the Company violated the Telephone Consumer Protection Act (“TCPA”) by calling consumers' cellular phones without their prior
express consent. The complaints seek monetary damages under the TCPA, injunctive relief and other relief, including attorney fees. The Company
has filed motions to dismiss or stay these cases, which are currently pending.

There are anumber of other lawsuits, claims and counterclaims pending or threatened against the Company. In general, these lawsuits, claims
or counterclaims have arisen in the ordinary course of business and involve claims for damages arising from a variety of alleged misconduct or
improper reporting of credit information by the Company or its employees or agents.

In addition, from time to time, the Company is subject to various regulatory investigations, inquiries and other actions, relating to its
collection activities. These inquiries and other actions include the following:

On January 12, 2011, the Office of the Attorney General of the State of Texasissued acivil investigative demand to the Company to produce
documentsin an investigation of its methods of collecting consumer debtsin
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the State of Texas and related topics. The Company intends to cooperate fully with the Texas Attorney General in response to this subpoena,
subject to applicable law.

On January 6, 2010, the Office of the Attorney General of the State of California, the “ California Attorney General,” issued a subpoenato the
Company to answer interrogatories and to produce documentsin a proceeding entitled In the Matter of the I nvestigation of Encore Capital Group,
Inc., Midland Credit Management, Inc. and Affiliated Persons and Entities concerning its debt collection practices and related topics. The
Company has and intends to continue to cooperate fully with the California Attorney General in response to this subpoena, subject to applicable
law.

On December 16, 2009, the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, issued an order directing the Company to submit information about its
practicesin buying and collecting consumer debt, which the FTC intends to use for a study of the debt-buying industry. The Company is one of
nine companies that received such an order from the FTC requesting the production of information for use in the FTC's study of theindustry. The
nine companies were described by the FTC as the nation’s largest consumer debt buyers. The order was publicly announced by the FTC on
January 5, 2010. The Company believesthat it has cooperated fully with the FTC in connection with its study, subject to applicable law.

Some of the matters pending against the Company involve potential compensatory, punitive damage claims, fines or sanctionsthat, if
granted, could require the Company to pay damages or make other expendituresin amounts that could have amaterial adverse effect on its financial
position or results of operations. In certain of these cases, the Company may have recourse to insurance or third party contractual indemnitiesto
cover al or portions of itslitigation expenses, judgments or settlements. In accordance with authoritative guidance, the Company has recorded loss
contingenciesin itsfinancial statements only for mattersin which losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated.

Leases

The Company leases office facilitiesin San Diego, California; Phoenix, Arizona; Arlington, Texas; St. Cloud, Minnesota; and Gurgaon, India.
The leases are structured as operating leases, and the Company incurred related rent expense in the amounts of $4.5 million, $4.3 million and $3.4
million during the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The Company has capital |ease obligations primarily for certain computer equipment. Refer to “ Capital Lease Obligations’ under Note 8
“Debt” for additional information on the Company’s capital |eases. The related amortization expense was $2.4 million, $0.5 million and $0.2 million,
for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. Amortization of assets under capital leasesisincluded in depreciation and
amortization expense.

Future minimum lease payments under |ease obligations consist of the following for the years ending December 31 (in thousands):

Capital Operating

L eases L eases Total
2011 $4,250 $ 4,748 $ 8,998
2012 2,887 4,206 7,093
2013 1,694 4,071 5,765
2014 — 3,731 3,731
2015 — 3,020 3,020
Thereafter — 7,132 7,132
Total minimal |eases payments 8,831 $ 26,908 $35,739
Less: Interest (567)
Present value of minimal |ease payments $8,264
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Purchase Commitments

In the normal course of business, the Company entersinto forward flow purchase agreements and other purchase commitment agreements.
As of December 31, 2010, the Company has entered into agreements to purchase receivabl e portfolios with a face value of approximately $4.1 billion
for apurchase price of approximately $144.3 million. Certain of these agreements allow the Company to terminate the commitment with 60 days
notice or by paying a one-time cancellation fee. The Company does not anticipate cancelling any of these commitments at thistime. The Company
has no purchase commitments extending past one year.

Employee Benefit Plans

The Company maintains a401(k) Salary Deferral Plan (the “ Plan”) whereby eligible employees may voluntarily contribute up to a maximum
percentage of compensation, as specified in Internal Revenue Code limitations. The Company may match a percentage of employee contributions at
its discretion. Employer matching contributions and administrative costs relating to the Plan totaled $1.2 million, $0.7 million and $0.7 million for the
years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

The Company maintains anon-qualified deferred compensation plan for its senior management. This plan permits deferral of a portion of
compensation until a specified period of time. As of December 31, 2010, the plan assets and plan liabilities were $0.8 million and $0.7 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2009, the plan assets and plan liabilities were $0.8 million and $0.8 million, respectively. These amounts are
included in the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition in other assets and accrued liabilities. The use of plan assetsislegally
restricted to distributions to participants or to creditorsin the event of bankruptcy.

Self Insured Health Benefits

The Company maintains a self-insured health benefit plan for its employees. This plan is administered by athird party. As of December 31,
2010, the plan had stop loss provisionsinsuring losses beyond $150,000 per employee per year. Effective January 1, 2009, the Company eliminated
the aggregated stop loss provisions. As of December 31, 2010, the Company recorded areserve for unpaid claimsin the amount of $0.3 millionin
accrued liabilitiesin the Company’s consolidated statement of financial condition. This amount represents the Company’s estimate of incurred but
not reported claims, as of December 31, 2010.

Guarantees

The Company’s Certificate of Incorporation and indemnification agreements between the Company and its officers and directors provide that
the Company will indemnify and hold harmless its officers and directors for certain events or occurrences arising as aresult of the officer or director
serving in such capacity. The Company has also agreed to indemnify certain third parties under certain circumstances pursuant to the terms of
certain underwriting agreements, registration rights agreements and portfolio purchase and sale agreements. The maximum potential amount of
future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification agreementsis unlimited. The Company believes the estimated
fair value of these indemnification agreementsis minimal and has no liabilities recorded for these agreements as of December 31, 2010.
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Note 13; Quarterly Information (Unaudited)
The following table summarizes quarterly financial datafor the periods presented (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended

December 31

March 31 June 30 September 30

2010

Gross collections $ 141,267 $ 156,789 $ 157,372 $ 149,181
Revenues $ 87,338 $ 96,231 $ 97,967 $ 99,772
Total operating expenses $ 65,641 $ 72,782 $ 74,265 $ 71,589
Net income $ 10,861 $ 11,730 $ 12,290 $ 14,171
Basic earnings per share $ 0.46 $ 0.49 $ 0.51 $ 0.59
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.44 $ 0.47 $ 0.49 $ 0.56
2009

Gross collections $ 115,233 $ 122,373 $ 125,710 $ 124,476
Revenues $ 76,446 $ 78,035 $ 80,386 $ 81,552
Total operating expenses $ 60,175 $ 634% $ 61,525 $ 64,588
Net income $ 8,997 $ 6,641 $ 9,004 $ 8,405
Basic earnings per share $ 0.39 $ 0.29 $ 0.39 $ 0.36
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.38 $ 0.28 $ 0.37 $ 0.34

Note 14: Subsequent Events

On February 10, 2011, the partiesin the matter captioned Brent v. Midland Credit Management, Inc et. al, filed on May 19, 2008, in the United
States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio Western Division, reached an agreement in principal to settle this lawsuit on anational class
basis, subject to entering into a definitive settlement agreement and obtaining court approval after notice to the class. The Company has vigorously
denied the claims asserted against it in this matter, but has agreed to the proposed settlement to avoid the burden and expense of continued
litigation. Subject to Court approval, settlement awards to eligible class members, aswell asfees and costs, will be paid from a settlement fund of
approximately $5.2 million. If the number of class members who make claims exceeds a certain level, the total settlement could increase to an amount
not to exceed $5.7 million. Of this, approximately $3.5 million is expected to be paid with insurance proceeds. The Company has accrued its portion
of the settlement, which resulted in a decrease in net income of approximately $1.0 million and a decrease in fully diluted earnings per share of $0.04
for the year ended December 31, 2010.

On February 10, 2011, the Company issued an additional $25.0 millionin 2011 Senior Secured Notes to certain affiliates of Prudential Capital
Group through an amended and restated note purchase agreement. These 2011 Senior Secured Notes bear an annual interest rate of 7.375% and
mature in 2019 with principal amortization beginning in May 2013. Interest on the 2011 Senior Secured Notesis payable quarterly on February 10,
May 10, August 10 and November 10 of each year. Principal payments of $1.25 million are payable on May 10, 2013 and on each
August 10, November 10, February 10 and May 10 thereafter.

The 2011 Senior Secured Notes are guaranteed in full by certain of the Company’s subsidiaries and are collateralized by all assets of the
Company. The 2011 Senior Secured Notes may be accel erated and become automatically and immediately due and payable upon certain events of
default, including certain events related to insolvency, bankruptcy or liquidation. Additionally, the 2011 Senior Secured Notes may be accelerated at
the election of the holder or holders of amajority in principal amount of the 2011 Senior Secured Notes upon certain events of default by the
Company, including breach of affirmative covenants regarding guarantors, collateral, most favored lender treatment or minimum revolving credit
facility commitment or the breach of any negative covenant. If the Company prepays the 2011 Senior Secured Notes at any time for any reason,
payment will be at the higher of par or the present value of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the portion being prepaid.
The discount rate used to determine the present value shall be 50 basis points over the then
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current Treasury Rate corresponding to the remaining average life. The covenants are substantially similar to those in the revolving credit facility.
Prudential Capital Group and the administrative agent for the lenders of the revolving credit facility have an intercreditor agreement related to
collateral, actionable default, powers and duties and remedies, among other topics.

The Company’s revolving credit facility contains an accordion feature, which allows the Company, on or subsequent to closing, at its option,
and subject to customary conditions, to request an increasein the facility of up to $100.0 million (not to exceed atotal facility of $460.5 million), by
obtaining one or more commitments from one or more lenders or other entities with the consent of the administrative agent, but without the consent
of any other lenders. On February 11, 2011, the Company obtained an additional $50.0 million in commitments from lenders and exercised a portion
of its $100.0 million accordion feature, thereby increasing its revolving credit facility to $410.5 million from $360.5 million.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Description
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1/A filed on June 14, 1999, File No. 333-77483)

Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2002, File No. 000-26489)

Bylaws, as amended through February 8, 2011 (filed herewith)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 21, 2002, between the Company and the several Purchaserslisted on
Schedule A thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 25,
2002, File No. 000-26489)

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2000, between the Company and the several
stockholders listed therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
August 22, 2003, File No. 000-26489)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of September 19, 2005, by and among Encore Capital Group, Inc. and Morgan Stanley &
Co. Incorporated and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on September 22, 2005)

First Amendment, dated as of March 13, 2001, to Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 31,
2000, between the Company and the several stockholders listed therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 22, 2003, File No. 000-26489)

Indenture, dated September 19, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’ s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 22, 2005)

Instrument of Resignation, Appointment and Acceptance, dated September 21, 2006, by and among Encore Capital Group, Inc.,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., and The Bank of New Y ork (now known as The Bank of New Y ork Mellon Trust Company, N.A.) as
successor trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on July 30, 2009)

Form of 3.375% Convertible Senior Notes due 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on September 22, 2005)

Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3
filed on December 21, 2009, File No. 333-163876)

Senior Secured Note Purchase Agreement, dated September 20, 2010, by and among the Company, The Prudential Insurance
Company of America, Pruco Life Insurance Company, Prudential Retirement |nsurance and Annuity Company and Prudential
Annuities Life Assurance Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A
filed on October 25, 2010)

Form of Note (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on Octaober 25, 2010)

Multi-Tenant Office Lease dated as of April 8, 2004 between LBA Realty Fund-Holding Co. |, LLC and Midland Credit Management,
Inc. (the“Midland Lease”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 4,
2004, File No. 000-26489)

L ease Guaranty dated as of April 8, 2004 by the Company in favor of LBA Realty Fund-Holding Co. I, LLC in connection with the
Midland Lease (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 4, 2004, File
No. 000-26489)
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10.9+
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1011

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

1999 Equity Participation Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Appendix | to the Company’s proxy statement filed on
April 1, 2004, File No. 000-26489)

Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
May 4, 2006)

Form of Option Amendment (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 4,
2006)

Executive Non-Qualified Excess Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Company’s Annua Report on Form 10-K filed
on February 11, 2009)

Encore Capital Group, Inc. 2005 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 15, 2009)

Amended Form of Stock Option Agreement for awards under the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on July 30, 2009)

Amended Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notice and Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on July 30, 2009)

Form of Split-Dollar Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
May 4, 2006)

Credit Agreement dated as of June 7, 2005 among Encore Capital Group, Inc., the Lenders from time to time parties thereto and
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Administrative Agent (the “ Credit Agreement”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 8, 2005)

Amendment No. 1 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 1, 2005)

Amendment No. 2, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 3, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 9, 2006)

Amendment No. 3, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of February 27, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2007)

Consent and Amendment No. 4 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2007)

Amendment No. 5 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 19, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 22, 2007)

Amendment No. 6 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of December 27, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 27, 2007)

Amendment No. 7 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of May 9, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 7, 2008)

Amendment No. 8 to the Credit Agreement, dated as of July 3, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 7, 2008)

Pledge and Security Agreement dated as of June 7, 2005, with respect to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 8, 2005)

Guaranty dated as of June 7, 2005, with respect to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’'s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 8, 2005)
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10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

1031

10.32

10.33

Severance protection letter agreement dated as of March 11, 2009 between the Company and J. Brandon Black (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 13, 2009)

Severance protection letter agreement dated as of March 11, 2009 between the Company and Paul Grinberg (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 13, 2009)

Asset Purchase and Forward Flow Agreement dated as of June 2, 2005 among Jefferson Capital Systems, LLC, Midland Funding LLC
and Encore Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
June 8, 2005)

Acknowledgement Agreement dated as of June 7, 2005 between CompuCredit Corporation and Midland Funding LLC (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 8, 2005)

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of August 30, 2005 among Ascension Capital Group, Ltd., Ascension Capital Management,
L.L.C,, The Erich M. Ramsey Trust, Erich M. Ramsey, Leonard R. Oszustowicz, Jeffrey J. Walter, Ascension Acquisition, LP, and
Encore Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
September 2, 2005)

Convertible Note Hedge Confirmation, dated as of September 13, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, National Association, an affiliate of J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 22, 2005)

Convertible Note Hedge Confirmation, dated as of September 13, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and Morgan
Stanley International Limited, an affiliate of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 22, 2005)

Convertible Note Hedge Confirmation, dated as of September 30, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and JPMorgan
Chase Bank, National Association, an affiliate of J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2005)

Convertible Note Hedge Confirmation, dated as of September 30, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and Morgan
Stanley International Limited, an affiliate of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2005)

Warrant Confirmation, dated as of September 13, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank,
National Association, an affiliate of J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on September 22, 2005)

Warrant Confirmation, dated as of September 13, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and Morgan Stanley International
Limited, an affiliate of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on September 22, 2005)

Warrant Confirmation, dated as of September 30, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and JPMorgan Chase Bank,
National Association, an affiliate of J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2005)
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Warrant Confirmation, dated as of September 30, 2005, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and Morgan Stanley
International Limited, an affiliate of Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2005)

Lease Agreement, dated as of March 24, 2009, between Midland Credit Management India Private Limited, Dinesh Kumar and
Manmohan Gaind, for real property located in Gurgaon, India (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on April 29, 2009)

Lease Deed, dated as of April 22, 2009, between Midland Credit Management India Private Limited and R.S. Technologies Private
Limited, for real property located in Gurgaon, India (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed on April 29, 2009)

Sublease, dated as of March 31, 2008, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and FMT Services, Inc., for real property located
in St. Cloud, Minnesota (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
August 4, 2008)

Multi-Tenant Net Commercial Lease, dated as of February 20, 2008, by and between Encore Capital Group, Inc. and Pranjiwan R.
Lodhiaand LolitalLodhia, for real property located in Phoenix, Arizona (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 4, 2008)

Sublease, dated as of February 12, 2004, by and between Southwestern Bell Telephone, L.P. and Ascension Capital Group, Inc., as
successor ininterest to Ascension Capital Group, Ltd., for real property located in Arlington, Texas (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.39 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 8, 2010)

Assignment and Consent to Assignment of Sublease, dated as of August 18, 2005, by and between DBSI Housing, Inc., Ascension
Capital Group, Ltd., Encore Capital Group, Inc., Ascension Acquisition, L.P., now known as Ascension Capital Group, Inc., and
Southwestern Bell Telephone, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
on February 8, 2010)

Credit Agreement dated as of February 8, 2010 by and among Encore Capital Group, Inc., the Lenders from time to time parties
thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (the “2010 Credit Agreement”) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 8, 2010)

Pledge and Security Agreement dated as of February 8, 2010 with respect to the 2010 Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 8, 2010)

Guaranty dated as of February 8, 2010 with respect to the 2010 Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 8, 2010)

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement by and between George Lund and Encore Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 17, 2010)

Amendment No. 1 to the Credit Agreement, dated September 20, 2010, by and among the Company, the financial institutions listed
on the signatures pages thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. as collateral agent and administrative agent (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 23, 2010)

Amendment No. 2 to the Credit Agreement, dated September 21, 2010, by and among the Company, the financial institutions listed
on the signatures pages thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. as collateral agent and administrative agent (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 23, 2010)

Lease Deed, dated as of October 26, 2010, between Midland Credit Management India Private Limited and R.S. Technologies Private
Limited, for real property located in Gurgaon, India (filed herewith)
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21 List of Subsidiaries (filed herewith)

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, BDO USA, LLP, dated February 14, 2011 to the incorporation by
reference of their report dated February 14, 2011, in the Company’s Registration Statements on Form S-8 (filed herewith)

24 Power of Attorney (filed herewith)

311 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to rule 13-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (filed herewith)

31.2 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to rule 13-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (filed herewith)

321 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley act of 2002 (furnished herewith)

* The asterisk denotes that confidential portions of this exhibit have been omitted in reliance on Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. The confidential portions have been submitted separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission.
+  Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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Section 2: EX-3.3(BYLAWYS)

Exhibit 3.3

BYLAWS
OF
ENCORE CAPITAL GROUP, INC.
As amended through February 8, 2011

|. REFERENCES TO CERTAIN TERMS AND CONSTRUCTION

1.01. Certain References. Any reference herein made to law will be deemed to refer to the law of the State of Delaware, including any applicable
provision of Chapter 1 of Title 8 of the Delaware Code, or any successor statutes, as from time to time amended and in effect (sometimes referred to
herein asthe “ Delaware General Corporation Law”). Any reference herein made to the corporation’s Certificate will be deemed to refer to its
Certificate of Incorporation and all amendments thereto as at any given time on file with the Delaware Secretary of State (any reference herein to
that office being intended to include any successor to the incorporating and related functions being performed by that office at the date of the
initial adoption of these Bylaws). Except as otherwise required by law, the term “ stockholder” as used herein shall mean one who is a holder of
record of shares of the corporation.

1.02. Seniority. The law and the Certificate (in that order of precedence) will in al respects be considered senior and superior to these Bylaws,
with any inconsistency to be resolved in favor of the law and such Certificate (in that order of precedence), and with these Bylaws to be deemed
automatically amended from time to time to eliminate any such inconsistency which may then exist.

1.03. Computation of Time. The time during which an act is required to be done, including the time for the giving of any required notice herein,
shall be computed by excluding the first day or hour, as the case may be, and including the last day or hour.

I1. OFFICES

2.01. Principal Office. The principal office or place of business of the corporation in the State of Delaware shall be the registered office of the
corporation in the State of Delaware. The corporation may change its registered office from time to time in accordance with the relevant provisions
of the Delaware General Corporation Law. The corporation may have such other offices, either within or without the State of Delaware, asthe Board
of Directors may designate or as the business of the corporation may require from time to time.

[1l. STOCKHOLDERS

3.01. Annual Stockholder Meeting. The annual meeting of stockholders shall be held on such date and at such time as shall be designated
from time to time by the Board of Directors and stated in the notice of the meeting, at which meetings the stockholders shall elect by a plurality vote
members of the Board of Directors and transact such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting.

3.02. Special Stockholder Meetings. Unless otherwise prescribed by law or by the Certificate of Incorporation, special meetings of
stockholders, for any purpose or purposes, may be called by the Chairman of the Board (or in his or her absence, the Vice Chairman) or the Chief
Executive Officer, and shall be called by the Chief Executive Officer or the Secretary upon awritten request signed by at least three members of the
Board of Directors, or of the holders of at least amajority of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote thereat. Any such
written request by stockholders shall state the purpose or purposes of the proposed meeting, and business to be transacted at any such meeting
shall be confined to the purposes stated in the notice thereof and to such additional matters as the chairman of the meeting may rule to be germane
to such purposes.

3.03. Notice of Stockholders Meetings.



(a) Required Notice. Except as otherwise allowed or required by law, written notice stating the place, day and hour of any annual or special
stockholders meeting shall be given not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled
to vote at such meeting and to any other stockholder entitled to receive notice of the meeting by law or the Certificate. Such notice may be given
either personally or by sending a copy thereof through the mail, by telegraph, by private delivery service (including overnight courier), or by
facsimile transmission, charges prepaid, to each stockholder at his/her address as it appears on the records of the corporation. If the noticeis sent
by mail, by telegraph or by private delivery service, it shall be



deemed to have been given to the person entitled thereto when deposited in the United States mail or with atelegraph office or private delivery
service for transmission to such person. If the notice is sent by facsimile transmission, it shall be deemed to have been given upon transmission, if
transmission occurs on abusiness day before 5:00 p.m. at the place of receipt, and upon the business day following transmission, if transmission
occurs after 5:00 p.m.

(b) Adjourned Meeting. If any stockholders meeting is adjourned to a different date, time, or place, notice need not be given of the new date,
time, and place, if the new date, time, and place are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken. But if the adjournment is for more
than thirty (30) days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, then notice of the adjourned meeting shall be
given to each stockholder of record entitled to such notice pursuant to Section 3.03(a) above.

(c) Waiver of Notice. Any stockholder may waive notice of ameeting (or any notice of any other action required to be given by the Delaware
General Corporation Law, the corporation’s Certificate, or these Bylaws), at any time before, during, or after the meeting or other action, by awriting
signed by the stockholder entitled to the notice. Each such waiver shall be delivered to the corporation for inclusion in the minutes or filing with the
corporate records. Attendance of a stockholder at a meeting shall constitute awaiver of notice of the meeting, except when the stockholder attends
ameeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not
lawfully called or convened.

(d) Contents of Notice. The notice of each special stockholders meeting shall include a description of the purpose or purposes for which the
meeting is called. Except asrequired by law or the corporation’s Certificate, the notice of an annual stockholders meeting need not include a
description of the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called.

3.04. Fixing of Record Date. For the purpose of determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders or any
adjournment thereof, or in order to make a determination of stockholders for any other proper purpose, the Board of Directors may fix a date asthe
record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board of Directors. In
the case of determining stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, such record date
shall not be more than sixty (60) days nor less than ten (10) days prior to the date of such meeting. In the case of determining stockholders entitled
to consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, the record date shall not be more than ten (10) days after the date upon which the
resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board of Directors. In the case of determining stockholders entitled to receive payment of any
dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights or the stockholders entitled to exercise any rightsin respect of any change, conversion or
exchange of stock, or for the purpose of any other lawful action, the record date shall be not more than sixty (60) days prior to such action. If no
record dateis so fixed by the Board of Directors, the record date for the determination of stockholders shall be as provided in the Delaware General
Corporation Law.

When a determination of stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of stockholders has been made as provided in this
Section, such determination shall apply to any adjournment thereof, unless the Board of Directors fixes a new record date.

3.05. Stockholder List. The officer who has charge of the stock ledger of the corporation shall make, at |east ten (10) days before every
mesting of stockholders, acompletelist of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, arranged in al phabetical order, and showing the address
and the number of shares held by each. The stockholder list shall be available for inspection by any stockholder, for any purpose germane to the
meeting, during ordinary business hours, for aperiod of at |east ten (10) days prior to the meeting at a place within the city where the meeting isto
be held, which place shall be specified in the meeting notice, or, if not so specified, at the place where the meeting isto be held. Thelist shall also be
produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and may be inspected by any stockholder who is present.
Except as otherwise provided by law, failure to comply with this section shall not affect the validity of any action taken at the meeting.

3.06. Stockholder Quorum and V oting Requirements. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate or these Bylaws or required by law,

(a) amgjority of the shares entitled to vote, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum at a meeting of stockholders;



(b) in all matters other than the election of directors, the affirmative vote of the majority of shares voting for or against the subject matter shall
be the act of the stockholders;

(c) directors shall be elected by a plurality of the votes cast at the meeting; and

(d) where a separate vote by aclass or classesisrequired, amajority of the outstanding shares of such class or classes, present in person or
represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum entitled to take action with respect to that vote on that matter and the affirmative vote of the
majority of shares of such class or classes present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting shall be the act of such class.

Except as provided below, voting will be by ballot on any question asto which aballot vote is demanded prior to the time the voting begins
by any person entitled to vote on such question; otherwise, avoice vote will suffice. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate, all elections of
directorswill be by written ballot. No ballot or change of vote will be accepted after the polls have been declared closed following the ending of the
announced time for voting.

3.07. Proxies. At all meetings of stockholders, a stockholder may votein person or by proxy duly executed in writing by the stockholder or the
stockholder’s duly authorized attorney-in-fact. Such proxy shall comply with law and shall be filed with the Secretary of the corporation or other
person authorized to tabulate votes before or at the time of the meeting. No proxy shall be valid after three (3) years from the date of its execution
unless otherwise provided in the proxy. The burden of proving the validity of any undated, irrevocable, or otherwise contested proxy at a meeting
of the stockholders will rest with the person seeking to exercise the same. A facsimile appearing to have been transmitted by a stockholder or by
such stockholder’s duly authorized attorney-in-fact may be accepted as a sufficiently written and executed proxy.

3.08. Voting of Shares. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate or the Delaware General Corporation Law, each outstanding share entitled
to vote shall be entitled to one (1) vote upon each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of stockholders.

3.09. Election Inspectors. The Board of Directors, in advance of any meeting of the stockholders, may appoint an election inspector or
inspectors to act at such meeting (and at any adjournment thereof). If an election inspector or inspectors are not so appointed, the chairman of the
meeting may, or upon request of any person entitled to vote at the meeting will, make such appointment. If any person appointed as an inspector
failsto appear or to act, a substitute may be appointed by the chairman of the meeting. If appointed, the election inspector or inspectors (acting
through amajority of them if there be more than one) will determine the number of shares outstanding, the authenticity, validity, and effect of
proxies, the credentials of persons purporting to be stockholders or persons named or referred to in proxies, and the number of shares represented
at the meeting in person and by proxy; will receive and count votes, ballots, and consents and announce the results thereof; will hear and determine
al challenges and questions pertaining to proxies and voting; and, in general, will perform such acts as may be proper to conduct elections and
voting with complete fairnessto all stockholders. No such election inspector need be a stockholder of the corporation.

3.10. Organization and Conduct of Meetings. Each meeting of the stockholders will be called to order and thereafter chaired by the Chairman
of the Board of Directorsif thereisone, or, if not, or if the Chairman of the Board is absent or so reguests, then by the Vice Chairman or the Chief
Executive Officer, or if both the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer are unavailable, then by such other officer
of the corporation or such stockholder as may be appointed by the Board of Directors. The corporation’s Secretary or in hisor her absence, an
Assistant Secretary will act as secretary of each meeting of the stockholders. If neither the Secretary nor an Assistant Secretary isin attendance,
the chairman of the meeting may appoint any person (whether a stockholder or not) to act as secretary for the meeting. After calling a meeting to
order, the chairman thereof may require the registration of all stockholders intending to vote in person and the filing of all proxieswith the election
inspector or inspectors, if one or more have been appointed (or, if not, with the secretary of the meeting). After the announced time for such filing
of proxies has ended, no further proxies or changes, substitutions, or revocations of proxieswill be accepted. If directors are to be elected, a
tabulation of the proxies so filed will, if any person entitled to vote in such election so requests, be announced at the meeting (or adjournment
thereof) prior to the closing of the election polls. Absent a showing of bad faith on his or her part, the chairman of a meeting will, among other
things, have absolute authority to fix the period of time allowed for the registration of stockholders and the filing of proxies,



to determine the order of business to be conducted at such meeting, and to establish reasonable rules for expediting the business of the meeting
and preserving the orderly conduct thereof (including any informal, or question and answer portions thereof).

3.11. Stockholder Approval or Ratification. The Board of Directors may submit any contract or act for approval or ratification of the
stockholders at aduly constituted meeting of the stockholders. Except as otherwise required by law, if any contract or act so submitted is approved
or ratified by amajority of the votes cast thereon at such meeting, the same will be valid and as binding upon the corporation and all of its
stockholders asit would beif it were the act of its stockholders.

3.12. Informalities and Irregularities. All informalities or irregularitiesin any call or notice of a meeting of the stockholders or in the areas of
credentials, proxies, quorums, voting, and similar matters, will be deemed waived if no objection is made at the meeting.

3.13. Stockholder Action by Written Consent. Any action required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the stockholders may be taken
without ameeting if one (1) or more consentsin writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by the holders of outstanding stock
having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares entitled
to vote thereon were present and voted. Each consent shall bear the date of signature of each stockholder who signs the consent. The consents
shall be delivered to the corporation in accordance with law for inclusion in the minutes or filing with the corporate record. Prompt notice of the
taking of corporate action without a meeting by less than unanimous written consent shall be given to those stockholders who have not consented
to the action.

3.14. Nomination of Directors. Only persons who are nominated in accordance with the following procedures shall be eligible for election as
directors of the corporation. Nominations of personsfor election to the Board of Directors may be made at any annual meeting of stockholders
(a) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized commit tee thereof) or (b) by any stockholder of the corporation (i) who is
astockholder of record on the date of the giving of the notice provided for in this Section 3.14 and on the record date for the determination of
stockholders entitled to vote at such annual meeting and (ii) who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 3.14.

In addition to any other applicable requirements, for anomination to be made by a stock holder, such stockholder must have given timely
notice thereof in proper written form to the Secretary of the corporation, as prescribed below.

No person shall be elected to the Board of Directors of this corporation at an annual meeting of the stockholders, or at a special meeting
called for that purpose, unless, with respect to a person nominated by a stockholder of the corporation, awritten notice of nomination of such
person by the stockholder shall have been received by the Secretary of the corporation not earlier than one hundred and twenty (120) days and not
later than ninety (90) days prior to the anniversary date of the immediately preceding annual meeting if an annual meeting, or seven (7) days after
notice of the meeting is mailed to stockholdersif a special meeting. Each such notice shall set forth: (a) the name and address of the stockhol der
who intends to make the nomination and of the person or persons to be nominated; (b) arepresentation that the stockholder is a holder of record of
stock of the corporation entitled to vote at such meeting (including the number of shares of stock of the corporation owned beneficially or of record
by such stockholder and the nominee or nominees) and intends to appear in person or by proxy at the meeting to nominate the person or persons
specified in the notice; (c) adescription of all arrangements or understandings between the stockholders and each nominee and any other person or
persons (naming such person or persons) pursuant to which the nomination or nominations are to be made by the stockholder; (d) such other
information regarding each nominee proposed by such stockholder as would have been required to be included in a proxy statement filed pursuant
to the proxy rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission had each nominee been nominated, or intended to be nominated, by the Board of
Directors; and (€) the consent of each nominee to serve as a director of the corporation if so elected.

No person shall be eligible for election as a director of the corporation unless nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this
Section 3.14. If the chairman of the meeting determines that a nomination was not made in accordance with the foregoing procedures, the chairman
shall declare to the meeting that the nomination was defective and such defective nomination shall be disregarded.



Notwithstanding compliance with the foregoing provisions, the Board of Directors shall not be obligated to include information asto any
stockholder nominee for director in any proxy statement or other communication sent to stockholders.

3.15. Business at Annual Meetings. No business may be transacted at an annual meeting of stockholders, other than businessthat is either
(a) specified in the notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors (or any duly authorized
committee thereof), (b) otherwise properly brought before the annual meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors (or any duly
authorized committee thereof) or (c) otherwise properly brought before the annual meeting by any stockholder of the corporation (i) who is a stock
holder of record on the date of the giving of the notice provided for in this Section 3.15 and on the record date for the determination of stockholders
entitled to vote at such annual meeting and (ii) who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 3.15.

In addition to any other applicable requirements, for business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder, such
stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in proper written form to the Secretary of the corporation.

To betimely, astockholder’s notice to the Secretary must be delivered to or mailed and received at the principal executive offices of the
Company not earlier than one hundred and twenty (120) days and not later than ninety (90) days prior to the anniversary date of the immediately
preceding annual meeting of stockholders; provided, however, that in the event that the annual meeting is called for a date that is not within thirty
(30) days before or after such anniversary date, notice by the stockholder in order to be timely must be so received not later than the close of
business on the tenth day following the day on which such notice of the date of the annual meeting was mailed or such public disclosure of the
date of the annual meeting was made, whichever first occurs.

To bein proper written form, a stockholder’ s notice to the Secretary must set forth as to each matter such stockholder proposesto bring
before the annual meeting (i) abrief description of the business desired to be brought before the annual meeting and the reasons for conducting
such business at the annual meeting, (ii) the name and record address of such stockholder, (iii) the class or series and number of shares of capital
stock of the corporation that are owned beneficially or of record by such stockholder, (iv) adescription of all arrangements or understandings
between such stockholder and any other person or persons (including their names) in connection with the proposal of such business by such
stockholder and any material interest of such stockholder in such business and (v) arepresentation that such stockholder intends to appear in
person or by proxy at the annual meeting to bring such business before the meeting.

No business shall be conducted at the annual meeting of stockholders except business brought before the annual meeting in accordance with
the procedures set forth in this Section 3.15, provided, however, that, once business has been properly brought before the annual meeting in
accordance with such procedures, nothing in this Section 3.15 shall be deemed to preclude discussion by any stockholder of any such business. If
the chairman of an annual meeting determines that business was not properly brought before the annual meeting in accordance with the foregoing
procedures, the chairman shall declare to the meeting that the business was not properly brought before the meeting and such business shall not
be transacted.

IV. BOARD OF DIRECTORS
4.01. General Powers. The business and affairs of the corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors.

4.02. Number, Tenure, and Qualification of Directors. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate, the authorized number of directors shall be
not less than one nor more than twelve. The number of directorsin office from time to time shall be within the limits specified above, as prescribed
initialy in the Certificate, or by the incorporator or incorporators of the corporation, or by theinitial director or directors of the corporation and
thereafter as prescribed from time to time by resolution adopted by either the stockholders or by the Board of Directors upon the affirmative vote of
amajority of the directorsthen in office. The Board of Directors, upon the affirmative vote of amajority of the directors then in office, shall have the
power to increase or decrease its size within the aforesaid limits and to fill any vacancies that may occur in its membership, whether resulting from
an increase in the size of the Board or otherwise. Each director shall hold office until his or her successor shall have



been duly elected and qualified or until hisor her earlier resignation or removal. Unless required by the Certificate, directors do not need to be
residents of the State of Delaware or stockholders of the corporation.

4.03. Regular Meetings of the Board of Directors. A regular annual meeting of the Board of Directorsisto be held as soon as practicable after
the adjournment of each annual meeting of the stockholders, either at the place of the stockholders meeting or at such other place asthe directors
elected at the stockholders meeting may have been informed of at or prior to the time of their election. Additional regular meetings may be held at
regular intervals at such places and at such times asthe Board of Directors may determine.

4.04. Specia Meetings of the Board of Directors. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be held whenever and wherever called for by
the Chairman of the Board, the Vice Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, or the number of directors that would be required to
constitute a quorum.

4.05. Notice of, and Waiver of Notice for, Directors Meetings. No notice need be given of regular meetings of the Board of Directors. Notice of
the time and place (but not necessarily the purpose or all of the purposes) of any special meeting will be given to each director in person or by
telephone, or viamail or facsimile transmission or electronic transmission (which shall include electronic e-mail viathe internet). Notice to any
director of any such special meeting will be deemed given sufficiently in advance when (i), if given by mail, the same is deposited in the United
States mail at least four (4) days before the meeting date, with postage thereon prepaid, (ii), if given by facsimile or electronic transmission, the same
istransmitted at least 24 hours prior to the convening of the meeting, or (iii), if personally delivered (including by overnight courier) or given by
telephone, the same is handed, or the substance thereof is communicated over the telephone to the director or to an adult member of hisor her
office staff or household, at |east 24 hours prior to the convening of the meeting. Any director may waive notice of any meeting and any
adjournment thereof at any time before, during, or after itisheld, as provided by law. Except as provided in the next sentence below, the waiver
must be (a) in writing, signed by the director entitled to the notice, and filed with the minutes or corporate records, or (b) by electronic transmission
identifying the party waiving notice, and printed out in paper form and filed with the minutes or corporate records. The attendance of adirector at a
meeting shall constitute awaiver of notice of such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting, at the
beginning of the meeting, to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

4.06. Director Quorum. A majority of the total number of directorsthen in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at
any meeting of the Board of Directors, unless the Certificate requires a greater number.

4.07. Directors, Manner of Acting.

(a) The affirmative vote of amgjority of the directors present at a meeting at which aquorum is present shall be the act of the Board of
Directors unless the Certificate or these Bylaws require a greater percentage and except as otherwise required by law.

(b) Unless the Certificate provides otherwise, any or all directors may participatein aregular or special meeting by, or conduct the meeting
through the use of, conference telephone or similar communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting may hear
each other, in which case any required notice of such meeting may generally describe the arrangements (rather than or in addition to the place) for
the holding thereof. A director participating in ameeting by this means is deemed to be present in person at the meeting.

(c) A director who is present at a meeting of the Board of Directors or acommittee of the Board of Directors when corporate actionistakenis
deemed to have assented to the action taken unless: (1) the director objects at the beginning of the meeting (or promptly upon his/her arrival) to
holding it or transacting business at the meeting; or (2) his’her dissent or abstention from the action taken is entered in the minutes of the mesting;
or (3) he/she delivers written notice of his/her dissent or abstention to the presiding officer of the meeting before its adjournment or to the
corporation before 5:00 p.m. on the next business day after the meeting. The right of dissent or abstention is not available to adirector who votesin
favor of the action taken.

4.08. Director Action Without a Meeting. Unless the Certificate provides otherwise, any action required or permitted to be taken by the Board
of Directors at ameeting may be taken without a meeting if the action is taken by unanimous written consent of the Board of Directors as evidenced
by one (1) or more written consents describing the action taken, signed by each director and filed with the minutes or proceedings of the Board of
Directors.



4.09. Removal of Directors by Stockholders. Except as limited by law, to the extent provided in the Certificate, any director or the entire Board
of Directors may be removed, with or without cause, by the holders of two-thirds of the shares entitled to vote at an election of directors.

4.10. Board of Director Vacancies. Unless the Certificates provides otherwise and except as otherwise provided by law, any vacancy or newly
created directorship may befilled by a magjority of the directors then in office, although less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director.

4.11. Director Compensation. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate, by resolution of the Board of Directors, each director may be paid
his/her expenses, if any, of attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof, and may be paid a stated salary as
director or afixed sum for attendance at each meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof, or both. No such payment shall preclude
any director from serving the corporation in any capacity and receiving compensation therefor.

4.12. Director Committees.

(a) Creation of Committees. Unless the Certificate provides otherwise, the Board of Directors may create one (1) or more committees and
appoint members of the Board of Directors to serve on them. Each committee shall have one (1) or more members, who serve at the pleasure of the
Board of Directors.

(b) Selection of Members. The creation of acommittee and appointment of membersto it shall be approved by the greater of (1) two-thirds of
al the directorsin office when the action is taken or (2) the number of directors required by the Certificate to take such action. The Board of
Directors may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any
meeting of the committee. In the absence or disqualification of any member of a committee, the member or members thereof present at any meeting
and not disqualified from voting, whether or not he/she or they constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the Board of
Directorsto act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or disqualified member.

(c) Required Procedures. Sections 4.03 through 4.08 of this Article 1V, which govern meetings, action without meetings, notice and waiver of
notice, and quorum and voting requirements of the Board of Directors, apply to committees and their members.

(d) Authority. Unless limited by the Certificate and except to the extent limited by law, each committee may exercise those aspects of the
authority of the Board of Directors which the Board of Directors confers upon such committeein the resolution creating the committee.

4.13. Director Resignations. Any director or committee member may resign from his or her office at any time by written notice delivered to the
corporation as required by law. Any such resignation will be effective upon its receipt unless some later timeistherein fixed, and then from that
time. The acceptance of aresignation will not be required to make it effective.

4.14. Interested Directors. No contract or transaction between the corporation and one or more of its directors or officers, or between the
corporation and any other corporation, partnership, association, or other organization in which one or more of its directors or officers are directors
or officers, or have afinancial interest, shall be void or voidable solely for this reason, or solely because the director or officer is present at or
participatesin the meeting of the Board of Directors or committee thereof which authorizes the contract or transaction, or solely because such
director’svote is counted for such purposeif (i) the material facts asto such director’s relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction
are disclosed or are known to the Board of Directors or the committee, and the Board of Directors or committee in good faith authorizes the contract
or transaction by the affirmative votes of amajority of the disinterested directors, even though the disinterested directors be | ess than a quorum; or
(ii) the material facts as to such director’ s relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the
stockholders entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by vote of the stockholders; or (iii) the
contract or transaction isfair asto the corporation as of thetime it is authorized, approved or ratified, by the Board of Directors, acommittee thereof
or the stockholders. Interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of aquorum at a meeting of the Board of Directorsor of a
committee which authorizes the contract or transaction.



V. OFFICERS

5.01. Number of Officers. The officers of the corporation shall be a Chief Executive Officer, a President, a Secretary, and a Treasurer, each of
whom shall be appointed by the Board of Directors. Such other officers and assistant officers as may be deemed necessary, including any Vice
Presidents, may be appointed by the Board of Directors. If specifically authorized by the Board of Directors, an officer may appoint one (1) or more
other officers or assistant officers. The same individual may simultaneously hold more than one (1) officein the corporation.

5.02. Appointment and Term of Office. The officers of the corporation shall be appointed by the Board of Directorsfor aterm as determined
by the Board of Directors. The designation of a specified term grants to the officer no contract rights, and the Board of Directors can remove the
officer at any time prior to the termination of such term. If no term is specified, an officer of the corporation shall hold office until he or she resigns,
dies, or until he or sheisremoved in the manner provided by law or in Section 5.03 of this Article V. The regular election or appointment of officers
will take place at each annual meeting of the Board of Directors, but elections of officers may be held at any other meeting of the Board.

5.03. Resignation and Removal of Officers. An officer may resign at any time by delivering written notice to the corporation. A resignation is
effective when the notice is delivered unless the notice specifies alater effective date or event. Any officer may be removed by the Board of
Directors at any time, with or without cause. Such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed.
Appointment of an officer shall not of itself create contract rights.

5.04. Duties of Officers. Officers of the corporation shall have authority to perform such duties as may be prescribed from time to time by law,
in these Bylaws, or by the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer, or the superior officer of any such officer. Each officer of the corporation
(inthe order designated herein or by the Board) will be vested with all of the powers and charged with all of the duties of his or her superior officer
in the event of such superior officer’s absence, death, or disability.

5.05. Bonds and Other Requirements. The Board of Directors may require any officer to give bond to the corporation (with sufficient surety
and conditioned for the faithful performance of the duties of his or her office) and to comply with such other conditions as may from timeto time be
required of him or her by the Board of Directors.

5.06. Chief Executive Officer. Unless otherwise specified by resolution of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer shall be the
principal executive officer of the corporation and, subject to the control of the Board of Directors, shall supervise and control all of the business
and affairs of the corporation and the performance by all of its other officers of their respective duties and in general shall perform all dutiesincident
to the office of Chief Executive Officer and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time. The Chief Executive
Officer shall, when present, and in the absence of a Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board, preside at all meetings of the stockholders and of the
Board of Directors. The Chief Executive Officer will be a proper officer to sign on behalf of the corporation any deed, bill of sale, assignment, option,
mortgage, pledge, note, bond, evidence of indebtedness, application, consent (to service of process or otherwise), agreement, indenture, contract,
or other instrument, except in each such case where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors or by
these Bylaws to some other officer or agent of the corporation, or shall be required by law to be otherwise signed or executed. The Chief Executive
Officer may represent the corporation at any meeting of the stockholders or members of any other corporation, association, partnership, joint
venture, or other entity in which the corporation then holds shares of capital stock or has an interest, and may vote such shares of capital stock or
other interest in person or by proxy appointed by him or her, provided that the Board of Directors may from time to time confer the foregoing
authority upon any other person or persons.

5.07. The President. If appointed, the President shall have, subject to the control of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer,
general and active supervision and direction over the business and affairs of the corporation and over its several officers. If appointed, in the
absence of the Chief Executive Officer or in the event of his/her death or disability, the President shall perform the duties of the Chief Executive
Officer, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to al the restrictions upon the Chief Executive Officer. The President will be
aproper officer to sign on behalf of the corporation any deed, bill of sale, assignment, option, mortgage, pledge, note, bond, evidence of
indebtedness, application, consent (to service of process or otherwise), agreement, indenture, contract, or other instrument, except in each such
case where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors or by these Bylaws to some other officer or
agent of



the corporation, or shall be required by law to be otherwise signed or executed. The President may represent the corporation at any meeting of the
stockholders or members of any other corporation, association, partnership, joint venture, or other entity in which the corporation then holds
shares of capital stock or has an interest, and may vote such shares of capital stock or other interest in person or by proxy appointed by him or her,
provided that the Board of Directors may from time to time confer the foregoing authority upon any other person or persons. The President shall
perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him/her by the Chief Executive Officer or by the Board of Directors.

5.08. The Vice-President. If appointed, in the absence of the Chief Executive Officer and the President or in the event of their death or
disability, the Vice-President (or in the event there be more than one Vice-President, the Vice-Presidents in the order designated by the Board of
Directors from time to time, or in the absence of any such designation, then in the order of their appointment) shall perform the duties of the Chief
Executive Officer, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to al the restrictions upon the Chief Executive Officer. If thereis
no Vice-President or in the event of the death or disability of all Vice-Presidents, then the Treasurer shall perform such duties of the President in the
event of hisor her absence, death, or disability. Each Vice-President will be a proper officer to sign on behalf of the corporation any deed, bill of
sale, assignment, option, mortgage, pledge, note, bond, evidence of indebtedness, application, consent (to service of process or otherwise),
agreement, indenture, contract, or other instrument, except in each such case where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated
by the Board of Directors or by these Bylaws to some other officer or agent of the corporation, or shall be required by law to be otherwise signed or
executed. Any Vice-President may represent the corporation at any meeting of the stockholders or members of any other corporation, association,
partnership, joint venture, or other entity in which the corporation then holds shares of capital stock or has an interest, and may vote such shares
of capital stock or other interest in person or by proxy appointed by him or her, provided that the Board of Directors may from time to time confer
the foregoing authority upon any other person or persons. A Vice-President shall perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to
him/her by the Chief Executive Officer or the President or by the Board of Directors.

5.09. The Secretary. The Secretary shall: (a) keep the minutes of the proceedings of the stockholders and of the Board of Directors and any
committee of the Board of Directors and all unanimous written consents of the stockholders, Board of Directors, and any committee of the Board of
Directorsin one (1) or more books provided for that purpose; (b) seethat all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these
Bylaws or as required by law; (c) be custodian of the corporate records and of any seal of the corporation; (d) when requested or required,
authenticate any records of the corporation; (€) keep aregister of the address of each stockholder which shall be furnished to the Secretary by such
stockholder; and (f) in general perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to
him/her by the Chief Executive Officer or the President or by the Board of Directors. Except as may otherwise be specifically provided in aresolution
of the Board of Directors, the Secretary will be a proper officer to take charge of the corporation’s stock transfer books and to compile the voting
record pursuant to Section 3.05 above, and to impress the corporation’s seal, if any, on any instrument signed by the Chief Executive Officer, the
President, any Vice President, or any other duly authorized person, and to attest to the same. In the absence of the Secretary, a secretary pro
tempore may be chosen by the directors or stockholders as appropriate to perform the duties of the Secretary.

5.10. The Treasurer. The Treasurer shall: (a) have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds and securities of the corporation;
(b) receive and give receipts for moneys due and payabl e to the corporation from any source whatsoever, and deposit al such moneysin the name
of the corporation in such bank, trust companies, or other depositories as shall be selected by the Board of Directors or any proper officer; (c) keep
full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursementsin books and records of the corporation; and (d) in general perform all of the duties
incident to the office of Treasurer and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him/her by the Chief Executive Officer or the
President or by the Board of Directors. The Treasurer will render to the Chief Executive Officer, the President, the directors, and the stockholders at
proper times an account of all his or her transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the corporation. The Treasurer shall be
responsible for preparing and filing such financial reports, financial statements, and returns as may be required by law.

5.11. Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers. The Assistant Secretaries and the Assistant Treasurers, when authorized by the Board
of Directors, may sign with the Chief Executive Officer, the President or aVice-President certificates for shares of the corporation, the issuance of
which shall have been authorized by aresolution of the Board of Directors. The Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers, in general, shall
perform such duties



as shall be assigned to them by the Secretary or the Treasurer, respectively, or by the Chief Executive Officer, the President or the Board of
Directors.

5.12. Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board. The Board of Directors may appoint a Chairman and a Vice Chairman of the Board. If
appointed, the Chairman, and if not present, the Vice Chairman, will preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and be vested with such other
powers and duties as the Board of Directors may from time to time delegate to him or her.

5.13. Salaries. Subject to the requirements of applicable law or the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, Nasdaq
or any other exchange on which the corporation’s securities are listed, the salaries of the officers of the corporation may be fixed from time to time
by the Board of Directors or acommittee thereof or (except asto the Chief Executive Officers’ own) left to the discretion of the Chief Executive
Officer. No officer will be prevented from receiving a salary by reason of the fact that he or she is also adirector of the corporation.

5.14. Additional Appointments. In addition to the officers contemplated in this Article V, the Board of Directors may appoint other agents of
the corporation with such authority to perform such duties as may be prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors.

VI. CERTIFICATES FOR SHARES AND THEIR TRANSFER
6.01. Certificatesfor Shares.

(a) Content. Certificates representing shares of the corporation shall, at aminimum, state on their face the name of the issuing corporation and
that it isformed under the laws of the State of Delaware, the name of the person to whom issued, and the number and class of shares and the
designation of the series, if any, the certificate represents. Such certificates shall be signed (either manually or by facsimile to the extent allowable
by law) by any of the Chairman of the Board, the Vice Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the President, or any Vice-President and
by the Secretary or any assistant secretary or the Treasurer or any assistant treasurer of the corporation, and may be sealed with a corporate seal or
afacsimile thereof. Each certificate for shares shall be consecutively numbered or otherwise identified and will exhibit such information as may be
required by law. If asupply of unissued certificates bearing the facsimile signature of a person remains when that person ceases to hold the office
of the corporation indicated on such certificates or ceases to be the transfer agent or registrar of the corporation, they may still be issued by the
corporation and countersigned, registered, issued, and delivered by the corporation’s transfer agent and/or registrar thereafter, as though such
person had continued to hold the office indicated on such certificate.

(b) Legend asto Class or Series. If the corporation is authorized to issue different classes of shares or different series within aclass, the
powers, designations, preferences, and relative, participating, optional, or other special rights applicable to each class or series and the
qualifications, limitations, or restrictions of such preference and/or rights shall be set forth in full or summarized on the front or back of each
certificate asrequired by law. Alternatively, each certificate may state on its front or back that the corporation will furnish a stockholder this
information on request and without charge.

(c) Stockholder List. The name and address of the person to whom shares are issued, with the number of shares and date of issue, shall be
entered on the stock transfer books of the corporation.

(d) Lost Certificates. In the event of the loss, theft, or destruction of any certificate representing shares of the corporation or of any
predecessor corporation, the corporation may issue (or, in the case of any such shares asto which atransfer agent and/or registrar have been
appointed, may direct such transfer agent and/or registrar to countersign, register, and issue) anew certificate, and cause the same to be delivered
to the registered owner of the shares represented thereby; provided that such owner shall have submitted such evidence showing the
circumstances of the alleged loss, theft, or destruction, and his, her, or its ownership of the certificate, as the corporation considers satisfactory,
together with any other facts that the corporation considers pertinent; and further provided that, if so required by the corporation, the owner shall
provide abond or other indemnity in form and amount satisfactory to the corporation (and to its transfer agent and/or registrar, if applicable).

6.02. Registration of the Transfer of Shares. Registration of the transfer of shares of the corporation shall be made only on the stock transfer
books of the corporation. In order to register atransfer, the record owner shall



surrender the shares to the corporation for cancellation, properly endorsed by the appropriate person or persons with reasonabl e assurances that
the endorsements are genuine and effective. Unless the corporation has established a procedure by which abeneficial owner of shares held by a
nominee isto be recognized by the corporation as the owner, the corporation will be entitled to treat the registered owner of any share of the capital
stock of the corporation as the absolute owner thereof and, accordingly, will not be bound to recognize any beneficial, equitable, or other claim to,
or interest in, such share on the part of any other person, whether or not it has notice thereof, except as may expressly be provided by applicable
law, including as may be contemplated by Title 6, Subtitle I, Article 8 of the Delaware code (or any comparable successor statutes), asin effect from
timetotime.

6.03. Shares Without Certificates. The Board of Directors may authorize the issuance of uncertificated shares by the corporation and may
prescribe procedures for the issuance and registration of transfer thereof and with respect to such other matters as the Board of Directors shall
deem necessary or appropriate.

VII. DISTRIBUTIONS

7.01. Distributions. Subject to such restrictions or requirements as may be imposed by applicable law or the corporation’s Certificate or as may
otherwise be binding upon the corporation, the Board of Directors may from time to time declare, and the corporation may pay or make, dividends or
other distributionsto its stockholders.

VIII. CORPORATE SEAL

8.01. Corporate Seal. The Board of Directors may provide for acorporate seal of the corporation that will have inscribed thereon any
designation including the name of the corporation, Delaware as the state of incorporation, the year of incorporation, and the words “ Corporate

IX. AMENDMENTS

9.01. Amendments. If the Certificate so provides, the corporation’s Board of Directors may amend or repeal the corporation’s Bylaws unless
the Certificate or the Delaware General Corporation Law reserve any particular exercise of this power exclusively to the stockholdersin whole or
part; provided, that any amendment of the corporation’s Bylaws that revises the requirement in Section 4.02 and/or Section 4.12 for an affirmative
vote of at least two-thirds of the corporation’ s directors then in office shall require the affirmative vote of at |east two-thirds of the corporation’s
directorsthen in office. The corporation’s stockhol ders may amend or repeal the corporation’s Bylaws by the affirmative vote of the holders of at
least two-thirds of the issued and outstanding capital stock of the corporation entitled to vote thereon, even though the Bylaws may also be
amended or repealed by its Board of Directors.
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LEASE DEED

This Lease Deed (hiis "Deed”) is made and executed at Gurgaon, Haryana on the 26* day of October,
2000, between:

Midland Credit Management India Private Limited, a company incorparaied under the provisions
of the Companies Act. having its registered office a1 Regus Centre. Eros Corporate Towers, Level 15,
Nehr Place, New Delhi-1 10019 (hercinafter referred to as the "Lessee™ which expression shall,
unless it be repugnant 1o the subject or context, include its successors and assigns), acting through its
authorized signatory, Mr. Manu Rikhye, duly authorized by a resolution of its hoard of directors
dated June 28, 2010 16 sign this Deed on its behalf,

AND

R.5. Technologics Private Limited, a company incorporated under the Companics Act, with its
registered office ot B-4/13, Safdarjung Enclave, Mew Delhi-110029 (hereinafter refemred to as the
"Lessor™, which expression shall, umless it be repugnant to the subject or context inchude s
successors and permitted assigns), acting through its authorized signatory. Mr. Pawan Kumar, duly
authorized by a resolution of its board of directors passed at their mecting held on April 1. 2009, 1o
sign this Decd on its behall.

The Lessor and the Lessee may hercinafier individually be referred 1o as the "Party” and collectively
as the “Parties”.

WHEREAS:

A The Lessor represents that it is the absolule owner of and is in possession of a plot hearing
no. 28-P. Sector 44, Urban Estate, Tehsil and District Gurpgaon, measuring 5,139 (Five
Thewsand One Hundred And Thirty Mine) square meters (the “Land”). allotted to it by the
Haryana Urban Development Authority (“HUDA™), Gurgaon through an allotment etier
dated December 4, 2003, The Lessor has constructed mullistoried buildings on the Land
{hereinafier referred to as portions Tower *A* and Tower *B°).

B. Out of the said multi storied buildings. the Lessec was granted kease hold rights to 83.000
{Lighty Three Thousand) square feet (super area) comprising of entire Tower *A’ by way of
lease deed dated April 28, 2009 excouted between the Lessor and the Lessoe ("Tower A
Lease Deed ™). In terms of the Tower A Lease Deed, in addition to grant of lease hold rights
10 83,000 (Eighty Three Thousand) square feet (super area), the Lessee was granted exclusive
right 1o use of terraces abowe the fourth floor, the *Gym’, *Facilitics Room’, “Storage Space’,
and 9% (ninety six) reserved dedicated slots for parking at Basement Level | and Baserent
Level 2. The *Gym’, *Fagilities Room’ and the *Storage Space” shall collectively be referred
1o a5 “Facility Areas”.

[ The Lessor is now desirous of leasing cut 28500 (vwenty eight thousand and live hundred)
square feet (super anea) of Tower “B’, constitutive of the ground, first, second, third, fourth,
and fifth Noors more particularly deseribed in Annexure | {collectively referred 1o as
“Demised Premises™ ), along with the exclusive right 1o use (free of any charges):

the Comimon Ancas:

(i)




(i) any and all wility arcas (except Reserved Arcas) within the Land. including but not
limited 1o the Facility Areas (as an extension of Lesses’s exclusive right of usape
under the Tower A Lease Deed), *UPS Room”, lerraces above the fifth floor and 31
reserved dedicated slots for parking at Basement level | oand Basement level I,
{collectively “Exclasive Areas™). It iz clarified that in the event of termination of
Tower A Lease Deed. the right of the Lessee to the Facility Arcas shall continue 1o
exist, subject 10 sharing of the same with other prospective tenants/occupicrs,

On the request of the Lessee. the Lessor has agreed 1o gram on lease the Demised Premises
1o the Lessce 1o sel-up, maintain and operate any business including but not limited 1o data
processing call centre related to back office operations for all 1ypes of busincsses such as
credit collections, geographic information system. insurance, financial, human resource
serviees, IT support management and other business outsourcing solutions of all types
{collectively refemed to as “Business Operations™) along with exclusive seeess 1o the
Exclusive Arcas and Common Arcas.

The Partics wish 1o enter into this Deed 1o record the terms end conditions on which the
Demised Premises shall be given on lese by the Lessor o the Lessee,

THE PARTIES TO THIS DEED HAVE AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

1.

DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

Delinitions

In this Deed, unless the context otherwise requires:

= AfMiliate” means, in relation 1o the Lessee, (i) any company or other entity in which the
Lessee or Lessee's hobding company or |essee’s subsidiary has any form of investment
{including but not limited 1o investment by way of equity); (i} any company or other cntity
which has any form of investment {including but not limited 1o investment by way of equity)
in the Lessee or Lessee's holding company or Lessee’s subsidiary,

“Business Operations” has the meaning ascribed 1o it in Recial 1

“CCTY System” has the meaning ascribed 1o it in Clause 4.4;

“Companies Aet”™ means the Companies Act, 1956;

“Common Areas” shall mean the entire Land (excliding the Demised Premises, Reserved
Arcas. Exclusive Arcas and Tower A} and shall include but not be limited 1o the driveway,
fountain area, passage and lawn:

“Deed™ shall mean this lease deed, as amended from time to time, as per the terms hereol:
“Defaulting Party” has the meaning aseribed 10 it in Clause 7.5;

“Demised Premises” has the meaning ascribed to it in Recital O




“Exclusive Areas™ has the meaning ascribed to it in Recital C;

“Facility Areas” has the meaning ascribed 1o it in Recital B;

“First Party” has the meaning aseribed 1o it in Clause 12.3;

*Force Majeure” means any war, civil commedtion, lerrorist acts, riots, strike fexcept sirikes
by the Lessees cmplovecs), govenmental action in the form  of any
sealing/scizure/orders/penalties. lockout, accident. epidemic, acts of god. including withoul
limitation fire, storms, Moods, earthquake or lightning or any other event of any natune or
kind whatsoever bevond the control of the Paries that dircctly or indirectly hinders or
prevents the Lessee from sccessing o using the Demised Premises, the Exclusive Arcas or
the Common Areas:

“HUBRA™ has the maaning ascribed 1o it in Recital A;

“Installations™ has the meaning mcribed 10 it in Clause 4.2;

“Land™ has the meaning ascribed o it in Recial A;

*Lock-in Period” has the meaning secribed to it in Clause 3.2

“Maintenance Agency” has the meaning ascribed 1o it under the Maintenance Agreement;
“Maintenance Agreement” has the meaning ascribed 1o it in Clause 5.1 (1)

“Maintenance Deposit™ has the meaning ascribed 10 it under the Maintenance Agresiment:
“Non-Defaulting Party” has the meaning ascribed to it in Claus: 7.3;

“Parking Area" his the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 9.1:

“Rent” has the meaning ascribed 10 it in Clause 5.1;

“Rent Commencement Date” has the meaning ascribed o it i Clase 2.3;

“Rent Escalation™ has the meaning ascribed to it in Clawse 5.4:

“Reserved Areas” shall mean the “Electrical Panel Room’, the *2 Security Guard Rooms" on
the Ground Level, 1 Store Room, 1 Cloak Room in Basement level 11 and the Lessor's office;

*security Deposit™ has the meaning ascribed 1o it in Clawse 6.1:
“Term™ has the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 3,17
“Tower A Lease Deed™ has the meaning ascribed to it in Recital By

“Tower A™ his the meaning ascribed to it in Recitl A
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“Tower B has the meaning ascribed 1o it in Recital A.
Interpretation

In this Deed:

{a) References [o any statute oF statulory. provision or onder or negulation made there
under shall inclide that statwie, provision, order or regulation as amended, modified.
re-enacted or replaced from time to time whether before or after the date hereof.

(b}  References 1o persons shall include body comorate, unincorporated associations.
parincrships and any organisation or emity having legal capacity.

(€} Headings 1o Clauses are for information only and shall not form part of the operative
provisions of this Deed and shall not be taken into consideration in its interpretation
OF construction.

(dy References 10 Recitals, Clouses or Annexurcs are, unless the confext othorwine
requires, arc references o recitals, clauses of annexures of this Deed.

e} Unless the context otherwise nequires, reference 1o one pender includes a reference 1o
the other, words importing the singular include the plurul and vice versa,

(f References 1o the words Tinclude” or “including” shall be construed as being suffived
by the tenm “without limitation®.

(g} Any reference 1o time shall be taken 1o be a reference 1o Indian Swandard Time.

{h) All capitalised terms in this Deed which are not defined herein shall have the seme
meaning as in the Dead,

GRANT OF LEASE

In consideration of the Rent and Security Deposit, hereinafier specified, the Lessor granis,
demises and leases unto the Lessee. the Demised Premises during the Term subject 1o and in
accordance with the terms and conditions of this Deed. The right granted 1o the Lessee under
this Deed 1o the Demised Premises shall include the exclusive right of the Lessee 1o use the
Exclusive Arcas and the Common Areas, both free of any charge.

The Lessee shall have the exclusive right to the wnrestricted and unfetiered use and
enjoyment of and access 1o the Demised Premises, Exclusive Arcas and the Common Arcas
and the Lessee shall be free to set-up. maintain and operate the Business Operations therein
in a manner as may be permissible under applicable Lw.

The Liessor shall hand over peaceful, vacant and physical posscssion of the Demised Premises
1o the Lessee on November 1, 2010 (“Rent Commencement Date™).
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1.5

TERM AND TERMINATION

Subject to carlier termination of this Deed in accordance with the terms hereof, the lerm of
the lease of the Demised Premises shall commence on the Rent Commencement Date and
end on October 31, 2019 (“Term ™). The Lessce may al iis sole option seck renewal of the
Deed by giving the Lessor an advance written notice of 6 (six) months prior 1o the expiry of
the Term. The terms of such renewal shall be mutually agreed between the Partics 3 (three)
months befiore the expiry of the Term.

There shall be a leck in period of 12 {welve) months (“Lock-in-Period™) from the Rent
Commencement Date during which, neither Party can 1erminate the Deed, subject 1o Clause
331 and 3 4.

Termination by the Lessce
Termination prior to the Lock-in-Period

The Lessee shall have the right 1o terminate the Deed prior 1o the Lock-in-Period in the event
of default, non-observance or breach by the Lessor of this Deed or due 1o the occurrence of
an event of Force Majenre as per Clause 123 or if the Lessor s declared bankrupt or
becomes insolvent or makes an assignment for the benetit of creditors. In case, the Lessee
terminates the lease or vacates the premises (other than due to any default, non-ohservance or
breach by the Lessor of this Deed or due to the occumence of an event of Farce Mujenre or
bankrmupicy of the Lessor) prior to the expiry of the Lock-in-Period, it will be liable to pay
Rent for the remaining Lock-in-Period,

Termination afier the expiry of the Lock-in-Period

Subject to Clause 3.2 and in addition 1o any other remedy available 1o the Lesse under law,
during the Term. the Lessee shall have the right 1o terminate the lease afier expiny of the
Lock-in-Period by giving (a) 6 (six) months written notice or () 3 (three) months” Rent in
liew thereof, without assigning amy reasons whatsoever.

This [eed may also be terminated by the Lessee in the event of Force Majeure as per Clause
123

Termination by Lessor

In the event of any two consecutive defaulis in payment of Rent by the Lessee, the Lessor
may forthwith at its sole discretion and in addition 1o any other remedy in law available 1w
him, give 15 (fificen) days notice period 1o the Lessee to remedy the default and upon the
Lessce filing 1o rectify the default within the notice period. terminate the Lease Deed and be
entitled to take peaceful and vacant possession of the Demised Premises from the Lessee,

Upon expiry of the Term hereof or carlier termination of the Deed as per the terms hereof,
the Leszor shall refund the Security Deposit and eause refund of the Maintenance [heporsit b
the Lessee without any interest, simultancously upon the Lessee surmendering the peacefil,
vacant possession of the Demised Premises in a clean and clear condition, subject to normal
wear and tear and deduction of any unpaid Rent and any other ducs payahle by the I.cs!-u. o
the Lessor undr.‘r:lbelmm of this Deed. In the event that Lessor fails o
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Deposit or couse refund of the Mainienance Deposit in accordance with the Deed, after
making adjustment of dues if any, the Lessee shall have the right 1o (i) retain the possession
of the Demised Premiscs without the payment of any Rent from the date of expiry or carlier
termination of this Deed 1o the date of actual repayment of the Security Deposit and (i)
claim simple interest at the rle of 18% (cighteen percent) per annum on the Security [eposit
from the date of expiry of the Term or the earlier termination of this Deed, until actual
payment of the Security Deposit by the Lessor,

HANDOVER OF POSSESSION AND FIT-0OUTS

The Lessor shall, on the Rent Commencement Date, handover peaceful. vacant and physical
possession of the Demised Premises, the Exclusive Areas along with the Common Arcas 10
the Lessee.

The Lessor confinms and agrees that the Lessee shall be permitted 1o execute and underake
at its own cost. but without damaging the main structure of the Demised Premises. additional
installations., panitions, fitments in any manner (collectively referred 10 as “Installations™)
{the absolute ownership of which, subject to Clause 4.3, shall remain that of the Lessee froe
and clear of any claim by the Lessor), using contractors selected by the Lessee, as may be
necessary for the Lessee's use of the Demised Premises, the Exclusive Arcas or the Common
Areas, without the requirement of any approval from the Lessor. The lavout of the fit-outs of
the Lessee will be shared with the Lessor and shall be as per buiding by-liws.

The Lessor confirms and agrees that it will a1 its own cost and expenses procure the proper
ventilation of the Moors, basements, lifis, lobbics and staircises and ensure proger and
adequate smoke extraction system in the Basement kevel | and Basement level 2 as per fire
norms and all other applicable laws, including but not limitzd to the Mational Building
Coxdes. This will be completed within two months from the Rent Commencement Date.

The Lessor further confinms and agrees thal:

(i} the genermor setup arca in Basement level | and Bascment level 2 shall be chosced
and made fire proofy

(i} the Lessor will at its own cost and expenses procure and insiall smoke exiraction
systern in Basement level 1 and Basement level 2;

(iin) the Lessor will at its own cost and expense procurs and install a closed-circuit
television system (“CCTY System™) (which will provide a backup of 60 (sixty)
davs and will include 16 (sixteen) cameras (o provide coverage of all Common
Arcas) in the external arca of the Demised Premiscs as well as in Basement level |
and Basement level 2. The Lessor shall also provide 8 (eight) additional cameras
which woukd be installed by the Lessee. The CCTV System shall be integrated with
the closed-circuit television system of the Lessee, The integration cost, if any, shall
b borme by the Lessee,

The actions in Clause 4.4 (), (if) and (iii) will be completed by the Lessor within two momhs
from 1the Rent Commencement Diate.




4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

The Lessor funher conlirms and agrees that it will provide a1 s own cost and expense
“ductable split air-conditioning” for the entire Demised Premises in accordance with the
requirements prescribed by the Lessee. The Lessee will inform the Lessor of such
requiremient 60 (sixty) days in advance and the Lessor shall be required io provide the
*ductable split air-conditioning” within such notice perind of 60 (sixty) days. It is herchy
clarified that the annual mainienance charges incurred on the alr-conditioning system
procured and provided by the Lessor will be borne and paid by the Lessor or Maintenance
Ay,

The Lessor confirms that the Demised Premises has two semi-fumished toilets on cach Moor
{onc for men and one for women) and undertakes 1o provide the additional equipments
already procured by it by the Rent Commencement Date. The installation however, of such
equipments shall be undertaken by the Lessee,

The Lessor confirms and agrees that it will enswre that all lifts sre operational by the Rent
Commencement Date.

The Lessee, al its sole discretion, shall upon termination of this Decd, subject o Clause 4.5,
have the right 10 remove all or par of any [nstallations made by the Lessee in the Demised
Premises. the Exclusive Arcas and the Common Areas without damaging the structure.
Further, the Lessee may at its sole discretion scll the Installations in the Demised Premises,
the Exclusive Areas or the Common Areas to the Lessor a1 a mutoally agreeable price.

RENT AND OTHER CHARGES

During the Term hereol, the Lessee shall pay to the Lessor total rent of Rs. 22.51 500
(Rupees Twenty Two Lakhs Fifty One Theusand and Five Hundred Only) per month
(“Hent™) plus service tax as applicable, caloulated as follows:

(i) Ra. 79 (Rupees Seventy Nine Only) per square fool per month, for the 1o1al anca of
4016 (four thousand and sixteen) square feet rented on the ground Moo of Demised
Premises aggregating to Rs.3,17,264 (Rupees Three Laklis Seventeen Thousand Two
Hundred and Sixty Four Only)

(i) s, 79 (Rupees Seventy Mine Only) per square fool per month, for the 1oial arca of
4.26% (four thousand two hundred and sixty nine) square feetl rented on the first Moor
of Demised Premises aggregating to Rs. 3.37.251 (Rupecs Three Lakhs Thiny Seven
Thousand Two Hundred and Fifty One Onlv);

(i} Rs.79 (Rupees Seventy Nine Only) per square foor per month, for the total arcn of
4,837 (four thousand cight hundred and thimy seven) square feet rented on the
second floor of Demised Premises aggrepating to Rs.3.82.123 (Rupees Three Lakhs
Eighty Two Thousand One Hundred and Twenty Three Only);

(iv)  Ra.79 (Rupces Seventy Nine Only) per square fool per month. for the total area of
4.837 (four thousand eight hundred and thirty seven) square fieet rented on the thind
Noor of Demised Premises aggregating to Rs.3.82.123 (Rupees Three Lakhs Eighty
Twa Thousand One Hundred and Twenty Three Only):
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(v) Rs. 79 (Rupeces Seventy Nine Only) per square foot per month. for the toml anca of
4,837 { four thousand eight hundred and thiny seven) square feet rented on the fourth
floor of the Demised Premises apgregating 1o R3.3,82,123 (Rupees Three Lakhs
Fighty Twa Thousand One Hundred and Twenty Three Only kand

(vi)  Rs.79 (Rupees Seventy Nine Only) per square fool per month, for the total area of
5,704 (five thousand seven hundred and four) square leet rented on the fifih foor
with the exclusive right 1o use the termces of the Demised Premises aggregating o
Rs.4,50.616 (Rupecs Four Lakhs Fifty Thousand Six Hundred and Sixteen Only.

The Lessee agrees 1o pay the Lessor, subject 1o applicable max and statutory deductions. Rent
per month in advance on or prior 1o 10" (tenth) day of the relevam English calendar month
(in respect of which the Rent is due). If such day is not a business day then the Rent will be
due on the following business day. The payment may be made to the Lessor by o crossed
secount payee demand drafl o crossed account payee cheque or any mode of clectronic
transler. The Lessee shall be liable 1o pay simple interest on the outstianding amount of Remt
(0 1 8% per annum in the event of non-payment of Rent for a period of 30 (thirty) days from
the date when it becomes due.

The Rent for Demised Premises shall become payable by the Lessee to the Lessor from the
Rent Commencement Date,

The Partics agree that there will be an escalation in the Kent (and proportionate increase in
the security deposit), equivalent to fifteen pereent (15%) over the last Rent paid. at the end of
every 3 (three) vears of the Term. Such escalated Rent shall also be refemmed o as the “Reat
Exsealation”, The first escalation shall be effective from the cxpiry of 3 (three) years from the
Kent Commencement Date (ie. November 1, 2013) and the second escalation will be
effective from 6 (six) years from the Remt Commencement Date (i.e. November 1, 2016).

SECURITY DEPOSIT

An imerest free refundable security deposit (“Security Deposit™) equivalent 1o 4.5 (four and
a half y months" Rent, amownting 1o Rs_1.01.31.750 (Rupees Onz Crore One Lakh Thiry One
Thousand Seven Hundred and Fifty Only) shall be payable by the Lessee upon execution of
this lease Deed.

The Security Deposit shall be refunded by the Lessor 1o the Lessee without any interest,
upon expiry of the Term hereof or earlier lermination of the Dead as per the terms hereof,
simultaneously upon the Lessee surmendening the peaceful, vacant possession of the Demised
Premises in i clean and clear condition, subject to nommal wear and sear and deduction of any
unpaid Rent and any other dues pavable by the Lessee to the | essor under the terma of this
Dexd.

In the event that Lessor fails to refund the Security Deposit in accordance with the Deed,
after making adjustment of ducs il any, the Lessee shall have the right to (i) retain the
possession of the Demised Premises without the payment of ans Bent from the date of expiry
or carlier termination of this Deed 10 the date of actual repayment of the Security Deposit;
and (ii) claim simple interest at the rate of 18% (cighteen percent) per annum on the Security
Deposit from the date of expiry of the Term or the earlier termination of this Deed, until
actual payment of the Security Deposit by the Lessor.




7.1

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

The Lessor makes the following represenations and warrantics:

[a)

(L]

<)

{d})

(&)

(n

g

{h}

(i1}

(k)

The Lessor is a begal entity duly incorporated and validly existing in accordance with
the laws of India.

The Lessor has full power and authority 1o enter into this Deed.

This Deed constitutes Lessor's legal, valid and binding obligations enforceable
against it in accordance with its lerms.

The Lessor has clear, absolute, unrestricted and unfetiered legal and marketable ke
and ownership rights to the Demised Premises and/or the Land.

The built-up area of the Demised Premises is within the permissible floor arca ratio
limit s may be prescribed by the siatutory authorities, including HLUIA.

The lease of the Demised Premises in terms of the Dead is in accordance with the
penmissible leasing limit as may be prescribed by the statory authorities, including
HUDA,

All structural construction activities on the Land have been fully completed.

The Lessor is authorised by iz memorandum and anticles of associstion and is
competent to enter into this Dead.

All necessary and applicable sanctions and approvals for water and power supply 1o
the Demised Premises, the Exclusive Arcas and the Common Areas have boen
ohtained by the Lessor.

The Demised Premiscs and'or the Land is free from any and all encumbrances, liens
and charges of any nature whatsoever except for charges existing for loans or
financial assistance taken by the Lessor from financial institutions as detailed in a
centificate dated August 10, 2010, provided by the Lessor on its letterhead 1o the
Lessee. The Lessor shall also inform the Lessec inowriting about any and all
encumbrances/charges crested alter signing of this Deed.

The Demised Premises, the Exclusive Areas and the Common Arcas conform to all
applicable laws and are constructad in accordance with the approved building plan,
permits or licenses. The Lessor further stmes that it has not received any motice of
non-compliance with any applicable kaws, in respect of the Demised Premises, the
Exclusive Arcas or the Commaon Arcas. which has not been remedied or which has
the potential effect of restricting the use of the Demised Premises, any of the
basement levels and the teraces thereol by the Lessee for the parposes sel out herein.
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The structural clements of the Demised Premises and'or the Land, including but not
limited 1o, the exterior walls, roof, comidors, load bearing walls, and foundstion are
(i) sound and in good working onder, condition and repair and free of deferred
maintenance issues: and (i) constructed in complinnce with all applicable building
bve laws in India including in relation to structural stability with particular ancntion
to the standards defined in relation to seismic risks.

The electrical load provided for the Demised Premiscs is 250 KVA which will be
available 10 the Lessee 24 (twenty four) hours per day, 7 (seven) days per week
throughout the year.

There ane no cxisling coun CAsEs, nestAclong. interests. encumbrances, charges, or
similar limitations or restrictions adversely affecting the unrestricted and unfettered
use and enjoyment by the Lessee of the Demised Premiscs andror the Land.

The Lessor has all the necessary approvals from the statwtory authorities, including
but not limited to the HUDA, required for entering into this Deed and for setting-up
of, maintaining and operating the Business Operations.

The Lessor in compliance with all applicable environmental laws in relation 1o the
Demised Premiscs andior the Land.

The Lessor is presently maintaining the lifis in the Demised Premises and the
Exclusive Areas and operating and running the same on 24 (lwenty four) hours per
day, T (seven) days per week throughout the year. Inspite of mechanical defects and
for electrical failure, the Lessor shall ensure that, one of the ifis in the Demised
Premises and the Exclusive Arcas shall always operate, including on public holidays.
Provided howewver, that the Lessee shall, il required as per applicable law. obtain
requisite permission for such operation from the concemed authorities. The Lessor
undertakes 1o keep and maintain the licenses required for the operation of the lifts in
the Demised Premises and the Exclusive Arcas for all times during the Term of this
Lense and to get the same inspected and certified pericdically, but no lner than as
required by the applicable laws, by the agency/company maintaining the lifts,

The fire fighting equipment and other support equipments and facilitics mect the
preseribed norms and codes of the relevant govemment authoritics or any subsequent
amendments thereol and shall also meet the minimum specifications and standards
preseribed under the applicable laws and regulntions. if any. and undertakes o
comply with all legal formalities and requirements in this regard.

Mo extra charges shall be levied by the Lessor in respect of the Exclusive Arcas and
the Common Areas made available to the Lessee.

That the Lessor has made provision of basic facilitics as contained in this Deed.
However, il any exira facility or change c.g. carth-pit. iclephone cable, any other
minor civil or electrical work is sought by the Lessec, it will be provided by the
Lessor provided that such changes do not result in any structural damage to the
Demised Premises. It is hereby agreed that any such changes afier expiny of 12
{twelve) months from the Rent Commencement Date shall be at Lessee’s cost.




7.3

LA

{u)  That the Lessor, under the terms of allotment from HUDA, shall always abide by the
HUDA guidelines norms in respect of sale/transfer of ownership rights,

The Lessor acknowledges thal the Lessor's representations and warranties in this Cliuse 7.1
are a material inducement 1o the Lessee’s entry into this Deed.

The Lessce makes the following representations and warmanties:

() The |essee is an entity duly incorporated and validly existing in accordance with the
laws of India.

(b The Lessee has full power and authority 10 enter into this Doed.

(c) The exccution of this Dieed is not prohibited by its constituent documents nor will its
execution contravene provisions of any applicable law or Deed or document 1o which
it s a party.

{d)  All the corporate approvals required for the execution of this Decd have been
obained.

(e} To maintain and use the facilities provided by the Lessor including but not limited 1o
the air conditioning svstem, garbage room, dumbwaiter and other Facility Arcas in
hygienic and acsthetic manner,

In the event that any Party’s representations and warrantics cease 1o be true and cormect at any
time during the Term (*Defaulting Party') then, without prejudice 10 any rights that may
acerue 1o the other Party (“Non-Defaulting Party™) pursuant to Clause 3 or Clawse 10, the
Defaulting Party shall immediately notify the Non-Defaulting 1"arty of the represcniationd s)
and warranty(ics) which have ceased 10 be true and comect and take corrective action(s) in
relation thereto, as may be mutually discussed between the Partics,

COVENANTS AND OBLIGATIONS
Thi Lessor covenants with the Lessee that during the Term it shall:

{a) Ensurc that the Lessee shall during the Term and have quiet. peacelul and exclusive
wse, enjoyment and possession of the Demised Premises, Exclusive Arcas and the
Common Arcas.

(b} The Lessee's employees, authorised represenbtives.  visilors, puesis, agents,
contractors, vendors etc. shall have absolwe and unrestricted use of and access 1o the
Demised Premises, the Exclusive Areas and the Commaon Arcas, at all times which
means 24 (twenty four) howrs per day, 7 (seven) days per week throughout the vear,

() Provide a scparate clectricity meter or sub-meter and o waiter meter compliant with
the applicable laws in respect of the Demised Premises o measure the intemmal
electricity consumption, i.e., electricity consumed within the Demized Premises and
the water consumption respectively.




(d)

(e}

(g)

(h}

(i)
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(k)
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{n)

Provide full support and cooperation to the Lessee for @ to obtain a “no objection
certificate’ and other requisite approval from the staulory authoritics for custom
bonding of the Demised Premises.

Keep the sewers. drains, lavatories, channels, walercourses, water pipes, sanitary
pipes, clectric cables and wires and supply line, under and upon the Demised
Premises, Exclusive Arcas and the Common Arneas in order.

Keep the Demised Premises, Exclusive Arcas and the Common Arcas (a5 applicable)
wind and water tight.

Operate and run a continuous, adequate and proper air conditioning system und
ensure air conditioning Facilities 1o ihe Demised Premises and the UPS Room for 24
(twenty four) hours per day, 7 (seven) days per week throughout the year.

Supply and maintain continuous 24 (twenty four) hours supply of clectricity from the
backup gencrators or other external sources, as the case may be, and ensurc
continuous supply of water by the Awthorities/other sources to the Demised Premises
Exclusive Areas and the Common Arcas.

Operate and maintain the Demised Premises, Common Arcas and the Exclusive
Areas consistent with such business practice and standards of maintenance wnd
insurance as are presently being provided in other corporate buildings and complexes
in the vicinity of the Land.

Permit the Lessee 1o install at its cost, its own card-key sceurity system.

Provide all necessary support, information & documents 10 the Lessee in
coordinating with Customs, STPI, VSNL or any other telecom body to install the
necessary communication equipment, including but not limited 10 the Microwave
Tower, and/or lease lines for satellite voice/data links.

Maintain at all times during the Term of this Deed adeyuate insurance in respect of
the Demised Premises, Exclusive Arcas and the Common Areas against loss due 1o
fire, riot, etc, and pay all premiums in respect of such insurance in a timely manner
and provide copics thereol 10 the Lessee. The Lessce will at its oplien get i
equipments, fumiture and fsiures ete, insured al ils own expenses,

Keep the Demised Premises, Exclusive Areas and the Common Arcas in good and
tenantable condition and 10 do all such structural and other repairs to the Demised
Premises as may be necessary for the convenience, occupation and enjoyment of the
[Demised Premises, the Exclusive Arcas and the Common Areas by the Lessee.

Pay/’ reimburse any and all costs incurred for all other exterior, structural and major
repairs to the Demised Premises, Exclusive Areas and the Common Arcas, including
the structure of the Demised Premises, Exclusive Arcas and the Common Arcas, rool
space, cxterior walls, load bearing walls. support beams, foundation, columns,
parking facilitics shall be provided for by the Lessor a its own cost and expense
provided that the cause for repair is not duc 1o any act or omission of the Lessee,
Such ms__urshll ned be reimbursed by the Lessee to the Lessor, The Lessor shall




(G

el

(q)

irh

(s}

ensure that any repairs and maintenance, construction or any other work that may be
required in the Demised Premises, Exclusive Areas and the Common Areas is done
in such o manner a5 not w interfere with or impair the L2ssec's use or occupancy of
the Demised Premises, Exclusive Areas and the Common Arcas and keeping in mind
acceplable noise and disturbance levels required for conduct of its business by the
Lessee. All repairs and maintenance performed by the Lessor will be of a first class
quality and done in a prompt. diligent and good workmamlike manner within a
reasonable period, subject 1o a maximum of 15 (filtcen) days from the defect being
brought to the notice of the Lessor by the Lessee. FProvided than if the Lessor is
unable or unwilling to carry out the repairs and maintenance as required by the
lLessee within the aforementioned period of 15 (filteen) days then the Lessee shall
have the right 1o carry out such repair andor maintenance work and adjust and sci-
ofl the costs and expenses incurred for such repairs and maintenance against the Rent
pavable 1o the Lessor.

Maintain the structural elements of the Diemised Premiscs, Exclusive Arcas and the
Common Areas as a first class building suitable for use. and shall maintain the
Demised Premises, Exclusive Areas and the Common Aneas in compliance with all
building and zoning codes and all other applicable codes, laws, ordinunces,
regulations. rules and notifications.

Abide by and comply with all laws, byve-laws. mlbes and regulations of the local
bofics and relevant authoritics including all permits, consents, certificates, approvals
and other permissions from all appropriate govemmental authoritics (including.
without limitation, the HUDA, Estate Officer ele.) necessary for the lawiul
occupancy of the Demised Premiscs and access 1o the Exclusive Areas and the
Common Arcas.

In the event the repairs performed by the Lessor, or the occurrence of an event nol
duc to the fault of the Lesser, that caused the repairs 1o be performed by the |Lessor
of the Lessce, impacts the ability of the Lessee o sse the Demised Premises,
Exclusive Arcas and the Common Arcas for its intended use, there shall be an
abatement of Rent payable for the portion that becomes unusable for Lessec’™s
Business Operttions from the date of the repairs performed by the Lessor or the
Lessee, or the occurrence of an event that caused the repairs to be performed by the
Lessor or the Lessee, till the date the Demised Premises, Exclusive Arcas and the
Common Areas is restored fo its former condition.

The Lessor shall give the Lessee a notice in writing within 7 (seven) days of ans
claim, litigation, proceeding or investigation which becomes known 1o it during the
Term relating to the Demiscd Premises andlor the Land or the irnsactions
contemplited under this Deed. Further, the Lessor undertakes to make good any loss
suffiered by the Lessee due to non-availubility of the Demised Premises and'or the
Land, on account of occurrence of such an event.

Lessor zhall not do or cause anything 1o be done with regard 1o the Facilitics extended
1o it by third party lenders, which results in thind party lenders taking possession of
the Demised Premises, Exclusive Arews and the Common Arcas and'or evicting the
Lessee from the Demised Premises, Exclusive Areas and the Common Arcas.
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The Lessor shall undertake the maintenance of the Demised Premises, the Fxclusive
Areas and the Common Arcas through the Maintenance Agency 1o be appointed in
terms of a separale mainienance agreement to be executed between the Lessee and
such Maintenance Agency (~Maintenance Agreementi™)

Undertake any construction activity on the Land, only with mutual written agreement
with the Lessec,

In the event of any action by the government or any regulatory authority (nof due to
the Lessee’s non-compliance with the terms of this Deed ) in relation o the Land and
mare particularly the Demised Premises on any account whatsocver, the Lessor shall
pay all fees, penakiics, fines including any the compound ing fee that may get pavable
in this regard.

The Parties acknowledge that the parent company of the Lessee, in its country of
incorporation. is subjected 1o certain specific legal requirements and compliances,
like Foreign Cormupt Practices Act ete. Accordingly, the Lessor herehy undenakes
that it shall a1 all times be in compliance with the provisions of the Forcign Corrupt
Practices Act.

In the event that any loss or damage is caused to any pant of the Demised Premise,
Exclusive Arcas or Common Arcas, due to water seepage of any other relatad reason,
the Lessor shall bear the entire cost in respect of the indemnification/repair of such
s or damage.

The Lessee covenants with the Lessor that during the Term i shall:

(a)

(b}

Pay 1o the Lessor, the Remt and all other amounts payvable by it under this Deed in
wecondence with the terms of this Decd.

Pay to the Lessor, waler, and electricity charges for the Demised Premises, The
Lessee shall pay 0% (ninety percent) of the bills of water and sewage charges for
the Demised Premises as per octual bills received by the Lessor by the rebevant
authorities | any other source of supply whereas the | essor shall bear the balance
10% (ten percent) of such charges, The Lessee shall pay such amounts within
I 5(fifeen) days of receipt of an invoice from the Lessor in this regard. For avoidance
of any doubt, it is clarified that eleciricity charges for all the basemem levels,
staireases, lifts, terraces and other extemal and Comman Areas outside the Demised
Premises shall be paid by the Lessor/ Maimtenance Agency. The Lessce will be liable
to pay eleetricity charges as per the sub-meter readings for the Demised Premises
provided that for (i) clectricity supply through State Electricity Board charpes shall
be paid as per the actual sub-meter readings and (i) supply through the diesel
gencrator scis ("G} charges shall be paid as per the number of units consumed as
per the sub-meter. The cost per unit for electricity from the 3G shall be caloulated on
the basis of the actual cost of consumables required to generate per unit of electricity
preavidded that (i) the Lessor shall install all necessary equipments for sy nchronization
of the DG within two months from  the Remt Commencement Date (i) the Lessor
shall make best efforts to economize the running of the G and shall keep the |essee
informed on a regular basis with regard 10 the means used by it for such
cconomization; and (i) the Lessor shall provide and cenify all supporting
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decumentation and invoices for determining such cost of consumables. 11 is clurificd
that Lessee shall be liable o pay minimum charges prescribed by the State Electricity
Roard or s per the actual invoice by the State Electricity Board as applicable on 250
KVA il such time the Lessee request for load greater than 250 KVA. All invoices
under this Clause pursuant 1o the charges that may be pavable by the Lessee
(inchsding service tax, il applicable) may be raised by the Lessor or the Maintenance
Agency. The Lessee shall accordingly make all payments towards such invoices 1o
the Lessor or the Maintenance Agency, as the case may be.

That the Lessee shall deliver the vacant possession of the Demised Premiscs and the
Exclusive Areas 1o the Lessor on the expiration or earlier termination of the [Deed
together with the Lessor®s fittings, fixtures in such repain or condition as is consistent
with the covenants and conditions of this Deed, (ther than due 1w any default or
breach by the Lessor of this Deed and subject to Clause 6.2, ifthe Lessee is unable o
handover the sacant possession of the Demised Premises and the Exclusive Arcas on
the expirtion or carlicr lermination of the Deed, the Lessee shall pay a sum of
Rs.50,000/- (Rupees Fifty Thousand Onaly) per day in addition to the Rent as
Liquidated Damages until delivery of vacant possessicn of the Demised Premises
and the Exclusive Arcas. Such payment of damages will be deemed as the
cumulative and not exclusive remedy between the Parties hereto for any such non
perfonmance of the obligation to vacate under this Deed.

Mot keep or stone within the Demised Premises and the Exclusive Areas any goods
which are of hazardous or combustible nature or otherwise are of a weight. as might
cause the occurrence of any haeard or affiect the structure of the Demised Premises
and the Exclusive Arcas or the lives of any individuals and other occupants within
the Demised Promises and the Exclusive Areas (including heahh of such
individuals).

Usze the Demised Premises, Exclusive Arcas and Common Arcas only for its and its
Afliliates” Business Operations and shall not carry on or permit to be camrsed on in
the Demised Promises, Exclusive Arcas and Common Arcas or in any part thercol
any activities which are or are likely to be unlawful. obiroxious or corse nuizance or
disturbance to other enants'occupants i the vicinity.

PARKING AREA AND ADIMTIONAL AMENITIES

Parking Arca

The Lessor shall during the Term provide the Lessee with a total of 31 (thirty one ) car
parking spaces in the Basement Level | and Basement Level 2 under the Land ("Parking
Area”) free of charge. In the event, the Lessor is not able to provide the same: an amount of
Hs. 2,000 (Rupecs Two Thousand) per moath per car space shall be deducted from the Bent
payable to the Lessor,

Additional Amenitics

The Lessor shall provide to the Lessee, free of charge, the Exclusive Arcas and the Common

Avreas by the Rent Commencement Lrate.




10. INDEMNITY

1,1 The Lessor shall indemnify, defend and hold the Lessee, its Alliliates and their respective
officers and employees, harmless from und against any and all actions, costs (including but
not limited to atomeys cost), claims, demands, damages, losses and expenses that may arise
froan:

{a) the Lessor's non-compliance with its obligations and covenants under this Deed;

() any defects or deliciency or error or discrepancy or shoricoming in the title of the
Demised Premises andfor Land, or ony one clhiming title, right, interest in the
Demised Premises andlor Land, andior if it i found that approvalsiconscnis
including permission from all applicable statutory authorities like HUDA. with
reapect 1o usage of the Demised Premises and'or Land for setting-up of, maintaining
and operating the Business Operations, have not been obtained, or ane at any time
found 1o be or become ineffective for any reason whatsocver:

() the Lessor's failure to comply with the applicable laws, including the approvals,
licenses, registrations and consents obtained by the Lessor in respect of the Demised
Premises andfor the Land;

() any breach, defoct, deficiency or inadequacy in the Lessor's representations.
warrantics, covenant and agrecment set oul in this Deed:

(e} any interference with the Lessee's rights under this Deed whether by the Lessor or
any third party (including but not limited 1o a bank or financial institution});

in any inahility of the Lessee to excrcise its rights in accordance with this Deed due 1o
Lessor’s default:

4] Lessee's and its Affiliaie's use of the Demised Premises, Exclusive Areas or the
Commaon Areas in accordance with the Deed;

{h) any injury 1o an employee of the Lessee or its AfTiliate or any injury 10 a third pary
visitor on the Demised Premises, Exclusive Arcas or Cormon Arcas, including but
not limited 1o contractors. agents elc.., or damage 1o the property of the Lessee or is
Affiliate when such injury or damage i camsed due 1o material default on part of the
Lessor: or

(i any boss of business or revenue suffered by the Lessee or its Affilintes on account of
all or any of the Clauses 10,1 (a) to (h) as stated above.

1,2 This Clause 10 shall survive the expiration or termination of this Deed.

1. LESSOR'S RIGHT TO ENTER THE DEMISED PREMISES

1.1 The Lessor, through its duly authorised representative, shall have the right from time to time,
subject to a maximum of once in 2 (two) consecutive months, 1o enter the Demised Premises

during the normal business hours on any working day after providing the Lessoc mt least 7
(seven) days prior written notice for the purpose of inspecting the Demised P
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During such visit, the Lessee shall be at liberty 1o have its representative accompany the
Lessor's representative: it being clarified that the Lessor's representative shall carry an
appropriate identification and authority documents and shall undenake the inspection in a
MAnACr 50 a5 W0 nol chuse any inconvenience or interference 1o the Lessec’s business
opcrations.

GENERAL
Caosls

Execept as cxpressly otherwise provided in this Deed, cach of the Parties hereto shall bear its
own fegal, accountancy and other costs, charges and expenses connected with the
negotiation, prepasition and implementation of this Deed and any other document incidental
1o or referred 1o in this Deed, provided that the costs in respect of stamp duty and registration
charges of this Deed shall be bome equally by both the Pasties.

Assignment, Sub-lease or Sale

(a) In the event the Lessor sells or transfiers the Demised Premises, the Exclusive Arcas
of the Comman Arcas or pant thereof, either directly or indirectly (including by way
of merger or amalgamation), during the Term to any ihird party. the Lessor shall
ensure that such third party shall be bound by and adheres 1o the terms and
conditions of this Deed and ensure wninterrupted and pesceful enjovment of the
Demised Premises. the Exclusive Areas or the Common Areas by the Lessee for the
Term. In such an event the Deed shall attomed in Fovour of such third pany an the
same terms and conditions contained hercin by wav of an attornment decd (1o be
signed by the Lessee, Lessor and such third party) wherchy the new purchuser shall
confirm to all terms and conditions of this Deed and acknowledpe all outstanding
amounts paid by the Lessee to the Lessor whose benefit shall be transferred to such
third party. ‘The said transter shall be subject 1o the subsisting rights and fnterests of
the Lessee under this Deed, The Lessor shall ensere that the Lessee's rights herein
are preserved wnd such third panty executes all necessary documentis) {including an
attormment deed) in favour of the Lessee confinming that it shall be bound by and
wihere to the terms and conditions of this Deed. The Lessor in such event will inform
the Lessee in writing and the Lessee shall pay the Rent from the date of the sale to
such thind party. All cost'charges'expenses (including stamp duty and registration
charges, il any) arising from or relating to the transfer of the Deed to such third pany
will bome solely by the Lessor,

(t) In the event the Lessor decides 1o sccuritize the rentals with a bank financial
institutions, Lessor shall have the option to do so provided Lessee’s rights under this
Deed are not affected. In such an event, the Lessee agrees 1o coaperate with the
Lessor and provide all necessary documents as may be required for sccuritization of
the rentals with a bank/financial institution.

€} Druring the Term, Affiliates of the Lessee shall alse have the right to uwse and DECHPY
the Demised Premises, the Common Areas and the Exclusive Arcas. Fusther, Lessee
shall also have the right to sublease the Demised Premises 1o only multi national
corporations.af repute, with the prior consent of the Lessor, which such consent <hall

'y
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nol be unreasonably withheld. In case the Lessce is merged, consolidaed or
amalgamated with any other company as per the applicable Liw, then the new entity
resulting from such merger or consolidation shall be entitled to continue the hexse for
the balance Term and all the benefits and like-wise liable to discharge all the
obligations of the Lessce under the Deed as iff the Deed is executed between such
resultant entity and the Lessor, subject to fulfillment of all requirements as per
applicable law, Notwithstanding anything otherwise provided in this Deed, all the
rights enjoyed by the Lessee in terms of this Decd, shall also be enjoyved by the
Adliliates of the Lessee without any additional cost.

idi Right of First Refusal:

Afler expiry of the Term, any transferleaselicense or  proposal 1o
transfen/lease license by the Lessor, of all or any portion of the Demised Premises or
the Exclusive Arcas or the Common Arcas to any third party, shall be subject 1o
Lessew™s right of renewal of this Deed as per Clause 3.1, 1t is hereby agroed between
the Partics that in the event the Lessee exeércises. its option 1o renew the Dead as per
Clause 3.1, the Lessor shall be bound to grant such renewal.

Farce Majeure

Failure on the pan of cither Party to perform any of its obligations hereunder ("First Farty™)
shall not entitle the other Party 1o raise any claim against the First Party 1o the cxtent that
such failure of the First Pany arises from the occurrence and continuation of an event of
Force Majeure. [T through Force Majeure the Talfillment by either Pany of any obligation sct
forth in this Deed will be delaved, the period of such delay will not be counted in computing
the periods prescribed by this Deed, Any Party failing 1o perform its obligations under this
Deed because of occurrence and continuation of Farce Majenre shall give notice in writing
to the other Party of such Force Majeare as soon as possible after such occummence, Any
Party hereto who fails because of Foree Majewre 10 perform his obligntions hereunder will
upon the cessation of Force Mujerre, 1ake all reasonable steps within its power 1o resume,
with the least possible delay. compliance with its obligations hercunder, 17 the Fovoe Majeare
shall continue for a period excecding 30 (thirty) days, the Lessee shall be entitled to
terminate the Deed with immediate effect without payment of any remt or other costs
whatsoever,

Sigmage

The Lessee shall have the rght o use. aftix or exhibit any name plates or any writings or any
sign boards at the extenal facade of the Demised Premises as well as within the Demised
Premises, subject to local kaws, the absolute ownership of which shall remain thar of the
L.essee free and clear of any claim by the Lessors, and which is ta be remaved by the Lessee,
al the time of Lessee vacating the Demised Premises. The Lessee shall be entitled 10 use the
terrace of the Demised Premises for its publicity, hoardings, neon signs cte. The Lessee shall
solely bear the cost of punting up and installing any such signage on the Demised Premiscs.
For avoidance of any doubt it is clarified that the Lessor shall not charge any rent or any
amount whatsaever from the Lessee for putling up o installing any signage pursuant 1o this
Clause except any charges is imposed by any govemment suthority for affixing hibiting
of such signages.
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The Lessor shall assist and cooperate with the Lessee in obtaining necessary permissions
from governmental authorities and other authorities or adjoining ewners and occupants for
the Lessee to place or construct signage in and on the Demised Premises as permitted
hereunder,

The Lessor and'or its affiliates shall not have any right 1o place or affix their own, or any
other third party’s name plates, writings or sign boards etc. af any plice in the Land except
the Reserved Arcas. the entry and exit of the Complex or any such place where the essor is
required as per applicable liw 1o affix its own or third party’s name plates, writings or sign
baoairds etc.

Property and Municipal Tax

Al incidences of taxes or kevies on property with respect to the Demised Premises, Exclusive
Areas and Commaon Areas before the Rent Commencement Date,  shall be solely bome by
the Lessor. Property tax or levy on the Demised Premiscs, Exclusive Arcas or Comimon
Areas levied or demand rised by the stwutory authoritics in respect of the Demised
Premises, Exclusive Areas or Common Arcas for 2 tax. for the duration of the Term from the
Rent Commencement [Xate, shall be bome equally by the Parties,

GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

The validity, construction and performance of this Deed shall be construed and the legal
relations between the Panics hereto shall be determined and governed according to the laws
of India. The Partics agree 1o the jurisdiction of the courts of Gurgaon, Haryana.

RELATIONSHIP

Mo provision of this Deed shall be decmed o constilute a parinership or joint venture
between the Partics.

Mo provision of this Decd shall constitute either Party as the legal representative or agent of
the ather, nor shall either Party have the right or authority o assume, creale or incur any
linkility or any obligation of any kind, express or implicd, against, or in the name of, or on
behalf of the other Party.

Mo person employed by cither Party for the performance of its obligations under this Deed
shall be deemed 1o be an employee of the other Party. Each Party shall be responsible for the
payment of all salarics, employment benefits. etc. with respect 10 all persons wha are
engaged by it for the performance of any obligations under this Deed and such person shall
not be entitled to any salary benefit or any other claim whatzoever from or against the other
Party.

NOTICE

Save as otherwise specifically provided in this Deed. any notice, demand or other
communication shall be in writing and be served under this Deed may be served upon any
Farty hereto only by registered speed post acknowlbedgement due or delivering the same by
couricr o the Party 10 be served at its address below, , or i such other address of number as
it may from time to time notify in writing to the other Pary heret.
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'S Nameofthe Party | Concerned Official | Address

Mo
|| RS Technologies Private Limited | Director Branch Dffice: 77-
{Lessor) A, Soctor-18,
IFFCO Road,

| Ciurgaon-12201%

|
2 | Midland Credit Management India | CEO Plot No. 28-P,
Put, Ladl, (1Lessec) ' Scctor-44, Gurgaon
= 122002

A nodice or demand served by registered speed post acknowledgement due or courier shall be
deemed duly served 48 (forty-cight) hours after posting and in proving service of the same it
will be sufficient 0 prove, in the case of a letier, that such letter was sent properly by
registercd post, addressed and placed in the post, in the case ol courier. that the letter was
addressed and delivered 1o the courier company at the address refzrred 10 above,

MISCELLANEOUS

Waiver

{a) The failure of either Party 10 enforee, in any one or more instances, performance of
any of the terms, covenants or conditions of this Deed shall not be construed as
waiver or a relinguishment of any right or claim granted or arising hereunder or of
the future performance of any such term. covenant, or condition, and such failune
shall in no way affect the validity of this Deed or the rights and obligations of the
Parties hereto. The Parties acknowledge that a waiver of any term of provision hercof
miay enly be given by a writlen instrument executed by each Pany hereto.

tb}  Any express waiver by either Pary of any default by the other Party shall not
constitute a waiver of any other default by the defauliing Party or a waiver of any of
the non defaulling Party's right.

Entire Deed

This Deed constitutes the entire Deed between the Pasties and revokes and supersedes all
previous Deeds between the Partics. conceming the maniers covered herein whether writien
oral or implied. The terms and condition of this Deed shall not be changed or modified
except by written amendments duly agreed between the Parties,

Severability

Any provision of this Deed which is prohibited, unenforceable or is declarsd or found to be
illegal, unenforceable or void in any jurisdiction shall, as 1o such jurisdiction, be ineffective
only to the extent of such prehibition or unenforceability withou! invalidating the remainder
of such provision or the remaining provisions of this Deed or affecting the_xalidi
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Section 4: EX-21 (LIST OF SUBSIDIARIEYS)

Exhibit 21
Subsidiaries

Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Formation



Midland Credit Management, Inc. Kansas

MRC Receivables Corporation Delaware
Midland Funding NCC-2 Corporation Delaware
Midland Portfolio Services, Inc. Delaware
Midland Funding LLC Delaware
Ascension Capital Group, Inc. Delaware
Midland IndiaLLC Minnesota
Midland Credit Management India Private Limited Delhi, India
Midland International LLC Delaware
Midland Credit Management (Mauritius) Ltd Mauritius

(Back To Top)

Section 5: EX-23 (CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM)

Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (Nos. 333-130362 and 333-167074) and Form
S-8 (Nos. 333-125340, 333-125341, 333-125342 and 333-160042), pertaining to the Encore Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Participation Plan, the
Midland Credit Management, Inc. Executive Nonqualified Excess Plan and the Encore Capital Group 2005 Stock Incentive Plan, aswell as our
reports dated February 14, 2011, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Encore Capital Group, Inc. and the effectiveness of Encore
Capital Group, Inc.’sinternal control over financial reporting which appearsin this Form 10-K.

/s BDOUSA, LLP

San Diego, California
February 14, 2011

(Back To Top)

Section 6: EX-24 (POWER OF ATTORNEY)

Exhibit 24
SPECIAL POWER OF ATTORNEY

The undersigned constitutes and appoints J. Brandon Black and Paul Grinberg, and each of them, histrue and lawful attorney-in-fact and
agent with full power of substitution and re-substitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign the Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2010, for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission by Encore Capital Group,
Inc., aDelaware corporation, together with any and all amendments to such Form 10-K, and to file the same with all exhibitsthereto, and all
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting to such attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them,
full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully and
to al intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or each of
them, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

February 8, 2010 /sl GEORGE LUND
George Lund
February 9, 2010 /sl TiMOTHY J. HANFORD
Timothy J. Hanford
February 8, 2010 /s/ RicHARD A. MANDELL
Richard A. Mandell
February 8, 2010 /s/  WILLEM MESDAG
Willem Mesdag
February 8, 2010 /sl JoHN J. OrROS
John J. Oros
February 8, 2010 /sl J. CHRISTOPHER TEETS

J. Christopher Teets

February 8, 2010 /s/ H RoNALD WEISSMAN
H Ronald Weissman




February 8, 2010 /sl WARREN WILCOX

Warren Wilcox

(Back To Top)

Section 7: EX-31.1 (CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE
OFFICER)

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATE OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, J. Brandon Black, certify that:
1 | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Encore Capital Group, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, thisreport does not contain any untrue statement of amaterial fact or omit to state amaterial fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by thisreport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in al material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4.  Theregistrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(€) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which thisreport is being prepared,;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonabl e assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposesin accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in thisreport any change in the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’sfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or isreasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of interna control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons fulfilling the equivalent
functions):

a All significant deficiencies and material weaknessesin the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
arereasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’ s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have asignificant rolein theregistrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

By: /sl J. BRANDON BLACK

J. Brandon Black
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 14, 2011
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Section 8; EX-31.2 (CERTIFICATION OF THE PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL
OFFICER)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Paul Grinberg, certify that:
1 | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Encore Capital Group, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of amaterial fact or omit to state amaterial fact necessary to



make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by thisreport;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in thisreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(€) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which thisreport is being prepared,;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonabl e assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposesin accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in thisreport any change in the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or isreasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons fulfilling the equivalent

functions):

a All significant deficiencies and material weaknessesin the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
arereasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have asignificant rolein theregistrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.

By: /sl PauL GRINBERG

Paul Grinberg
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer

Date: February 14, 2011
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Section 9: EX-32.1 (CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER)

Exhibit 32.1
ENCORE CAPITAL GROUP, INC.

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
ASADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Encore Capital Group, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2010 asfiled
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “ Report”), each of the undersigned certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of his knowledge:

(1) TheReport fully complieswith the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) Theinformation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

/s/ J. BRANDON BLACK

J. Brandon Black
President and Chief Executive Officer

February 14, 2011



/s/  PAuL GRINBERG
Paul Grinberg
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

February 14, 2011
This certification accompanies the above described Report and is being furnished pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and
shall be not be deemed filed as part of the Report.
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